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JEROME 1. BRAUN: A TRIBUTE
Jeffrey M. Fisher*

About a dozen years ago, one of my colleagues
at Farella Braun & Martel came into my office and
asked me if I wanted to work on a project-a biog-
raphy of the late Ninth Circuit Judge Cecil Poole-
with one of the firm's senior partners. So began my
relationship with Jerome I. (Jerry) Braun. Since that
time, Jerry has been a wonderful mentor, teacher,
and friend to me.

Throughout his distinguished career, Jerry has
maintained a diverse trial and appellate practice in
areas such as commercial litigation, complex and
multidistrict litigation, securities regulation, anti-
trust, and legal malpractice. He became president
of the California Academy of Appellate Lawyers
and was elected a fellow in the American College of
Trial Lawyers. He is also a Fellow of the American
Academy of Appellate Lawyers and served as the edi-
tor of its newsletter, "The Appellate Advocate," for
six years. He remains one of the finest writers-with
one of the deepest vocabularies-I have ever known
and is the author of many articles in professional
and scholarly publications. Jerry was also the propo-
nent of California Supreme Court Rule 29.5, permit-
ting certification of questions of state law by federal
appellate courts. At age eighty-one, he is still going.
He now concentrates on federal practice and on his
work as an arbitrator and mediator, and has served
the federal courts as a special master.

Jerry also has been very active in Ninth Circuit
governance issues and on behalf of Stanford Uni-

*Jeffrey M. Fisher is chair of the Ninth Judicial Circuit Historical
Society Board of Directors.



versity (he graduated from Stanford Law School in
1952) and Jewish philanthropies. He has served for
more than thirteen years on the board and currently
serves as chair of fundraising efforts for The Other
Bar, a nonprofit network of recovering lawyers and
judges throughout the state of California. He is an
inspirational speaker about issues relating to alcohol
and substance abuse problems and how they affect
lawyers. Hearing Jerry speak about his personal
experiences with overcoming alcoholism is a truly
moving experience.

Jerry also twice served as a member and then chair
of the Lawyer Representatives to the Ninth Circuit
Judicial Conference and was chair of the Ninth
Circuit Judicial Senior Advisory Board. He was one
of the early members of the Ninth Judicial Circuit
Historical Society, acting as president from 1990 to
1993. He continues to serve the society in a variety
of ways; among his greatest accomplishments was
his leadership in the society's effort to publish Cecil
Poole, A Life in the Law, a biography of Judge Poole
geared toward young readers. This important biog-
raphy would never have been written without his
tireless efforts.

In 1999, Jerry received the American Inns of Court
Professionalism Award as "a senior lawyer practicing
in the Ninth Circuit whose life and practice display
sterling character and unquestioned integrity, coupled
with ongoing dedication to the highest standards of
the legal profession and the rule of law." In 2005, he
was awarded the Ninth Circuit's highest accolade,
the John P. Frank Award, which recognizes an out-
standing lawyer practicing in the federal courts of
the western United States. As then Ninth Circuit
Chief Judge Mary M. Schroeder aptly commented,
"Jerry Braun's accomplishments as a lawyer and a
mentor are legendary, as are his contributions to the

Vmii WEs-rERN LEGAL HiSTORY VOL. 23., No. 1
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legal community, and the courts. His enthusiasm is
boundless and he is very deserving of this recognition."

None of these achievements or accolades, how-
ever, adequately describes what Jerry exudes as he
simply walks around the office of Farella Braun &
Martel, the firm that he cofounded almost fifty years
ago (always dressed to the nines in a suit, with his
signature bow tie): his true love of the law, of the
judges who interpret it, and of the attorneys who
practice it. It is Jerry's love of the law and its history,
as well as his many years of service, that led the
Ninth Judicial Circuit Historical Society to establish
the Jerome . Braun Prize for Western Legal History
in his honor.





Editor's note:

This issue contains essays by the recipients of
the inaugural Jerome I. Braun Prize for Western
Legal History. This annual award is intended to
encourage research that illuminates the contribu-
tions of the law, lawyers, judges, and law-related
organizations to the social, political, economic,
and cultural history of the North American West.
Funding for the prize has been generously provided
by the law firm of Farella Braun & Martel, Marc M.
Seltzer and the Honorable Christina A. Snyder, and
The Morrison & Foerster Foundation.

First place was awarded to Sean M. Kammer for his
essay "The Railroads Must Have Ties: A Legal History
of Forest Conservation and the Oregon & California
Railroad Land Grant, 1887-1916." Mr. Kammer
earned a juris doctor degree from Duke University in
2004 and is now a candidate for a Ph.D. in American
legal history at the University of Nebraska. His essay
challenges the view of Union Pacific Railroad tycoon
Edward H. Harriman as a rapacious capitalist con-
cerned only with corporate profits, highlighting in-
stead his attempts to preserve the Oregon forest lands
received by the company for constructing its line.

The first runner-up was Sarah Riva for her essay
"The Coldest Case of All? Lloyd Gaines and the
African American Struggle for Higher Education
in Missouri." Ms. Riva received her undergraduate
degree in history at Royal Holloway, University of
London, in 2010. She will begin work on a master's
degree in public history at the University of Arkansas
in 2011. Her essay sheds light on Lloyd Gaines' ill-
fated attempt to integrate the University of Missouri
Law School in the 1930s.

The second runner-up was Lindsey Passenger Wieck
for her essay "Upholding Culture and Language in



Guadalupe, Arizona: Bilingual Education Activism
in the 1970s." Ms. Wieck earned a bachelor's degree
in history and secondary education at Grand Valley
State University in Michigan and a master's degree
in history at Northern Arizona University in 2010.
She is currently working toward a Ph.D. in history
at the University of Notre Dame. Her essay explores
the successful legal challenge brought by the citizens
of Guadalupe, Arizona, against their elementary
school district's discriminatory treatment of non-
English speaking children.

We hope our readers will enjoy these prize-
winning essays. And we hope that these authors'
success will encourage others to undertake their
own research into the fascinating realm of west-
ern legal history.
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THE RAILROADS MUST HAVE TIES:

A LEGAL HiSTORY OF

FOREST CONSERVATION AND THE

OREGON & CALIFORNIA RAILROAD

LAND GRANT, 1887-1916

SEAN M. KAMMER

N aturalist and preservationist John A. Muir once
scoffed at the way each of the transcontinental railroads advertised
its line as the "scenic route." In his monumental portrayal of
America's scenic wilderness areas, Our National Parks, he
proposed a new and much more honest advertisement: "Come!
Travel our way. Ours is the blackest. . .. The sky is black and
the grotud is black, and on either side there is a continuous
border of black stumps and logs and blasted trees appealing to
heaven for help as if still half alive, and their mute eloquence
is most interestingly touching.. . No other route on this
continent so fully illustrates the abomination of desolation."'
Observations such as this one regarding the ecological
destructiveness of railroads have tended to obscure the fact
that railroad companies themselves were not necessarily
enemies of the environment. Indeed, in some cases they were
at the forefront of the preservationist and conservationist
movements that were still in their infancy at the time of
Muir's writing in 1901. For example, the Southern Pacific, as
historian Richard Orsi has demonstrated, "took a major role

John A. Muir, Our National Parks (Boston, 1901), 357-58.

Sean M. Kammer holds a J.D. from Duke University and is a
candidate for a Ph.D. in American legal history at the Univer-
sity of Nebraska-Lincoln, where he is a graduate instructor in
the History Department.



in the emergence of modern management of water, wilderness
parks, forests, and rangelands."-

Orsi's conclusions regarding the Southern Pacific contra-
dict the traditional view of that company as a "malevolent
monopoly representing selfish, greedy, corporate interests"
in opposition to the "people" and the "public interest."3 But
historians have, for the most part, left unchallenged a similar
negative view of Edward H. Harriman, who headed both the
Union Pacific and the Southern Pacific and was perhaps the
most powerful of the railroad tycoons during the first decade
of the twentieth century.' Prior to Harriman's takeover of the
Southern Pacific in 1901, that railroad's long-standing policy
had been to subdivide and sell lands to farmers, miners, and
loggers, the purpose being "to encourage long-term settlement,
economic growth, and rail traffic," but Harriman questioned
and ultimately rejected this policy.' In January 1903, he ordered
the termination of sales of the remaining Southern Pacific land
grant, including the heavily timbered lands of the Oregon and
California Railroad, which had been a Southern Pacific subsid-
iary since 1887.

It remains unclear whether Harriman initially intended for
this suspension to be temporary in order to allow his men to
ascertain fully the nature of his extensive land holdings, or
whether this move in fact represented a permanent shift in
policy.6 What is clear is that by 1905 virtually all sales ceased.
Local Oregonians, as well as prominent lumber companies
and politicians in the state, accused Harriman of undermin-
ing Oregon's development, and a political movement there
ultimately led the federal government in 1908 to sue Harriman's
Oregon & California Railroad for the forfeiture of its unsold
lands. At the culmination of a seven-year legal battle, the

'Richard J. Orsi, Sunset Limited: The Southern Pacific Railroad and the Devel-
opment of the American West, 1850-1930 (Berkeley, CA, 2005), xiv-xv.

'lbid., xvii.

"See, e.g., David Maldwyn Ellis, "The Oregon and California Railroad Land
Grant, 1866-1945," Pacific Northwest Quarterly 39:4 (1948): 255-83. Regard-
ing the termination of land sales in January 1903, Ellis asserts that "appar-
ently his aim was to keep for his company any rise in stumpage values." Ellis,
"Oregon and California Railroad Land Grant," 261.

'Orsi, Sunset Limited, 37.
6Orsi found evidence that the termination of land sales was, in fact, meant to
be a permanent policy. This is contradicted, however, by the later testimony of
Harriman's land commissioner, Charles W Eberlein, that the termination-at
least as applied to all of the lands of the Southern Pacific, Central Pacific, and
Oregon & California-was merely to allow Harriman and his centralized land
office to ascertain the nature of the lands, a process delayed by the San Francisco
earthquake and fire a couple of years later. See Orsi, Sunset Limited, 123-25.
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Supreme Court gave Congress the legal authority to seize the
land and to provide for its disposition "in accordance with
such policy as it may deem fitting"-and Congress quickly
passed the Chamberlain-Ferris Act of 1916, which revested the
remaining 2.3 million acres of the grant to the United States.
Although historians have, for the most part, accepted the view
that Harriman's land policies in Oregon were motivated by his
apparently unrivaled speculative spirit, his policies were in
fact consistent with utilitarian notions of conservation that he
recognized as in keeping with his long-term profit motive.

The railroad issues that arose in the first decade of the
twentieth century were rooted in the land-use regime Congress
had established decades earlier. In the middle of the nine-
teenth century, federal land grants to railroads were a critical
component of the government's effort to conquer its newly
expanded public domain. Stephen Douglas orchestrated the
first such grant to the Illinois Central in 1850, made possible
by his compromise to grant lands in a checkerboard pattern as
a way to pay for the subsidy. The granting of public lands to
railroads escalated during the Civil War with Congress' passage
of the Pacific Railway Act of 1862, which chartered and granted
lands to the Union Pacific and the Central Pacific to aid in the
construction of a railway from a point on the Missouri River in
Nebraska to a point on the Pacific Ocean at or near San Francisco,
and to the Leavenworth, Pawnee and Western Railroad for the
construction of a southern branch through Kansas.' This policy
continued in subsequent years with similar grants to aid in
the construction of transcontinental railways to the north and
south of the Union Pacific-Central Pacific line. In all, the fed-
eral government granted roughly 130 million acres to railroads
(37 million of which were granted to railroads via the states)
from 1850 to 1871.

Railroad land grants shared several common features (as
amended, if not originally): "rights-of-way" easements for
the construction of the railways, including the right to use
materials in the vicinity for construction and maintenance
of the lines; the delineation of place limits within which the
railroads' grants were contained (these ranged from ten miles
to forty miles on each side of the railway); checkerboard
provisions whereby the railroads' grants contained only
alternate sections; the exclusion of mineral lands (other than
coal and iron) and lands already settled, claimed, or reserved
pursuant to federal laws; and the provision for indemnity

'Pacific Railway Act of July 1, 1862, 12 Stat. 489, Statutes at Large, 37t' Cong.,
2d sess., ch. 120.
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strips outside of the place limits within which the railroads
could select lands in lieu of excluded place lands. In addi-
tion, some grants contained restrictions on the timing and
manner of the railroads' disposition of lands to which they
had received patents.'

As part of this general land grant policy, Congress in 1866
granted several million acres to Oregon for the construction of
a railroad from Portland southward to the California border,
where such road would connect with another being built from
Sacramento. Oregon was directed to designate a company to
construct the railroad and to receive a land grant consisting
of alternating sections of public lands within ten miles of the
railway as a subsidy to offset its operating expenses. Three
years later, after the grant's specified time limit passed without
any companies taking the required steps to avail themselves
of the grant, Congress renewed the grant but added conditions
to ensure that land was sold to settlers, not speculators. Based
on the new conditions, the railroad receiving the grant was
required to dispose of the land only to "bona fide settlers," in
parcels no larger than 160 acres, and for no more than $2.50
per acre. Together, these conditions were commonly referred
to as the "homestead clause." It was under this regime that
the Oregon & California acquired the rights to more than three
million acres stretching in a checkerboard pattern from the
Coast Range to the Cascade Mountains and from Portland to
the California border.1

The Southern Pacific acquired control of the Oregon &
California and its land grant in 1887, shortly after which the
railway was completed. From that time until 1901, when
Harriman acquired control of the Southern Pacific and its
constituent railways, including the Oregon & California, the
company pursued a policy of disposing of its lands quickly
to develop the country and to build up long-term business
for the road. Beginning in 1901, Harriman introduced new
policies to oversee the railroad's use and disposal of the land
grant. Although the various land departments of the constitu-
ent railroads had previously enjoyed much autonomy within
the Southern Pacific system, Harriman sought to central-
ize authority and to develop a comprehensive land use plan,

8See Samuel Dana, Forest and Range Policy: Its Development in the United
States (New York, 1956), 36--37, for a succinct summary of the legislative acts
that created the land grants.

9Oregon & California Railroad Co. v. United States, 238 U.S. 393, 409 (1915).

VOL, 23, No. I4
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whereby any of his railroads' lands would be used to benefit
his entire system."o

Harriman's strategy required an extensive review of the
Southern Pacific's policies of land disposal up to that point. Re-
garding the Oregon & California land grant, the records showed
that the railroad had disposed of 813,000 acres with little re-
gard for the homestead clause. In fact, only 127,000 acres were
sold in compliance with that clause, while more than half were
sold in parcels of more than two thousand acres. The average
sale price was about five dollars an acre, double the maximum
allowed." A large portion of the 813,000 acres was sold after
1895, when lumber companies and investors became interested
in Oregon's vast timber resources primarily for speculative
purposes. From 1895 to 1901, the company disposed of 363,000
acres to only thirty-eight buyers, with prices ranging from five
dollars to forty dollars an acre.'2

Although the homestead clause had little influence on the
railroad's decisions regarding disposal of grant lands, the grant's
other measure meant to ensure rapid settlement-its checker-
boarding provision-heavily constrained the railroad's activi-
ties. One of the principal purposes of checkerboarding was to
ensure that lands along the railroad were settled and developed
rather than held in monopoly by the railroad or any successor
in interest. This system, though, as applied to non-agricultural
lands, had the effect of making it difficult for any entity to
use the land for any purpose. The timberlands of Oregon, for
example, were primarily, if not exclusively, valuable for their
timber, but lumber operations required a solid body of land in
order to extract timber at a profit. The Southern Pacific long
recognized this fact, as did Harriman's land commissioner,
Charles W. Eberlein, who complained that the checkerboard
pattern of the railroad's grant made it virtually impossible for
the railroad to dispose of the land, since timberlands could not
be sold in a "piece-meal" fashion.3

"Charles W Eberlein, whom Harriman dispatched to San Francisco to oversee
the land departments, later reported that Harriman's control was so tight that
Eberlein was required to send all applications for purchase of timberlands to
New York for Harriman to review and decide on a course of action. Transcript
of Record, Supreme Court of the United States, no. 492, October term, 1916,
Oregon & California Railway Co. v. United States (hereinafter referred to as
"Transcript"), available at The Making of Modern Law: U..S. Supreme Court
Records and Briefs 2329, 2399, 2746, http://gdc.gale.com.

"U.S. Congress, House Report, 60th Cong., l1 sess., 1908, no. 1301.

"Ellis, "Oregon and California Railroad Land Grant," 260-61.

"Orsi, Sunset Limited, 381; Transcript, 2328.
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Harriman indeed found that the railroad's long-followed,
pro-development policy of selling timberlands cheaply only
encouraged speculation. This was both because the annual rise
in value of the timber exceeded the taxes and interest pay-
ments required to retain the land, thus making it profitable
simply to hold the land, and because there was not much of a
market for the grant's timber, due to its relative inaccessibil-
ity as compared to the still-plentiful forests of Washington and
California. Accordingly, only "a very, very small fraction" of
the timberlands that the Oregon & California sold, including
those it sold either directly or indirectly to lumber companies
such as the Booth-Kelly Lumber Company, had been milled
even by 1912. Based on these experiences, Eberlein ultimately
concluded that "anybody that comes in and wants to buy all
the timber in [multiple] townships of land [had] no immediate
intention of doing anything with it." 14 Rather, the lands were
simply "held for the rise."'6

In 1903, citing the fact that the remaining lands were
primarily heavily timbered and unsuitable for settlement,
Harriman ordered the termination of all timberland sales in
lands encompassed by the Oregon & California grant.16 At
the National Irrigation Congress of 1907, held in Sacramento,
California, Harriman justified his decision to withhold the
lands from sale based on the need for conservation. He insisted
that his companies were not "holding those lands for specula-
tion" but instead were holding them "to protect [the people]
in the future." Considering that "ties are the foundation of the
transportation line," he stated his intent "to have a reserve
with which we can maintain these great transportation lines
for those that come after, that they may not accuse us of wast-

4Transcript, 2342-44.

"Ibid. As another example of this phenomenon, Eberlein discussed the example
of T.B. Walker's handling of his timberlands in northeastern California: "They
bought out timber concerns and mills and shut them down and they have ex-
isted all this time simply upon the increase in the growth of the timber which,
as I have told you, is large enough in timber of certain age to more than equal
the taxes and interest on the investment; and in this particular case it must be
remembered that this timber was sold by the Railroad on conditions that never
were duplicated that I know of in this country." Transcript, 2351-52.

'This policy was not limited to the Oregon & California land grant but rather
applied to all lands of the Southern Pacific and Central Pacific as well. See
Orsi, Sunset Limited, 123-25.
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ing the resources which we had at our command."7Harriman's
1907 speech was consistent with a statement he made to a
newspaper reporter that same year:

The Southern Pacific will sell land to settlers, but not
to speculators. We can tell a speculator from a settler as
well as anyone. The agricultural land we will sell, but the
timber-land we will retain, because we must have ties and
bridge timbers, and we must retain our timber for future
supply. The Southern Pacific has an insufficient amount
of timber now, and we have had to buy large tracts,
looking to the future supply of ties and material. Yes, we
will sell to settlers, but speculators will get none.

Harriman's goal, in other words, was to prevent harmful specu-
lation and to conserve the timber for future railroad use.

At first glance, Harriman's conservationist justification
seems inconsistent with the dominant brand of conservation
represented by President Theodore Roosevelt and Gifford
Pinchot, neither of whom ever advocated massive curtailing
of development. Rather they advocated managing forests with
the goal of promoting more efficient and prolonged develop-
ment without sacrificing present yield. At the meeting of the
American Forestry Congress in 1905, immediately after which
management of forests was transferred to the Department of
Agriculture under the newly renamed Forest Service, Roosevelt
assured pro-development westerners that the government's
policy was "consistent to give to every portion of the public
domain its highest possible amount of use." 9 Pinchot added
that "[tihe administration of the forest reserves is based upon
the general principle . . . that the reserves are for use. They

"The Official Proceedings of the 15th National Irrigation Congress, Septem-
ber 2-7, 1907, Sacramento, California; also quoted in House Committee on
the Public Lands, Oregon and California Land Grants, 64th Cong., 1" sess.,
1916 (hereinafter referred to as the 0 & C Land Grants), 143-44. See W.G.
Robbins, "Lumber Production and Community Stability: A View from the
Pacific Northwest," Journal of Forest History 31:4 (October 1987): 187-96;
Wesley C. Ballaine, "The Revested Oregon and California Railroad Grant
Lands: A Problem in Land Management," Land Economics 29:3 (August 1953):
219-32; John Messing, "Public Lands, Politics, and Progressives: The Oregon
Land Fraud Trials, 1903-1910," Pacific Historical Review 35:1 (February
1966): 35-66.

"Transcript, 4267. According to Orsi, this statement may have been a lie, based
on the fact that the initial sale order applied to all lands, and very few sales oc-
curred on any lands during Harriman's tenure. See Orsi, Sunset Limited, 124-25.

"American Forestry Association, Proceedings of the American Forest Con-
gress, January 2-6, 1905, Washington, D.C. (Washington, DC, 1905), 11.

WRNTER/SPRINc 2010 RAILROADS MUST HAvE TIES 7



must be useful first of all to the people of the neighborhood in
which they lie."an2 On their face, Harriman's policies appeared
to violate this simple rule of conservation.

Assuming that Harriman's no-sale rule thwarted develop-
ment, it would indeed seem that his policies contradicted the
very conservationist principles he attempted to evoke. However,
it is not at all clear that his policy impacted development at all.
As of the time when Harriman issued his no-sale order, there
were not many settlers on the land, even after decades of efforts
to attract farmers from the East. Moreover, as the railroad's land
commissioner Eberlein reported, almost all of the lands in the
possession of lumber companies were simply being held, likely
because of their inaccessibility and distance from markets. That
the lack of development was due more to physical and economic
geography than to Harriman's decisions would later be con-
firmed by both government reports and the government's own
experiences once it reacquired the lands in 1916.1

Given these realities, which Harriman and his men appreci-
ated long before Congress did, Harriman's termination of land
sales can be seen not as anti-development but as a recogni-
tion that the market system, in this instance, had failed-and
would likely continue to fail-to promote the rational, efficient
use of the land's natural resources. This rationale was thus
consistent with the conservation movement, which was, above
all-as Samuel P. Hays has articulated-a scientific movement
advocating that scientists take the lead in determining natural
resource use rather than leaving such questions to political or
economic forces .22 Harriman was both a benefactor and a con-
sumer of the emerging sciences of conservation.

Harriman had already demonstrated his personal support of
the natural sciences when he arranged and funded a maritime
expedition to Alaska in 1899. What began as a vacation for him
and his family was radically transformed when Harriman con-
ceived of inviting an entire community of scientists to explore
and document the coastlines of Alaska. The expedition included
biologists, botanists, geographers, geologists, and zoologists, as
well as several artists and intellectual writers. Scientists and
intellectuals who accepted Harriman's invitation to partici-
pate included John A. Muir; C. Hart Merriam, chief of the U.S.

AAmerican Forestry Association, Proceedings of the American Forest Con-
gress, 392.

"See Wesley C. Ballaine, "The Revested Oregon and California Railroad Grant
Lands: A Problem in Land Management," Land Economics 29 (August 1953): 224.
2ISamuel P. Hays, Conservation and the Gospel of Efficiency: The Progressive
Conservation Movement, 189- 1920 (Pittsburgh, PA, 1999), 3.
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Biological Survey; William E. Ritter, president of the California
Academy of Sciences; Henry Gannett, chief of the U.S. Coast
and Geodetic Survey; George B. Grinnell, editor of Forest and
Stream; and Bernhard E. Fernow, former chief of the Department
of Agriculture's Division of Forestry.', In the decade following
their time together on what was referred to as the "Harriman
Expedition," Muir and Harriman maintained a regular corre-
spondence and formed what environmental historian Donald
Worster has labeled "an improbable bond" based on a "mutual
understanding ... [of] the value of an efficient railroad system
and on the wisdom of establishing national parks. "24 Worster re-
cently argued that, from the expedition until Harriman's death a
decade later, Muir saw Harriman "as a well-meaning friend and
potential ally of the conservation movement. "25

Harriman was also a consumer of conservation science. In 1902,
he personally applied to the Bureau of Forestry for experts to be dis-
patched to Arden House, his 15,000-acre estate in Orange County,
New York, to advise him on how to conserve the estate's 8,000
acres of dense forest.2 6 On receiving Harriman's request, the bureau
sent nine men instead of the normal two to develop a working
plan for improving Harriman's timber. The foresters reported being
excited at the opportunity to use "ingenious methods" for examin-
ing the abilities of various species of trees to bear shade, to repro-
duce, and to withstand damage from forest fires.27 The nine forestry
students completed the necessary fieldwork between April 1 and
June 15, during which time they created a forest map of the entire
tract and compiled, according to the Department of Agriculture's
annual report, "a careful study of the forest, by which its character,
condition, present stand, and future yield were ascertained."2 8

There is also evidence that Harriman was motivated not just
by a form of utilitarian conservation but also by a preservation-
ist ethos. After visiting Harriman's New York estate, Muir, for
one, concluded that Harriman indeed loved the forest and its

'-See "The Harriman Expedition," Los Angeles Times, August 1, 1899.
24Donald Worster, A Passion for Nature: The Life of John Muir (New York,
2008), 408.

1bid., 362-43.

"In 1898, as head of the Division of Forestry, Pinchot had issued "Circular 21
This document offered to assist private landowners to develop plans for forest
management and fire protection, provided that the owners paid all expenses.
Thomas R. Cox et al., This Well-Wooded Land: Americans and Their Forests
from Colonial Times to the Present (Lincoln, NE, 1985).

""To Improve the Harriman Forest," New York Times, April 20, 1902.

"U.S. Department of Agriculture, Annual Reports of the Department of
Agriculture for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1902. Report of the Secretary of
Agriculture, Departmental Reports (Washington, DC, 1902).
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Members of the Harriman Expedition and some acquaintances
gather at Dutch Harbor, Alaska, July 1899. (Courtesy of University
of Washington Libraries, Special Collections. Negative number
Harriman 187)

wildlife and considered it something to cherish and conserve,
at least when consistent with economic development. Beyond
preserving his own timbered estate, Harriman's desire to leave
certain places alone was also demonstrated in 1905 when he
lobbied in support of the Sierra Club's efforts to incorporate the
Yosemite Valley into the national park that then surrounded it.
Later, in his 1907 speech before the National Irrigation Con-
gress, he showed an aesthetic concern for the preservation of
Oregon's natural beauty. He argued that "Oregon ought to be the
country's playground. There's a vastness of fine scenery there." 9

Through his words and actions, Harriman was able to convince
Muir of his concern for nature beyond its mere economic value.
In spring 1909, when Muir was visiting Harriman and his family
in Pasadena, California, Muir was asked how he, "a nature lover,
[could] happen to be visiting a cold-blooded financier." He an-
swered, reportedly while fighting back tears, that "Mr. Harriman
has a heart. People may not know it, but he loves the flowers
and the trees. He loves nature and human nature.""

'"Magnate Wins Applause for Funny Speech," Sai Francisco Call, September 5, 1907.

""'Sidetracks All Callers," Los Angeles Times, March 17, 1909.
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Importantly, the people of Oregon also took Harriman at his
word. While historians have questioned Harriman's motives
in ordering the termination of land sales, Oregonians believed
his stated rationale, and this is precisely why they became so
angered. Harriman's no-sale order and his subsequent explana-
tion enraged a wide cross-section of the public, particularly
in the affected localities of Oregon. Encouraged by prominent
lumber companies in the state, local residents accused Harriman
of undermining Oregon's development by locking up its natural
resources. While the backlash against Harriman undoubtedly fed
off a populist distrust of railroads as malevolent monopolies that
threatened to hold local populations hostage to their economic
whims, people also linked Harriman to what they saw as an
equally menacing force: the eastern conservation movement. In
the weeks following his 1907 speech at Sacramento, the Orego-
nian accused Harriman of desiring "to make a reserve out of
the whole of Oregon." In fact, said the paper, "he counts it his
reserve now." 3

"Excerpted in "Mr. Harriman's Apology Not Accepted," San Francisco Call,
September 17, 1907.

Architect William H. Holabird, E.H. Harriman, and John Muir (left to right)
posed together at Harriman's lodge in Pelican Bay, Oregon. (Courtesy of
John Muir Papers, Holt-Atherton Special Collections, University of the
Pacific Library, MSS04.F25-1386. Copyright 1984 Muir-Hanna Trust)
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The Oregonian questioned not just Harriman's motivations,
but those of all who purported to be concerned with conserva-
tion: "[T]his state is plastered from one end to the other with
timber speculators in syndicates and as individuals. All pretend
to be saving for the nation a wood supply. The truth is they are
keeping out settlement and maintaining a wilderness in order at
some future day to gratify their lust for wealth." 2 The Oregonian
believed that the state needed, above all, "the clearing up of forest
land" near the railroads so that it could "be used for agriculture
and for sustaining a larger population.", To the people along
the Oregon & California line, whether Harriman epitomized the
speculator or the conservationist was immaterial, since the con-
servationist was merely a new form of speculator. Both were seen
as equally threatening to the rapid development of the region.

Based on Harriman's apparent refusal to sell much, if not all,
of the remaining land grant, Senator Benjamin R. Tillman of
South Carolina introduced, and Congress quickly passed, legisla-
tion authorizing the attorney general to institute proceedings for
the forfeiture of the railroad's unsold lands. Attorney General
George W. Wickersham complied and filed suit in September
1908 against the railroad, one of its creditors, and many indi-
viduals and companies who had purchased lands in violation of
the grant's terms.3 4 Although the no-sale order precipitated the
lawsuit, the many sales the railroad made prior to 1903 in viola-
tion of the homestead clause served as its legal justification.

,""Mr. Harriman's Apology Not Accepted."

-'Ibid. Historian Roy M. Robbins argues that the West during this time was not
anti-conservationist at all but instead was opposed to government intervention
based on the government's past promotion of land theft, including most notably
the Forest Lieu Land Act of 1897. Roy M. Robbins, Our Landed Heritage:
The Public Domain, 1776-1936 (Lincoln, NE, 1962), 338-40. Carlos Arnaldo
Schwantes, however, insists that western resistance was based on a rational fear
that the conservation ethos, despite Roosevelt's assertions to the contrary, would
only serve to tie up resources and inhibit growth. Schwantes, The Pacific North-
west: An Interpretive History, rev. and enl. ed. (Lincoln, NE, 1996), 221.

,"In 1912, Congress passed the Forgiveness Act, 37 Stat. 320, which dropped
the government's claims against individuals and companies that had purchased
large tracts of land in good faith and without knowledge of the grant's home-
stead clause forbidding such sales. This legislation was passed in no small part
because the lawyers at the Department of Justice had convinced members of
Congress that the individuals who purchased the affected 524,000 acres were
"small fry" settlers and were so numerous that litigation would be virtually
unending, meaning also that the land would be tied up for decades. It was later
revealed that several of the purchasers were lumber companies and other inter-
ests that had purchased tracts in excess of 10,000 acres, and many of these "in-
nocent purchasers" had been indicted-and some convicted-in the land fraud
trials of 1905--1907. See 0 & C Land Grants, 203. The Forgiveness Act allowed
innocent purchasers to keep title so long as they paid the government $2.50 per
acre, even though some of the land was worth as much as $500 per acre.
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Seeming to contradict the Harriman regime's assessment of
the grant lands was the fact that, beginning in 1907 and con-
tinuing for the entire seven years of litigation, thousands of
individuals filed applications with the railroad company for the
purchase of quarter sections. In that year, as the political move-
ment to force the forfeiture of the land grant gained momen-
tum, residents of Oregon began "rushing into the rich timber
country and gobbling it up." "I This movement apparently was
based on the government's indications that, once individuals
offered to purchase lands at $2.50 an acre and were refused,
they would then have standing to sue the railroad to force such
sales and would "have a pretty good case.",6 The Wall Street
Journal reported "a frenzy of excitement" in Oregon, where
"thousands are leaving home and stampeding to the railroad
land grants . . . to force Harriman to surrender" the land.3 By
June 1907, it was reported that "in many counties every quar-
ter section of the land held by the railroad has a claimant."as

Although the government later used these claims as evi-
dence that the land was indeed capable of being settled under
the homestead clause-contrary to the claims of Harriman and
his railroad-it appears that the vast majority of the applicants
in fact had no intention of homesteading on their claims. In his
extensive overview of the Oregon & California land grant,
David Maldwyn Ellis concluded that "these so-called settlers
were speculators or dummies for speculators who hoped to
make good their title to valuable timberlands at a nominal
sum."3 9 Indeed, "practically all" of the 14,000 to 15,000 ap-
plications to buy land from the railroad company during this
time period, according to Ellis, "were speculative in character,"
a fact that was revealed over the next decade as the Department
of Justice convicted nine professional locators, each representing
several hundred applicants, for fraud in connection with these
purported applications for purchase and actual settlement.4

""Ignorant Oregon Farmers," Washington Post, June 4, 1907.
3 Ilbid. As it turned out, they did not have a good case; the Supreme Court
ultimately dismissed the claims of these prospective purchasers. Based on the
fact that the grant did not compel the railroad to sell and did not even define
"actual settler," the prospective purchasers did not have any right to enforce
the grant's conditions, according to the Court. Oregon & California Railroad
Co., 238 U.S. at 434-35.

,"After Harriman Road's Land," Wall Street Journal, June 5, 1907.

aIbid.

"Ellis, "Oregon and California Railroad Land Grant," 264.
4
0See Ellis, "Oregon and California Railroad Land Grant," 268.
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Testimony in the divestiture trial corroborated Harriman's
assessment that the vast majority of the land was unsuitable
for the type of homesteading that Congress had envisioned
and the grant required. In fact, in all of his work in the rail-
road's land department since he was first employed in 1889,
.A. Elliott could not remember a single instance in which

the railroad had sold a quarter section to a person who then
actually made a home and a living on that acreage.41 The same
apparently was true on the even sections within the grant;
Homer D. Angell, a surveyor for the railroad and the govern-
ment, observed that "lands acquired by homestead from the
government on the timbered areas are never occupied for any
appreciable period after title has been acquired."4 2 In many
cases, those who attempted to establish homesteads on these
lands failed. Elliott noted that the few improvements that had
existed on these lands in the 1880s had, by the first decade of
the twentieth century, "grown up to brush.",

Regardless of the wisdom of congressional policy, the fed-
eral government at first appeared to have the law on its side.
In 1913 the district court ruled in the government's favor by
decreeing the unsold grant lands forfeited and quieting the
government's title to such lands. The railroad, however, ap-
pealed this decision on several legal grounds, including that
the homestead clause constituted not a condition subsequent
justifying forfeiture, but rather a set of restrictive and unen-
forceable covenants, and alternatively that the government had
waived its right to enforcement of the provision through its
years of acquiescence. In delivering the opinion of the Supreme
Court, Justice Joseph McKenna agreed with the railroad that
the homestead clause lacked the required technical language
to constitute a condition subsequent touching the railroad's
property interest, but he also disagreed with the railroad's
contentions that the conditions were unenforceable. He held
instead that the grant's conditions constituted both contractual
covenants and laws, and thus were strictly enforceable.

As to the appropriate remedy, however, the Court agreed
with the railroad's contention that the land invited "more to
speculation than to settlement."44 It therefore declined to order
the railroad to sell the remaining lands pursuant to the terms
of the grant or merely to enjoin the railroad from violating the
grant any further. Instead, apparently in recognition that the

4!Transcript, 2727.

4Transcript, 2774.

"Transcript, 2727.

"Oregon & California RailroadCo., 238 U.S. at 438.
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homestead clause was unworkable as applied to the remaining
grant lands, it enjoined the railroad from "any disposition of
them whatever or of the timber thereon, and from cutting or
authorizing the cutting or removal of any of the timber there-
on," and it directed Congress to provide by legislation for their
disposition in accordance with such policy as it may deem
"fitting under the circumstances."45 In disposing of the lands,
Congress was required to secure to the railroad "all the value
the granting acts conferred upon the railroads."4 '6

In deciding how to dispose of the lands, some in Congress
insisted that the lands were still amenable to the type of settle-
ment that Congress originally had contemplated, despite all
the evidence to the contrary. Representative Willis C. Hawley
from Oregon, for example, claimed to have received "a large
number of letters from men . .. stating that there have been
people living on these lands, with good houses and good im-
provements, who settled on the lands and made their improve-
ments in good faith and are living there and have been making
a home for a number of years on the land."4 "All through the
grant," he insisted, "with the exception of comparatively small
areas, there are farms of agricultural lands."4 Representative
Clifton N. McArthur, also from Oregon, however, disputed
Hawley's claims. He cited a joint investigation conducted by
the Interior, Justice, and Post Office departments, which found
that "all but a comparatively small percentage" of the thou-
sands of applications for the purchase of land from the railroad
were "secured by so-called locators," and that there were "very
few, if any, actual settlers on these lands" as of 1916.49

The interests of Oregonians weighed heavily on Congress'
deliberations. Immediately after the Supreme Court delivered
its opinion, the governor of Oregon called together delegates in
Salem to discuss the matter. The conference attendees resolved
that Congress should "enact laws defining and settling who
shall be considered actual settlers ... and what shall be con-
sidered an actual settlement, and requiring the [railroad] to
perform the terms and conditions of the [grant] and to sell and
dispose of said lands according to the true intent and purpose of

4'Ibid.

"'Oregon & California Railroad Co., 238 U.S. at 439.

"O & C Land Grants. 187.

"Ibid., 188. Clay Tallman, commissioner of the General Land Office, corrobo-
rated Hawley's testimony by estimating that as much as 75 percent of the land
was suitable for settlement and cultivation.

"0) & C Land Grants, 203, 251.
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[the grantj."so They also declared their "unalterable" opposition
to the creation or enlargement of any forest reserves in Oregon.
They proposed, instead, that Congress provide for the immedi-
ate sale of grant lands under the conditions of the homestead
clause, while also protecting the process from fraud." Despite
the appearance of unanimity, however, McArthur contended
that Oregonians were in fact divided on how the lands should
be handled. He cited the fact that, immediately after the
conference passed its initial resolutions, it passed a new set
of resolutions directing the conference chairman to form a
committee to negotiate a settlement with the Southern Pacific
that could then be presented to Congress, the apparent purpose
being, above all, to avoid a prolonged dispute."

The politicians from Oregon largely followed suit in argu-
ing that Congress should provide for actual settlement of the
lands. For his part, Senator George Chamberlain, whose bill
dominated the debate in Congress and ultimately was passed,
reported that he realized, after Harriman's speech at the Irriga-
tion Congress in 1907, "the importance to the people of the
State to have these lands brought under actual settlement by
sale or otherwise so as to assist the State in its development
and in the purposes of government."`5 Although he claimed to
be "nearly alone in the West . . . in defending the policies of the
Forestry Service" and to have been "one of the original advo-
cates of that for the welfare of the people, with Mr. Pinchot,"
he argued that no more lands in Oregon, except those that were
deemed necessary to protect water supplies, should be added to
the forest reserves.54 Representative Hawley purported to relay
his constituents' demands "that no part of the lands be placed
in the forest reserves; that all of these lands be made available
for development under proper conditions; that all lands capable
of any agricultural use be disposed of for that purpose; that the
just rights of the State and counties of Oregon be recognized
and provided for; that provision be made for the payment of
accrued taxes; and that all of these lands remain on the tax
rolls."56 Finally, Representative McArthur insisted that what
Oregonians wanted most were "actual settlers, people who will
go there and make homes in the wilderness ... and build up

'0Ibid, 7.

5'Ibid.

5Ibid., 200.

-Ibid., 144.

ifIbid., 156.

'Ibid., 200.
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communities that will be of material benefit to the develop-
ment of the state."S'

A report submitted by the Department of Agriculture, as well
as the testimony of department officials, not only confirmed
the railroad's assessment of the unsuitability of the grant lands
for settlement, but also implicitly vindicated both the railroad's
policy of selling timberlands in large tracts prior to 1903 and its
termination of land sales after that date. The department con-
sidered "some" of the lands to be agricultural, but it determined
that "most of it was heavily timbered."-" Furthermore, just as
the railroad had found it untenable to sell heavily timbered
lands in 160-acre legal subdivisions, the department's report
criticized any attempt to limit land sales to small legal subdivi-
sions as "not consistent with the natural requirements of the
industry." 8 Assistant Forester William B. Greeley testified that
limiting sales by "any legal subdivision" would "likely lead to
mismanagement," and he encouraged Congress to leave it to
the Interior or Agriculture department to make sales "in accor-
dance with the topography-normally by watershed-and the
natural logging factors."19 He indicated that even sales in excess
of 20,000 acres could be justified. Finally, the Department of
Agriculture confirmed Harriman's contention that there was
little market for the immediate consumption of timber and that
any purchases of timberlands would be at very low prices and
only for speculative purposes. Based on western Oregon's market
position, the department reported that "it [was] obvious that
vast quantities of privately owned timber must be held for many
decades before it can be marketed" for consumption. Thus the
department recommended holding the lands from sale, except in
the few cases where local mills demanded stumpage, until such
time-possibly even decades into the future-that the market
conditions changed considerably.6"

661bid., 201.
1Ibid., 219. Regarding those timberlands deemed agricultural, Assistant
Forester William B. Greeley testified that the costs of clearing timber for the
purposes of cultivation-which could be as much as $400 per acre-would be
"relatively heavy," the clear insinuation being that such costs would act as an
economic barrier to such development. 0 & C Land Grants, 240.
"sIbid., 224.

5'lbid., 242.

'Ibid., 220-22. Of course, representatives from the U.S. Forest Service differed
from the railroad's policy in one important respect: it pushed for all of the
timberlands to be held in public ownership under the jurisdiction of the For-
est Service. Even this, however, was not based on a distrust of the railroad's
motives, but rather on a concern that carrying the lands would be too heavy a
burden for any private party. See 0 & C Land Grants, 236-37.
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Unfortunately, Congress disregarded many of the observa-
tions and recommendations of the Department of Agriculture
in its Chamberlain-Ferris Act of 1916. This act revested the
remaining grant lands in the federal government and provided
for their sale as well as the disposal of the timber upon them.
Rather than providing for the efficient management of the
forests pursuant to conservationist principles, as government
foresters had advised, the act directed the secretary of the inte-
rior to sell off the timber to the highest bidder, at which time
the timberlands could be reclassified as agricultural land and
opened for settlement. Moreover, Congress disregarded Sec-
retary David F. Houston's recommendations that any sales of
timberlands be in large tracts and not according to legal subdi-
vision when it instead provided that each legal subdivision be
offered for sale separately before any larger sales were made.
Finally, in designating that proceeds from land and timber sales
in excess of the amount owed to the railroad would adequately
compensate the Oregon counties for tax revenues lost as a re-
sult of the land's being ordered forfeited in 1913 and ultimately
transferred to public ownership in 1916, Congress failed to
heed the department's advice regarding the lack of an immedi-
ate market for standing timber and the extent to which the im-
mediate sale of timber would depress its price.6' Sure enough,
sales were slow, the system Congress created proved unwork-
able, and the counties were on the verge of economic collapse
in 1926, when Congress approved a loan to the counties in the
amount of lost tax revenues and passed a new formula for dis-
tributing the revenues from the lands.

With its 1916 legislation, Congress exchanged a land regime
in which the railroad had demonstrated its interest in manag-
ing the lands for long-term sustainability for one that perpetu-
ated the federal government's nineteenth-century approach
to public lands. All of this occurred despite the concerns
expressed by the prior generation over the exhaustibility of the

6 1Chamberlain-Ferris Act of June 9, 1916, U.S. Statutes at Large, 64*, Cong.,
11, sess., ch. 137, 39 Star. 218. After the district court's decree of forfeiture on
July 1, 1913, the railroad stopped paying taxes on unsold lands. Prior to the
forfeiture, the railroad had paid a total of $1,820,000 in taxes on the land, much
of which was in recent years due to the increased assessed value of the lands.
In his testimony before the congressional committee considering the Oregon
& California land grant, government attorney Stephen W. Williams estimated
that the tax burden had increased tenfold in the previous ten years and that the
railroad owed about $1.3 million in unpaid taxes for the previous three years.
O & C Land Grants, 6. The Department of Justice's report recommended that
the government pay the back taxes immediately, not only in fairness to the
adversely impacted counties, but also to remove the "cloud upon the Govern-
ment's title," which would "embarrass any attempt to dispose of the lands to
settlers." 0 & C Land Grants, 26.
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nation's natural resources and over the waste and possible ir-
reversible damage that resulted (and would continue to result)
from the government's promotion of immediate development.

The actions of Harriman and his Oregon & California rail-
road were consistent with conservationist principles; Harriman
and other railroad officials repeatedly expressed a concern for
guaranteeing a sustainable supply of timber both to guaran-
tee a permanent supply for the railroad's operations and to
facilitate the continued prosperity of the region on which the
railroad depended. The myth regarding conservation portrays
the battle over control of the natural environment as one pit-
ting "the people," as represented by conservationists, against
"the interests" represented by industrialists and capitalists.
According to this myth, Harriman cannot be considered a
conservationist because he was a capitalist who was motivated
by self-interest, namely the continued economic viability of his
railroad empire, in addition to any concerns he may have held
for the general public welfare. This case, however, serves as a
prime illustration of Samuel P. Hays' influential thesis that the
Progressive conservation movement was not, in fact, a crusade
of the people against the trusts, as many Progressives tried to
argue.62 Those economic, political, and legal actors supposedly
least responsive to the needs or demands of "the people"-a
railroad tycoon and appointed federal bureaucrats-were the
first to realize that the lands of the Oregon & California grant
should be managed as forests with an appreciation of the needs
of future generations, while the people and their representa-
tives in Congress continued to push for the clearing of tim-
berlands and the perpetuation of the homestead policy of the
nineteenth century.

President Calvin Coolidge would later complain about the
land-grant railroads' ability to use the law as an instrument not
only to insulate themselves from prosecution for their supposed
subversions of federal land-grant policies, but also to secure
additional benefits contrary to the interests of the public and
the government in efficiently managing the nation's natural

"Hays, Conservation and the Gospel of Efficiency. See also James L. Penick,
Progressive Politics and Conservation: Ballinger-Pinchot Affair (Chicago, 1968)
(detailing Ballinger's criticisms of Pinchot's policies as favoring the eastern
corporate interests at the expense of western individuals); Louis S. Warren, The
Hunter's Game: Poachers and Conservationists in Ttventieth-Century America
(New Haven, CT, 1997) (exploring the tensions between local autonomy and
national control in regard to wildlife and the impact of conservation on local
interests); Karl Jacoby, Crimes against Nature: Squatters, Poachers, Thieves,
and the Hidden History of American Conservation (Berkeley, CA, 2001)
(depicting the national conservation movement as a tool of colonization and
state-building).
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resources./ However, the experiences of the Oregon & California
during the first decades of the twentieth century provide a far
different narrative. While certainly corroborating Coolidge's la-
ment that law had operated to inhibit effective management of
natural resources, the Oregon & California's experiences show,
at least in this important instance, that it was the government,
and not the railroad, that used outdated laws as instruments to
block conservationist advances, and it was the railroad, and not
the democratically elected branches of government, that sought
cooperation with the federal bureaucracy to implement manage-
ment regimes that would ensure sustainable economic develop-
ment, even if at the cost of short-term gains.

That Harriman had a profit motive in seeking to ensure a
continuous supply of timber for the maintenance of his railroad
empire should not undermine his conservationist credentials.
Indeed, notable conservationists within the federal forest
bureaucracy recognized that the movement depended on the
willing participation of business interests. Writing just a year
before Harriman's termination of land sales, for example,
former chief of the Division of Forestry Bernhard E. Fernow
predicted that wealthy capitalists like Harriman, "who can
see the financial advantages of the future in forest properties,"
would quickly become the newest "class" of conservationists.
Fernow thus concluded that, aside from being owned by the
government, forest resources were most likely to be conserved
when in "the hands of perpetual corporations and wealthy
owners."64 Other conservationists, including Pinchot, recog-
nized that their movement would succeed only when private
commercial entities appreciated the extent to which their
continued prosperity depended on the rational management
of natural resources.65 As Roosevelt asserted at the American
Forest Congress in 1905, the conservation movement-as well
as America's continued economic growth-would depend not
on philanthropists or the general public, but on "the men who
are actively interested in the use of the forest in one way or
another."6 6 Harriman agreed with Roosevelt's assessment that
"the railroads must have ties," and thus he was among the first
to answer the conservationists' call.

"U.S. House Report 512, Northern Pacific Land Grants, 68th Cong., P sess., 1-2.

6'Bernhard E. Fernow, Economics of Forestry: A Reference Book for Students of
Political Economy and Professional and Lay Students of Forestry (New York,
19021, 345-46.

'0American Forestry Association, Proceedings of the American Forest Con-
gress, 390-93.

Ibid.. 6--8.

20 WESTERN LEGAL HiSTORY VOL, 23. No. 1



THE COLDEST CASE OF ALL?
LLOYD GAINES AND THE

AFRICAN AMERICAN STRUGGLE FOR

HIGHER EDUCATION IN MISSOURI

SARAH RIVA

O n a cold, rainy evening in March 1939, Lloyd
Gaines stepped out of a fraternity house in Chicago's South
Side on his way to buy postage stamps. He was never seen
again. To this day the whereabouts of Gaines remain unknown.
In 2007, the National Association for the Advancement of
Colored People (NAACP) asked the FBI to reopen their files on
Gaines as part of their Civil Rights Cold Case Initiative. This
request was denied; in fact, it appears that the FBI actually
had destroyed Gaines' files in 1996, despite the fact that his
mysterious disappearance has never been solved.

The Cold Case Initiative, in the main, has been the FBI's
attempt to solve the murder of African Americans during the
civil rights era, but it does not appear to have looked into miss-
ing persons. It seems unlikely that the fate of Gaines, whose
higher education case was one of the most significant episodes
in the NAACP's early legal struggle for civil rights, will ever
be known. Nevertheless, Gaines' story and the legacy of his
court case and bravery in taking on the University of Missouri
for an equal graduate education remain an important, yet too
often marginalized, part of the history of the modern African
American freedom struggle. As we approach the one-hundredth
anniversary of his birth in 2011, this essay revisits Gaines' life,
lawsuit, and disappearance.

Sarah Riva completed her undergraduate degree in history at
Royal Holloway, University of London, in 2010. She will begin
graduate studies in public history in 2011 at the University of
Arkansas-Little Rock, where she hopes to continue her research
in the early civil rights era. This essay was named the first runner-
up for the 2010 Jerome I. Braun Prize in Western Legal History.



"How mSTORICAL AND SOCIALLY IMPORTANT THE CASE"'

In 1935, Lloyd Lionel Gaines attempted to become the first
African American student to enter the University of Missouri.
The state was in many ways an ideal place for such an attempt
since, as a border state lying north of the Mason-Dixon Line-
the historical division between the free North and the slave
South-it appeared to have less invested in the continuance of
segregation than Lower South states with much larger African
American populations.

Missouri was a slave state until 1865, but it fought on the
side of the Union during the Civil War. The "peculiar institu-
tion" of slavery was even stranger in Missouri.' Small farms
were more common than plantations, and slaves were often do-
mestics. The practice of hiring out slaves was fairly common.
As in the rest of the South, education for African Americans
was not encouraged.3 In fact, formal education was not a prior-
ity for many white Missourians either, especially if it meant
being taxed to send children to school. That changed after the
Civil War, when the Missouri Constitution, formally adopted
by the state in 1875 under the Democratic Party, introduced
the idea of free education for its children. It also contained a
requirement to separate the races in education.'

On May 18, 1896, the U.S. Supreme Court handed down a
landmark ruling that would affect African Americans for the
following fifty years. Plessy v. Ferguson tested the Supreme
Court's understanding of the Fourteenth Amendment's due
process and equal protection clauses, which were supposed to
ensure that all U.S. citizens were treated equally regardless
of race. Homer Plessy, one-eighth African American, unsuc-
cessfully tried to fight a Louisiana law that separated the
races during interstate travel. Plessy purchased a first-class
ticket for a train from New Orleans and sat in the first-class
carriage, intended for whites only. Plessy was arrested when
he refused to move to the "colored" carriage of the train, but
the lower courts dismissed his claim that he was denied his
Fourteenth Amendment rights. On appeal to the U.S. Supreme

Lloyd Gaines to Callie Gaines, 3 March 1939, http://digitaLlibrary.umsystem.
edu/cgi/t/text/text-idxsid=734b91f5ca3feabce7al6b7d89d37599;g=;c-gnp;idno
=gnppiO02.

Eric Foner, Give Me Liberty! An American History (New York, 2006), 345.

'Robert Irving Brigham, "The Education of the Negro in Missouri" (Ph.D. dis-
sertation, University of Missouri, 1946), 64-66.
4 Missouri Constitution, 1875, Article II, section 3.

VOL. 23, No. I22 WESTERN LEGAL HiSTORY



W1NTrR/SPRING 2010 Tat: COLDEST CAsE 23

Lloyd Lionel Gaines, above, attempted to become the first African
American student to enter the University of Missouri. (Courtesy of
the University of Missouri Law Library)
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Court, the justices voted seven to one in favor of Ferguson (the
judge presiding over the case in the criminal district court in
New Orleans), claiming that the Fourteenth Amendment was
not clear about which rights it was supposed to protect. The
Court claimed that the Fourteenth Amendment had not been
"intended to abolish distinctions based upon color" and that
Louisiana's law requiring the separation of races was not "a
badge of inferiority" for African Americans, even if that was
how African Americans interpreted the law.' It was from this
Supreme Court decision that the legal doctrine of "separate but
equal" arose, which held that "separate" facilities for the races
were constitutional under the Fourteenth Amendment provid-
ed that they were of "equal" standard. Although in many cases
separate facilities provided for African Americans by the states
were often far from equal, the judicial pretense continued for
the next fifty-eight years.

Lloyd Lionel Gaines was the youngest of eleven children born
to Henry and Callie Gaines, a respectable tenant farming fam-
ily, in Lafayette County, northern Mississippi, in 1911. By the
time Gaines reached four years old, only seven of his siblings
survived, and Lloyd's father had also died.6 Gaines began his
education in rural Mississippi in what he described as a "one-
room framed building, too well ventilated by cracks, and poorly
heated by a single stove placed in the center of a circle of wooden
benches."' Gaines had completed the sixth grade when, in
1926, he and his family moved to St. Louis, Missouri, where he
was put back into the fifth grade "[a]s a matter of policy.",

Gaines excelled in school and completed grades five through
eight in just two years at Waring and Lincoln elementary
schools, followed by a four-year high school course in three
years at Vashon High School in St. Louis.' He then spent one
year at Stowe Teachers College before beginning his under-
graduate education in 1933. He attended Lincoln University,
the African American equivalent of the University of Missouri,
studying a variety of subjects, including English, mathematics,

5Plessy v Ferguson, 163 U.S. 537 (1896).
6 Lloyd Lionel Gaines, Papers of the NAACP, part 3: The Campaign for Edu-
cational Equality, Legal Department and Central Office Records, 1913-1950,
series A, Legal Department and Central Office Records, 1913-1940, reel 14,
frames 0377-81 (microfilm, Royal Holloway, University of London).

Ibid.

'Ibid., frame 0378.

'Ibid., frame 0379.
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history, economics, and government studies.10 He won numer-
ous scholarships and awards throughout his education, includ-
ing an alumni award from Vashon High School, the Stowe
College University Club Award, and a Curators' Scholarship
Award at Lincoln.'I

Lincoln University had been established in 1921 when the
Missouri legislature passed the Lincoln University Act to
expand what was then Lincoln Institute, to bring it up to the
same standards as the University of Missouri. As part of this
act, Lincoln had its own board of curators, the ability to ad-
minister out-of-state scholarships, and the power to establish
graduate schools when the board deemed it necessary.1 2 Out-
of -state scholarships enabled African American students in
Missouri who wanted to study in a graduate program that was
not offered at Lincoln to go to one of the neighboring states
that admitted African Americans to its graduate programs.
The state of Missouri paid the tuition fees. Although this was
supposed to be only a temporary measure, these scholarships
effectively enabled Missouri to evade the expansion of graduate
programs at Lincoln University for many years. Other southern
and border states likewise offered out-of-state scholarships as
a means to keep their universities segregated. According to his
testimony in depositions for the Circuit Court of Boone County,
Gaines had decided on law as his preferred career in 1930,
while still in high school." Gaines researched the standards of
the law schools in Illinois and Iowa, where his tuition would
be paid by Missouri, but he decided that it was the University
of Missouri that had the best reputation and that would give
him the best standing to practice law in Missouri.4

Gaines completed his undergraduate education at Lincoln
University in 1935 as an honor student and president of his
class." In June of that year, he applied to the University of Mis-

"Lincoln University Transcript, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14,
frames 0322-23,

"Biography of Lloyd Lionel Gaines, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14,
frame 0330; Lucile H. Bluford, "The Lloyd Gaines Story," Journal of Educa-
tional Sociology 32:6, "Southern Higher Education Since the Gaines Decision:
A Twenty Year Review" (February 1959): 242.

"Laws of Missouri, 1921.

"Circuit Court of Boone County: Deposition on Behalf of Respondents, NAACP
Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14, frame 0459.

"Ibid., frames 0491-0500.

"Official Transcript of the Record of Lloyd Lionel Gaines, NAACP Papers, part 3,
series A, reel 14, frames 0321-22, and Daniel T. Kelleher, "The Case of Lloyd
Lionel Gaines: The Demise of Separate but Equal Doctrine," The Journal of
Negro History 56:4 (October 1971): 263.
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Lloyd Gaines graduated from Lincoln University in Jefferson City,
Missouri, in 1935, as an honor student and president of his under-
graduate class. Shown above is Memorial Hall, Lincoln University.
(Courtesy of Lincoln University Archives)

souri Law School in Columbia. Various accounts exist of how
and when the NAACP first became involved in Gaines' case.
According to the NAACP papers, the first contact between
Gaines and Charles Houston, special counsel to the NAACP,
was August 27, 1935. This differs from Gaines' deposition
testimony, in which he states that his first contact with the
NAACP was in late September 1935. Both accounts conflict
with a 1970 interview with African American attorney Sidney
Redmond, a St. Louis NAACP lawyer who served as president
of the city's NAACP branch. Redmond stated that Gaines had
not yet applied to the University of Missouri when he first
entered Redmond's office seeking assistance.'6 Whether the
NAACP was coaching Gaines to become a plaintiff may never
be known, but from his excellent scholastic record, it seems

"Sidney Redmond to Charles Houston, 27 August 1935, NAACP Papers, part 3,
series A, reel 14, frame 0299; Circuit Court of Boone County: Deposition on
Behalf of Respondents, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14, frame 0451,
and "Interview with Sidney Redmond, July 6, 1970," Western Historical Manu-
script Collection, http://www.umsl.edu/~whmc/guides/t025.htm.
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likely that he was a genuinely qualified, able, and well-suited
candidate to study law.

In his attempt to attend the University of Missouri's law
school, Gaines wrote to the university's registrar, S.W. Canada,
who dealt with admissions, on numerous occasions in June,
July, and August 1935. To be admitted to law school, Gaines
had to send transcripts from an accredited university to verify
his grades. However, Lincoln University was not accredited.17

When Canada received Gaines' transcripts from Lincoln, he
sent a letter in September 1935 telling Gaines that his request
had been forwarded to the president of Lincoln University for
"possible arrangements" to be made there.'I Canada was refer-
ring to the out-of-state scholarships offered to African American
students who wanted to study courses not offered at Lincoln.

The NAACP initiated a mandamus proceeding against the
University of Missouri in January 1936, asking the Boone County
Court to order the university's registrar and board of curators
to consider Gaines' application, which had lain on their desks
for the past five months.9 Canada formally rejected Gaines'
application on March 30, 1936, and the first writ of mandamus
was dismissed on April 15.20 However, Judge Walter Dinwiddie,
who oversaw the case for the court, allowed an alternative writ
of mandamus to be filed against the University of Missouri
to require the university to either admit Gaines, since he had
been rejected solely on the basis of his race, or to prove that
it would be illegal under state and federal law to admit him.2 1

This was the official beginning of the Missouri exrel. Gaines v.
Canada case, which would end up being decided in front of the
U.S. Supreme Court.2

In May 1936, the depositions of Gaines and three other
African Americans were taken. In addition to Gaines, there
was Arnett G. Lindsay, a businessman in Jefferson, Missouri,
who had applied to the University of Missouri to study law in
1931 and did so again in December 1935 after Gaines' attempt;

"Circuit Court of Boone County: Deposition on Behalf of Respondents,
NAACP Papers, frame 0457.

"Ibid., frames 0476-80.

"Circuit Court of Boone County: Petition for Mandamus, January 23, 1936,
NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 24, frames 0807-13.

2'Official Notice of Board Action, March 30, 1936, and New Suit Filed Against
University of Missouri to Aid Negro Applicant, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A,
reel 14, frames 0028-29.

"Stipulation for Dismissal of First Petition, and Order for Alternative Writ of
Mandamus, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 24, frames 0814-17.
2Missouri ex rel. Gaines v Canada, 305 U.S. 337 (1938).
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John A. Boyd, a graduate of Lincoln who applied to the Uni-
versity of Missouri in December 1935 to study mathematics;
and Nathaniel A. Sweets, a business manager for the St. Louis
American newspaper, who wished to study journalism at the
University of Missouri and inquired about admission there in
December 1935.13

William Hogsett, the lead lawyer for the University of Missouri,
sought to demonstrate that Lincoln University was the only
facility available to African Americans in the state because
the University of Missouri was prohibited by state law from
accepting African American students. Hogsett also attempted
to show that it was the duty of Lincoln to provide Gaines with
the education that he desired under Missouri law, section 9622
of the Revised Statutes of 1929. This statute reinforced the
Lincoln University Act of 1921, which stated that the board
of curators at Lincoln University had the power to send its
students to universities of adjacent states in order for them to
study courses that Lincoln did not offer.2 4 It was clear from the
deposition of J.D. Elliff, president of the board of curators at
Lincoln, that there were not enough funds to expand graduate
facilities at Lincoln. In practice, the out-of-state scholarships
arrangement was the only real alternative to admission to the
University of Missouri law school.2 NAACP lawyer Sidney
Redmond's rebuttal was that it was a constitutional right of
Gaines to be admitted to the law school at the University of
Missouri because there was no separate alternative for him to
attend in the state, and out-of-state scholarships were inad-
equate to meet the needs of the African American population
of Missouri.2 6

As expected, in July 1936 Judge Dinwiddie denied Gaines
the writ of mandamus and a motion for a new trial within the
same court. Nevertheless, Gaines was permitted to appeal his
case to the Supreme Court of Missouri .2 In the time between
the case's being decided in the county court in July 1936 and in
the Supreme Court of Missouri in December 1937, Gaines read

'Circuit Court of Boone County: Deposition on Behalf of Respondents,
NAACP Papers, frames 0538-63.
24Lincoln University Act, Missouri Laws of 1921, 86-87, and Revised Statutes
of Missouri, 1929.
25Bill of Exceptions, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14, frames 0662-72.
26Circuit Court of Boone County: Depositions on Behalf of Respondents,
NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14, frames 0466-67, 0471, 0478-80,
0483-84, 486.

"Circuit Court of Boone County, June Term, 1936: Conclusions of Law, & Motion
for a New Trial, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14, frames 0718-22.
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economics at the master's level at the University of Michigan
to "broaden [his] pre legal training."2 Unbeknownst to Gaines,
the NAACP paid his tuition fees at Michigan for his master's
degree, but Walter White, secretary of the NAACP, told Gaines
that it was "a friend" who gave him the loan, claiming that it
was not the "purpose" of the NAACP to provide scholarships.29

This was because the NAACP could not appear to be paying
Gaines in any way, as this might have been used in court to
discredit him and the association by inferring that Gaines as a
plaintiff was on the payroll.

The Missouri Supreme Court heard the Gaines case in
September 1937. In December 1937, it affirmed the judgment of
Judge Dinwiddie by again denying Gaines admission to Mis-
souri's law school.3 0 The court based its decision on a number
of factors. First, state law prohibited integrated education.
Second, the Lincoln University Act of 1921 established Lin-
coln as the higher education facility for African Americans
in Missouri. Third, the provision of out-of-state scholarships
complied with the established Plessy v. Ferguson (1896) legal
doctrine of "separate but equal." Finally, the court said, since
Gaines had not applied to Lincoln University, that university
did not know of a demand for, and therefore had not been given
the opportunity to provide, a "separate but equal" law school.3 1

The court declined to rule on whether Lincoln University and
the University of Missouri were in fact equal, in part because
Lincoln was still establishing itself as a university, and the
out-of-state scholarships were purportedly only a temporary
measure, pending the full development of graduate facilities.

"AN EPOCH-MAKING DECISION"32

On December 18, 1937, nine days after the Missouri Supreme
Court denied a writ of mandamus, NAACP lawyers appealed
the decision and requested a rehearing, which eventually was

"Lloyd Gaines to Charles Houston, 5 August 1936, NAACP Papers, part 3,
series A, reel 14, frame 0747.

"Walter White to Lloyd Gaines, 8 September 1936, NAACP Papers, part 3,
series A, reel 14, frame 0780; and Walter White to Lloyd Gaines, 10 September
1936, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14, frames 0749 and 0753.

'Supreme Court of Missouri, opinion, December 9, 1937, NAACP Papers, part 3,
series A, reel 3, frames 0042-57.

"a bid.
3 2Oswald Garrison Villard, "Issues and Men,"' Nation, December 24, 1938.
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denied by the court?3 Houston and Redmond spent the fol-
lowing months preparing the petition to appeal Gaines to the
U.S. Supreme Court. The lawyers focused their arguments on
the federal issue involved. They argued that the University of
Missouri had denied Gaines his constitutional right of equal
protection of the law as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amend-
ment when it had denied him admission and claimed that it
was the duty of Lincoln to provide his out-of-state tuition.3 4

The NAACP submitted the petition on May 24, 1938. Never-
theless, it was uncertain that the Supreme Court would hear
a case in which a favorable decision could have such a wide-
reaching impact, not only on education but also on the federal
government in relation to states' rights.35 Almost five months
elapsed before the petition for appeal was granted by the U.S.
Supreme Court on October 10; oral arguments were heard on
November 936

The justices handed down their decision on December 12,
1938. In a six-to-two split, the Court ruled in favor of Gaines.
Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes wrote the majority opin-
ion for the Court, in which he declared that the lack of a law
school for African Americans in Missouri was a denial of the
equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Hughes
based this argument on the premise that "a privilege has been
created for white law students which is denied to Negroes
by reason of their race." The Court outlawed the use of out-
of -state scholarships as a remedy for this. Hughes concluded
by stating that the Supreme Court of Missouri's decision was
reversed, noting that Gaines was "entitled" to attend the Uni-
versity of Missouri due to the absence of any other equivalent
institution for African Americans within the state.3

1

Justice James C. McReynolds and Justice Pierce Butler wrote
dissenting opinions. Justice McReynolds contended that educa-
tion was a state matter and that the federal government should
not involve itself in such issues except in extreme circumstances.
McReynolds stated his fear that the Supreme Court decision
could result in Missouri's "abandonling]" the law school at the

'Appellant's Motion for a Re-Hearing and Suggestions in Support Thereof,
NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 24, frames 1018-22, and Motion to Stay
Mandate, Papers of the NAACP, part 3, series A, reel 24, frame 0029.
3 4Petition for Certiorari, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 24, frames 1130-52.

"Osmond K. Fraenkel to Charles Houston, July 13, 1938, NAACP Papers, part 3,
series A, reel 14, frame 0994.

. 6John R. Howard, The Shifting Wind: The Supreme Court and Civil Rights
from Reconstruction to Brown (New York, 1999), 261.
3 7Missouri ex rel. Gaines v. Canada, 305 U.S. 337 (1938).
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University of Missouri or, even worse, integrating its schools,
which might "damnify both races."'

The divided nature of the Supreme Court reflected national
sentiment regarding African American equal opportunities
within education. In an article written shortly after the Gaines
decision, Leon A. Ransom, a lawyer and a professor at Howard
University, noted that "few of the comments [from southern
states] indicate a spirit of hostility" toward the ruling but that
most legislatures were looking for ways to avoid the actual
integration of their universities?9 Moreover, Ransom pointed
out that the case tested the justices' interpretation of the
Fourteenth Amendment and specifically the Plessy doctrine of
"separate but equal." The Court had to decide what equal pro-
tection actually meant and, more specifically, whether Plessy
said that it was the duty of the individual state to provide equal
facilities or if that duty could be passed over to another state.
Ultimately, the Court decided that it was the duty of each
individual state to ensure that equal graduate facilities were
provided for both races.

The Supreme Court decision held potentially far-reaching
implications for the entire South. Not one southern state
provided graduate education facilities for African Americans.
Technically, now all state universities could be in breach of the
Gaines decision. The day after the ruling, NAACP executive
secretary Walter White issued a statement in which he said the
NAACP was "delighted" with the decision, and he discussed
the organization's aims in their continuing battle for equal edu-
cational opportunities for African Americans.4 0 The same day,
the New York Times reported the Supreme Court decision on
its front page, including a statement by Charles Houston, who
said the decision "completely knocked out" the use of out-of-
state scholarships in the border and southern states.4 1

On December 30, 1938, the University of Missouri asked
the U.S. Supreme Court to reconsider its decision on economic
grounds. The university's lawyers claimed that the ruling left
Missouri with only the options of either closing its universities
to prevent integration or paying vast sums to create African
American graduate schools that were substantially equal to the

"Ibid.
"Leon A. Ransom, "Education and the Law: Aftermath of the Gaines Deci-
sion," The Journal of Negro Education 8:2 (April 1939): 244-46.

"Statement By Walter White, December 13, 1938, NAACP Papers, part 3,
series A, reel 24, frames 1055-56.

""Court Backs Negro on Full Education," New York Times, December 13, 1938.
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Charles H. Houston, above, served as special counsel to the NAACP
in the Gaines case. (Courtesy of the Library of Congress)
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white professional schools.4 2 On January 3, 1939, the Supreme
Court refused to rehear the case. The state legislature then
began to formulate plans to evade the decision." In early Febru-
ary, John Taylor, a member of the Missouri General Assembly
and chairman of the House Appropriations Committee, intro-
duced a bill to amend the Lincoln University Act of 1921. The
bill proposed to give power to the board of curators at Lincoln
to "reorganize" the university to provide equal educational
opportunities to those at the University of Missouri.44 House
Bill 195 (known as the Taylor Bill) passed the state senate on
April 19 and was signed into law by Governor Stark on May 4.*4
The bill not only gave power to the board of curators to enlarge
Lincoln, but it also appropriated $200,000 toward the expan-
sion of necessary buildings, which in turn was intended to
facilitate the development of available courses. The maneuver
was the legislature's attempt to evade the Gaines ruling while
still remaining within the boundaries of the law. The bill was
passed before Gaines returned to the state supreme court. This
meant that the University of Missouri could use the Taylor Bill
to demonstrate that Lincoln would indeed have a separate but
equal law school before the beginning of the following academic
year, and that therefore Gaines would not need to be admitted
to the University of Missouri law school.4 6

The Supreme Court of Missouri heard the Gaines case on
May 22, 1939, and Judge J. A. Leedy remanded it back to the
county court of Boone in August. Judge Leedy noted that since
the U.S. Supreme Court's decision, the Missouri legislature had
enacted the Taylor Bill. A resolution had subsequently been
passed by Lincoln's board of curators to establish a law school
by September 1, 1939. The case was sent back to Boone Coun-
ty Court to assess the actual degree of equality between the
law schools at Missouri and Lincoln. If the lower court found
that the two schools were not substantially equal, the Univer-

41"University of Missouri Asks United States Supreme Court to Reconsider
Gaines Case," Columbia Evening Missourian, December 30, 1938.

""Court Refuses to Reconsider Gaines Case," Columbia Evening Missourian,
January 3, 1939.
4 "Bill Proposed Reorganization of Lincoln University to Meet Supreme Court
Ruling," The Kansas City Star, February 3, 1939.

45"Lincoln U. Expansion Bill Sent to Stark," St. Louis Post-Dispatch, April 19,
1939, and "Lincoln U. Equality Bill Signed By Stark," St. Louis Globe Demo-
crat, May 4, 1939.

"'Larry Grothaus, "'The Inevitable Mr. Gaines': The Long Struggle to Deseg-
regate the University of Missouri, 1936-1950," Arizona and the West 26:1
(Spring 1984): 26.
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sity of Missouri would be forced to accept Gaines' application
for admission."

Missouri's African American population disapproved of the
state's actions in trying to defy the Supreme Court decision.
Many believed that it was not financially viable to spend lim-
ited resources on keeping just a few African American students
from attending the University of Missouri.', Nathan Young,
editor of the African American newspaper the St. Louis Ameri-
can, wrote a letter to Walter White in which he called the pro-
visional Lincoln Law School a "paper school." Young claimed
that the money appropriated by the Missouri legislature was
simply being used to quiet protest in the African American
community rather than going directly to expanding Lincoln as
it was supposed to.49 An editorial in New York's Amsterdam
News attacked the creation of a "mushroom" law school at
Lincoln as violating the U.S. Constitution because it could not
possibly match the University of Missouri Law School. More-
over, the editorial pointed out that if the "separate but equal"
law school were approved by the local courts, it would under-
mine Gaines, because presumably other southern states would
quickly follow suit and create only a fagade of equal higher
education facilities. 0 The final decision in the Gaines case was
thus highly anticipated, since it would set the pattern for what
would happen across the South in higher education.

Depositions were taken on October 10, 1939, to assess whether
the new law school at Lincoln was equal to that of the Univer-
sity of Missouri. As William Taylor, the newly appointed dean
of the law school, testified, the school was not at the Jefferson
City campus of Lincoln University but in St. Louis. This meant
that its students did not have the advantage of ready access
to the state supreme court's library in Jefferson City. Nor did
they, being separated from the main campus, feel as if they
were integrated into the wider university. William Taylor (who
had previously been dean of the law school at Howard Univer-
sity) gave the most in-depth deposition, in which his education
and experience were discussed, as were the size and adequacy
of the law school building. Nineteen students were attending
the law school, all in their first year, with four members of
academic staff, only one of whom had any significant teaching

1
7Missouri Supreme Court: Opinion at Rehearing, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A,

reel 15, frames 0097-0102.

"Sawyer, "The Gaines Case," 287-88.

'9N.B. Young, Jr. to Walter White, 31 August 1939, NAACP Papers, part 3,
series A, reel 15, frames 0217-19.

o"Evading the Law," The Amsterdam News, September 9, 1939.
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experience." Charles Houston sought to use the deposition to
prove that the new law school was in no way equal to that of
the University of Missouri, pressing Judge Dinwiddie to order
the university to admit Gaines to its law school. However, on
the second day of depositions, in a dramatic and wholly un-
expected development, Houston informed the judge that the
plaintiff, Lloyd Gaines, was missing.52

"I WISH I WERE JUST A PLAIN, ORDINARY MAN

WHOSE NAME NO ONE RECOGNIZED""5

After the Supreme Court decision in December 1938, it had
been of little necessity for the NAACP to be in regular contact
with Lloyd Gaines. There was a lapse of seven months between
his last known movements and the NAACP's realization that
he had disappeared. Once the NAACP discovered that Gaines
was missing, it advertised in local and national newspapers
in a vain attempt to find him. The circumstances of Gaines'
disappearance have been contested ever since, and a variety of
conflicting accounts and interpretations have emerged.

Professor John R. Howard, in his monograph on the role of
the Supreme Court in civil rights, claims that Gaines went
missing in July 1938. Howard bases this evidence on the
NAACP papers, which contain a letter from Sidney Redmond,
the local NAACP lawyer, to Charles Houston, stating that
Gaines' family had not heard from him in a month and that
his brother believed he had been kidnapped.6 While Howard's
assessment of Gaines is the most detailed overview of the case
in a survey of the early civil rights era, there is evidence to
prove that Gaines actually went missing about a year later than
Howard suggests.

The last known moments before Gaines' disappearance were
documented by Lucile Bluford, an African American journal-
ist who was an editor of the Kansas City Call and who knew
Gaines personally. According to an article she wrote twenty
years after Gaines' disappearance, Gaines had spoken at a local

"Depositions of Witnesses, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 24, frames
1047-1116.

"Kelleher, "The Case of Lloyd Lionel Gaines," 268.

"'Lloyd Gaines to Callie Gaines, 3 March 1939.

"Howard, The Shifting Wind, 262.

"Redmond to Houston, 13 July 1938, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 14,
frame 0987.
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NAACP meeting on April 27, 1939, in Kansas City and had
left for Chicago the next day, with the intention of staying just
a few days. Bluford claims to have accompanied him to the
train station and watched him board the train to Chicago.6

However, the dates do not match up with dates presented by
others who claim that Gaines actually disappeared in March,
one month earlier. It is possible that Bluford simply remem-
bered the chronology of events incorrectly and that she actu-
ally meant February 1939, but even this does not match with
Gaines' own account of when he left Kansas City.

The Lloyd L. Gaines Digital Collection on the University
of Missouri's website contains a number of letters between
Gaines and his family throughout his involvement with the
NAACP case."7 It contains the last known letter written to
his mother, Callie Gaines, on March 3, 1939, from Chicago.
In the letter, Gaines explains that he left his job in St. Louis
because there were "illegal tricks of the trade being practiced"
(he worked at a gas station that was selling poor quality gas at
inflated rates), and the job was too demanding, so he moved
to Chicago in search of work. Gaines also mentions his time
in Kansas City, where he talked at meetings and a school as-
sembly, but, since he could not find any paid work, he traveled
to Chicago late Monday, February 27. In the letter, Gaines
writes that he had paid for a room at the Y.M.C.A until March 7
and that if he still had not found a job he would "make other
arrangements." He told his mother not to worry if he did not
contact her for a while. The letter is very melancholic in tone.
Gaines mentions the ongoing litigation and that he was still
receiving recognition for the case from African Americans who
believed it was a "great and noble . .. idea." But those people,
Gaines writes, did not understand that the case was still being
processed and that he had yet to be admitted to the University
of Missouri. He told his mother that he wished he were not
still fighting the case and that he yearned to be "just a plain,
ordinary man" again.51 The letter lends much to the theory
that Gaines simply chose to disappear to avoid the case and the
surrounding publicity that came with it.

In a recent essay, Douglas 0. Linder, professor of law at the
University of Missouri-Kansas City, elaborates on the details
of Gaines' time in Chicago. Once he had run out of money and
could no longer stay at the Y.M.C.A., Gaines moved in with

6Lucile H. Bluford, "The Lloyd Gaines Story," 246.

"Lloyd L. Gaines Digital Collection, http://digital.library.umsystem.edu/cgi/t/
text/text-idx?page=home;c=gnp.

"Lloyd Gaines to Callie Gaines, 3 March 1939.
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fraternity brothers of Alpha Phi Alpha. A friend of Gaines claims
that he said he "might not go to law school at the University of
Missouri." Gaines' mother, Callie Gaines, apparently backs up
this idea, stating that she did not believe her son ever "intended
to go there." According to Linder, sometime after the last known
letter from Gaines, he in fact sent a postcard to his mother that
said, "Goodbye, if you don't hear from me anymore, you'll know
I'll be alright." Shortly after, he left the fraternity house to buy
stamps and was never seen again." This appears to be the most
concise analysis of Gaines' last moments but sheds precious
little light on why he actually disappeared.

Another theory has been put forward by Sidney Redmond
who, in a 1970 interview, stated that he had "heard reports"
of "a certain editor in Missouri" who had paid Gaines to move
to Mexico in order to end the litigation.60 In January 1940,
Redmond wrote to Walter White with information that Lucile
Bluford had given him regarding the possible whereabouts of
Gaines. According to Bluford, a student at Lincoln's law school
had received a postcard from Mexico, purportedly written
and sent by Lloyd Gaines, who, the student claimed, had said
he was "having a jolly time on the [tiwo thousand dollars he
had been given to leave the country."6 1 Although the student
never managed to produce the postcard for inspection, White
(according to Douglas 0. Linder) seemed fairly convinced that
Gaines could have gone to Mexico. Indeed, the NAACP looked
into the Mexico theory and, "through friends" there, heard
that Gaines had "been seen . . . and had an ample supply of
money."6 2 But Gaines was never actually tracked down. Other
theories regarding his disappearance have included stories that
he was murdered by extreme segregationists or the Ku Klux
Klan, that he was lynched (by any number of possible suspects),
and that he was teaching in New York. 63

According to journalist Chad Garrison of the River Front
Times, the FBI never opened a case on Gaines' disappearance,

5 Douglas 0. Linder, Before Brown: Charles H. Houston and the Gaines Case,
http://www.law.umke.edu/faculty/projects/ftrials/conlaw/houstonessayhtml.

""Interview with Sidney Redmond, July 6, 1970," Western Historical Manu-
script Collection, http://www.ums.edu/-whmc/guides/t025.htm.
6 'White to Redmond, 23 January 1940, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 15,
frame 0236.
62Linder, Before Brown, 15.
63Ibid., 15-16; With All Deliberate Speed: The Legacy of Brown v. Board,
"Strategy," http://www.brownvboard.info/strategyhtm; Chad Garrison, "The
Mystery of Lloyd Gaines," The River Front Times, April 4, 2007; M. Zapp,
"Who Was Lloyd Gaines?" Vox Magazine, December 21, 2006, and "Interview
with Sidney Redmond, July 6, 1970."

WINTER/SPRING 2010 THE COLDEST CASE 37



38 WESTERN LEGAL HISTORY VoL. 23, No. 1

In March 1939, Lloyd Gaines, second from the left, stepped out of the
Alpha Phi Alpha fraternity house in Chicago to buy postage stamps and
was never seen again. (Courtesy of the University of Missouri Law Library)

and the NAACP's request in 2007 was the first investigation
they had made into his disappearance.64 Douglas 0. Linder
notes how his family never reported Gaines as a missing person
in part because, as one of his brothers claims, Gaines "always
kinda' kept himself to himself," and the family did not think it
particularly suspicious that he had not been in contact.6 s How-
ever, George Gaines, Lloyd's nephew, confirmed in a recent
interview with the author of this article that there was indeed
an FBI file open on his uncle, and the family has never declared
him dead.66 It is difficult to believe that the NAACP did not
contact the police and the FBI regarding Gaines since, had he
been found murdered, the case would have taken more promi-
nence and would have given the NAACP more ammunition to
fight racism in America.

*4Garrison, "The Mystery of Lloyd Gaines."
66Linder, Before Brown, 15.
66George Gaines, email message to author, 27 April 2010.
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In 2007, when the NAACP called on the FBI to reopen
the case in an attempt to verify or dispel such rumors,," this
request was denied. My own contact with the Kansas City FBI
reveals that the case has never been reopened. After subse-
quently filing a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request to
view the files on the Lloyd Gaines case, I learned that the FBI
had destroyed them on March 1, 1996. Because the files were
destroyed (as part of the U.S. Department of Justice's "routine
records retention schedules and departmental regulation"),
the FBI and the U.S. Department of Justice have been unable
to clarify if the files did in fact relate to Gaines and, if so,
what information they held.6

1 Furthermore, it appears, from
the length of time it took to process the FOIA request, that
Gaines' FBI file has never before been requested, so the details
will never be known.

NAACP lawyers only realized that their client was missing
when he failed to appear for the deposition in the Boone County
Court regarding the equality of the newly opened law school at
Lincoln. Despite extensive attempts, including advertisements
in national and local papers, the NAACP failed to locate Gaines.
Without a plaintiff, the case could not continue. On December 27,
1939, Charles Houston wrote to Sidney Redmond telling him
that they would have to drop the case. On January 15, 1940,
Gaines was dismissed by Boone County Court.6 9

At the same time, Houston wanted it to be widely known
that the NAACP intended to follow up Gaines with another
admissions case that had arisen in Missouri7 0 Even before the
news of Gaines' disappearance, the NAACP was pursuing an-
other higher education case in Missouri, with Lucile Bluford as
plaintiff. Weeks after the U.S. Supreme Court handed down its
decision in Gaines, Bluford applied to the School of Journalism
at the University of Missouri, but she was denied admission on
January 30, 1939, when the registrar realized that she was Afri-
can American.7 ' Bluford had been in touch with the NAACP
throughout the Gaines case in her capacity as a journalist, but

"Ali Gabel, "Group Calls to Reopen Gaines Case," Columbian Missourian,
March 4, 2007.

6^David. M. Hardy to author, 26 May 2010; Janice Galli McLeod to author,
27 September 2010.

"'Redmond to Roy Wilkins, 15 January 1940, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A,
reel 15, frame 0235.
70Houston to Redmond, 27 December 1939, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A,
reel 15, frames 0228-32.
7'Robert McLaran Sawyer, "The Gaines Case: Its Background and Influence on
the University of Missouri and Lincoln University 1936-1950" (Ph.D. disserta-
tion, University of Missouri, 1966), 202-205.
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she had not contacted Houston about her own case until Janu-
ary 25, 1939, for advice about how to proceed.7 2 S.W. Canada,
the registrar at the University of Missouri, told Bluford that
since Gaines was before the courts, the university would not
alter its established policy of exclusion unless directed to by
the state legislature or the courts.' Like Gaines, Bluford was
sent to Lincoln University to pursue her education.

Bluford's case did not formally begin until October 1939,
after it was discovered that Gaines was missing. Houston filed
for a writ of mandamus on October 13 to compel the Univer-
sity of Missouri to admit Bluford to the School of Journalism.14

The case proceeded in much the same way that Gaines had.
The University of Missouri's lawyers claimed that the plaintiff
should have applied to Lincoln University, since it was that
institution's responsibility to provide an education for Missouri's
African American citizens. Judge Dinwiddie once again found
in favor of the University of Missouri, citing the fact that Bluford
had not applied to Lincoln for her course."

The Bluford case was appealed in the Missouri Supreme
Court in July 1941. The central issue for the University of Mis-
souri was that Bluford had not applied to Lincoln University,
where the board of curators, under the Taylor Bill of 1939, was
required to establish parallel, equivalent courses at Lincoln
to those at the University of Missouri. The Missouri Supreme
Court decided that Bluford should be admitted to the Univer-
sity of Missouri only if Lincoln failed to establish a school of
journalism in a "reasonable time."76 This marked the end of
the case and the NAACP's immediate attempts to integrate
Missouri's higher education facilities.

In 1941, a journalism course was offered at Lincoln, but
Bluford did not enroll because she only wanted to attend the
University of Missouri.7 The Second World War affected en-
rollment rates at both the University of Missouri and Lincoln
University to the extent that the journalism school at the Uni-

nLinder, Before Brown, 16.
7 3Statement by Registrar Canada, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 24,
frame 0535.

,'Petition for Writ of Mandamus, NAACP Papers, part 3, series A, reel 24,
frames 0709-17.
75Opinion of the Court, NAACP Papers, part 3, series B: Legal Department and
Central Office Records, 1940-1950, reel 13, frames 0170-79.
76Supreme Court of Missouri Decision, NAACP Papers, part 3, series B, reel 12,
frames 1135-45.

"7 Kelleher, "The Case of Lloyd Lionel Gaines," 270.
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versity of Missouri was suspended in 19417 The war also had
a negative impact on the finances of Missouri, reducing state
income and limiting available funds for higher education at both
white and African American institutions.9 This hurt Lincoln
University most, since it was already struggling to provide
courses, both undergraduate and graduate, equal to those of
the University of Missouri. One proposal was to close both the
law and journalism schools at Lincoln in the summer of 1944
if adequate funds were not available to provide students with a
decent education.A0 The journalism school at Lincoln was the
first to close in February 1944. With the aid of the state attor-
ney general, Democrat Roy McKittrick, and Governor Forrest
Donnell, the University of Missouri accepted a plan to extend
its journalism school to its Jefferson City campus to teach
African American students." This meant that the journalism
teachers at Lincoln lost their jobs."

The system of segregation in Missouri began to crumble in
the second half of the 1940s due to a combination of pressures
created by the Gaines and Bluford litigation and also the de-
cline in available state funding for higher education. In 1945, a
new state constitution presaged the changes to come by allow-
ing schools to integrate if they so desired.' Four higher educa-
tion facilities-Eden Theological Seminary, the University of
Kansas City, St. Louis University, and Washington University-
as well as all Catholic elementary and high schools in Missouri
began the process of integration in 1947.84

None of these institutions faced major disruption or oppo-
sition to desegregation, and the developments placed further
pressure on the legislature to completely outlaw segregation.
In 1948, the Missouri Equal Rights Committee, a group of
congressmen from the Missouri House of Representatives, was
established with the initial aim of making higher education
fairer for African American students. The committee requested
that a representative of the University of Missouri attend a
meeting to discuss the situation, and the university sent Allen
McReynolds, the president of the board of curators. Together

"Brigham, "The Education of the Negro in Missouri," 233, and Grothaus, "The
Inevitable Mr. Gaines," 30.
79Sawyer, "The Gaines Case," 306.

s0 lbid., 309-10.

"Ibid., 315-22.

"Grothaus, "The Inevitable Mr. Gaines," 31-32.

'Missouri Constitution, Article 9, section 2, 1945.

"Grothaus, "The Inevitable Mr. Gaines," 34.
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McReynolds and the committee proposed a policy to the general
assembly that would effectively mean full compliance with the
Gaines decision. They wanted to amend legislation that prohib-
ited state and public universities from admitting African Ameri-
can students. However, this was not a request for sweeping
legislation that would outlaw segregation completely. Rather,
it would allow universities to admit African Americans when
Lincoln University could not provide the desired education."

House Bill 182 proposed the policy change to the state
constitution that would remove race from the requirements to
enter a university. It passed the Missouri House of Representa-
tives but was defeated in the state senate, in part because of
an apparent race riot that arose in St. Louis when a swimming
pool there was integrated. The riot caused the senators to halt
the passage of the higher education bill.16

It ultimately required the efforts of the NAACP and new
plaintiffs to break the color barrier in higher education in Mis-
souri. In early 1950, three African Americans, Gus T. Ridgel,
George Horne, and Elmer Bell, Jr., applied to the University of
Missouri. They were represented by Sidney Redmond and local
NAACP lawyers Henry Epsy and Robert Witherspoon. The
case came before Cole County Court in June 1950. Aware that
it was now required by state law to admit African American
students, the university asked the court to hand down a ruling
that would go beyond the case in question to establish the gen-
eral principle that African American students whose courses
were not offered at Lincoln could attend the University of Mis-
souri. 7 Under the circumstances, Judge Samuel Blair took little
time handing down a ruling that permitted the University of
Missouri to admit African American students." Although the
state did not change its policy of segregation in higher educa-
tion, desegregation did effectively begin to occur on a limited
basis at the University of Missouri because of the ruling.9

Blair's decision was influenced by the lack of funds at Lincoln,
combined with the earlier court decisions in Gaines and in
Sipuel, a Supreme Court ruling in 1948. In a case parallel-
ing Gaines, Ada Louis Sipuel, a graduate of the State College
for Negroes in Langston, Oklahoma, applied for admission to
the law school at the University of Oklahoma in 1945 on the
basis that there was no separate but equal school in the state

"Sawyer, "The Gaines Case," 323-24.

"Grothaus, "The Inevitable Mr. Gaines," 37.
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for her to attend. In early 1948, the Supreme Court heard her
case and decided in her favor. Much of the ruling was based on
Gaines, echoing the earlier findings in that case that the state
was obliged to provide equal educational opportunities for
African American students when it did the same for "any other
group. "90 The regents of the University of Oklahoma followed
the same path as Missouri by establishing an African American
law school to avoid admitting Sipuel. However, this law school
was open for only eighteen months, in part because of other
litigation going through the courts at that time and the real-
ization that it was not feasible to create "separate but equal"
facilities for all courses available at the University of Oklaho-
ma. Sipuel was admitted to the University of Oklahoma's law
school in 1949.91 The developments in Missouri and Oklahoma
pointed the way to other imminent court rulings that would
end segregation in higher education in the South.

CONCLUSION

Although the Supreme Court ruled in favor of Sipuel in
1948, it did not specifically require the integration of the Uni-
versity of Oklahoma. It took another student, George McLaurin,
to force the university to admit an African American student.
McLaurin was an African American teacher who wanted to
complete a Ph.D. in education, but there was no such course
for him at an African American higher education institution in
the state. McLaurin sued the University of Oklahoma and was
admitted to the course with little fanfare, mainly due to the ac-
knowledged lack of alternatives within the state. Nevertheless,
on entering the university he discovered that segregation still
operated there. He had to sit separately from the other students
in the classroom, he was forced to eat at a separate time and a
separate table in the university cafeteria, and he had his own
separate desk in the university library. The NAACP objected to
these arrangements, and the Supreme Court ruled in 1950 that
the actions of the University of Oklahoma were unconstitu-
tional, since they denied George McLaurin equal protection of
the laws as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.92

On the very same day that the Supreme Court ruled in the
McLaurin case, it also ruled in the Texas case of Sweatt v

'Sipuel v, Board of Regents of Univ of Okla., 332 US. 631 (1948).

"Mark V Tushnet, The NAACPs Legal Strategy against Segregated Education,
1925-1950 (Chapel Hill, NC, 1987), 120-23.

'McLaurin v. Oklahoma State Regents, 339 US. 637 (1950l,
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Painter. In 1946, postal worker Herman Sweatt had applied to
the University of Texas to study law, but he was denied admis-
sion. In the lower courts, the judge ruled that Texas must create
a law school that Sweatt could attend within six months. In
response, Texas established a temporary school for Sweatt that
was equal to the law school at the University of Texas in terms
of its physical condition and facilities. But the NAACP, in an
attempt to push the Supreme Court further to overturn the
Plessy doctrine of separate but equal, argued that the separate
law school provided by the University of Texas was not in fact
equal because of a variety of "intangible factors," such as the
equivalent reputations of the schools and their alumni. All of
these factors, the NAACP contended, contributed to the edu-
cational experience at the university and the ultimate success
of its students.9 The Supreme Court ruled in favor of Sweatt,
stating that such intangible factors were indeed a substantial
part of the inequality of the separate schools provided by Texas
and other states. The Court ordered Sweatt to be admitted to
the University of Texas94

Sweatt narrowed the Supreme Court's interpretation of
Plessy's separate but equal doctrine to such an extent that
it appeared that the only viable alternative left for universi-
ties was to desegregate. This led the NAACP to abandon its
previous legal strategy that insisted on "separate but equal"
facilities and to instead directly challenge Plessy by demand-
ing complete desegregation. To do this, the NAACP took on
five elementary education cases, which all came before the
Supreme Court in 1952 under the title of Brown v. Board of
Education. In 1954, the case led to a landmark ruling by the
Supreme Court that declared that segregated education was un-
constitutional and a violation of the equal protection clause of
the Fourteenth Amendment. As in the higher education cases,
the Court cited factors beyond the physical equality of schools,
pointing to the impact of segregation on African American
children's "hearts and minds" and stressing the psychological
damage of segregated education."

However, Brown only outlawed segregation in elementary
and high school education. It was not until 1956 that the
Supreme Court, finally, extended the ruling to universities in
Florida ex rel. Hawkins v. Board of Control.' Virgil Hawkins,
an African American veteran of World War II, applied to law

"Tushnet, The NAACPs Legal Strategy, 126-27.
"Sweatt v. Painter, 339 U.S. 629 (1950).

"Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka, 347 U.S. 483 (1954).
96Florida ex rel, Hawkins v, Board of Control, 350 U. S. 413 (1956).
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school at the University of Florida in 1949 but was denied ad-
mission. His case went before the Florida State Supreme Court
seven times and was appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court four
times. After the U.S. Supreme Court handed down its imple-
mentation order for the Brown decision in 1955, the case was
remanded back to the state supreme court, which refused to
admit Hawkins immediately but instead investigated the pos-
sible outcomes of his admittance. When the case again reached
the U.S. Supreme Court, the justices decided that their decree
of "all deliberate speed" in the Brown II ruling was not appli-
cable to higher education and that Hawkins should be admit-
ted to the university based purely on the Brown I ruling. 7

Nevertheless, the Florida Supreme Court simply ignored this
ruling, in line with the development of "massive resistance"
to the implementation of Brown in schools across the South.
Florida continued to deny Hawkins immediate admittance,
and, just like Gaines, he was never admitted to the University
of Florida. After nine years of litigation, Hawkins gave up and
completed his education at Boston University instead.98

Hawkins' attempt to be admitted to the University of
Florida finally brought the question of desegregation in higher
education to a resolution. Of course, the process had been set
in motion by Lloyd Gaines in 1935. Gaines was the first U.S
Supreme Court ruling giving African Americans the right to
study at a previously all-white university, and, although Mis-
souri continued to evade the decision, it was a milestone in the
NAACP's struggle to desegregate education. Whether Gaines
was able to witness and appreciate the legacy of his actions
remains an unsolved mystery and arguably still the FBI's coldest
case of all.

9Ibid.

"Michael J. Klarman, From Jim Crow to Civil Rights: The Supreme Court and
the Struggle for Racial Equality (Oxford, UK, 2004), 256-58.
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UPHOLDING CULTURE AND LANGUAGE

IN GUADALUPE, ARIZONA:

BILINGUAL EDUCATION ACTIVISM
IN THE 1970S

LINDSEY PASSENGER WIECK

U ntil the mid 1970s, the Veda B. Frank
Elementary School in Guadalupe, Arizona, whose students
were predominantly Mexican American and Yaqui,
remained racially and ethnically segregated. Beginning in
1970, the citizens of Guadalupe, which was part of the
Tempe Elementary School District, challenged the school
district to improve their children's schools. Guadalupanos
targeted the district's discriminatory special education
programs and its monolingual policies and practices. Using
grassroots organization and litigation, they challenged
the hegemonic national ideal that citizenship requires
being "American" and speaking English. Guadalupanos
asserted the need for public schools in Arizona to respect
the cultural and linguistic diversity of their students.
Guadalupano activism not only challenged national
policies of monolingualism and the assimilative goals
of public education, but it also improved Guadalupano
students' access to an equitable education.

This case study examines how Guadalupanos organized
for reform in the Tempe Elementary School District. Starting
in 1970, Guadalupanos advocated for changes in the school
district, demanding that the schools consider a student's home

Lindsey Passenger Wieck is a doctoral student in the Depart-
ment of History at the University of Notre Dame. She thanks
Eric Meeks, Jon Coleman, Brian Collier, and Michael Amundson
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48 WESTERN LEGAL HiSTORY VL 3 o

language in the special education assessment and placement
processes. While this grassroots activism was an important
starting point for Guadalupanos' activism, it was not enough
on its own to change district practices. Guadalupanos furthered
their demands with a lawsuit, Guadalupe Organization v.
Tempe Elementary School District (1972),' which they settled
successfully in 1972. This process of litigation, along with
grassroots activism, enabled Guadalupanos to make meaning-
ful changes to the Frank School. The settlement altered local
district practices and Arizona laws regarding special education
assessment and placement, marking increased institutional
acknowledgment of the educational rights of non-native English-
speaking students.2 Guadalupe, along with Diana v. State Board
of Education (1970)- and Covarrubias v. San Diego Unified
(1971 ),4 established and defined the language rights of non-
English-speaking students in regard to special education place-
ment. Attesting to the national significance of Guadalupe's
activism, special education textbooks and guides still define
placement and assessment policies and practices in reference
to Diana, Covarrubias, and Guadalupe.' The Guadalupanos'
educational activism and their momentous settlement changed
how Americans thought of non-English speakers and education
in Tempe Elementary School District, Arizona, and the nation.

While Guadalupe changed policies and practices at the state
and national levels, Guadalupanos felt its greatest effects locally.
In Guadalupe, litigation and community organization worked in
tandem. Guadalupanos grounded their lawsuit on grassroots activ-

'Guadalupe Organization, Inc. v. Tempe Elementary School District, No. 3,
CIV 71-435 (Dist, of AZ 1972), box 30, folder 10, Cecilia Teyechea Denogean de
Esquer Papers (CTDEP), Chicano Research Collection (CRC), Special Collec-
tions, Arizona State University (SCASU) [hereinafter cited as Guadalupe Orga-
nization, CIV 71-4351; Jerry Levine, Arizona Settlement of Special Education
Lawsuit, January 24, 1972, par. 4, Si, box 30, folder 10, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.
2Tempe Elementary School District Board of Trustees Minutes, box 30, folder 7,
CTDEP, CRC, Special Collections, Luhr's Reading Room, Hayden Library,
SCASU; Socorro Hern4ndez Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organi-
zation Special Education Lawsuit," 1973-77, CRC, SCASU, 16.

-Diana v State Board of Education, Civil Action No. C-70-37 (N.D. Calif. 1970).

'Covarrubias v. San Diego Unified School District, Civil Action No. 70-394-T
(S.D. Calif. 1971) [hereinafter cited as Covarrubias, Civil Action No. 70-394-Ti.

sElaine Fletcher-Janzen and Cecil R. Reynolds, Concise Encyclopedia of Special
Education: A Reference for the Education of the Handicapped and Other
Exceptional Children and Adults, 2" ed. (New York, 2004), 316-17; Susan Jacob
and Timothy S. Hartshorne, Ethics and Law for School Psychologists, 4 th ed.
(New York, 2003), 134. Similarities in language suggest that Guadalupe also
influenced the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (1975) and the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (1990).
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ism, and their success with the settlement encouraged the con-
tinuation of community organization and political engagement.
Guadalupe mobilized Guadalupanos, educated them, refined
their definitions of citizenship and equal educational opportunity,
and taught them to stand up for these new conceptualizations
and their rights. This litigation also provided Guadalupanos an
opportunity to de-stigmatize their languages and cultures, while
they taught their children and grandchildren traditional customs
and pride in their cultural and linguistic identity.

Guadalupanos' activism, both through litigation and
grassroots endeavors, led to an understanding of their efforts
as a form of cultural citizenship, because they demanded the
inclusion of their culture and language in schools as a guar-
anteed right of citizenship. Citizenship is membership in a
political community, and this membership involves rights
and responsibilities.6 Cultural citizenship incorporates the
attempt to attain full membership in the American nation-
state, while also asserting that one need not revoke his/her
language or culture to become an American citizen. William
Flores and Rina Benmayor, humanities and cultural studies
scholars, explain cultural citizenship as a perspective that
allows for the interpretation of "cultural processes that result
in community building and political claims raised by margin-
alized groups on the broader society."' In referring to cultural
citizenship, historian Eric Meeks explores particularly how
the demands of Chicano activists went beyond a fight for
legal rights to "a cultural and political struggle for dignity,
identity, 'belonging, entitlement, and influence.'" In relation
to cultural citizenship, one can examine how ethnic activists
demanded "new" rights and redefined citizenship through
these demands. This concept connects the realization of legal
inclusion with cultural rights and processes. The idea of cul-
tural citizenship serves as a useful tool in examining how the
Guadalupanos' fight for cultural and linguistic rights was not
only an assertion of legal citizenship, but also a reconceptual-
ization of citizenship.

Historians study citizenship and culture and language
rights together, because, often in the nation-state, the
dominant group has utilized language to mark its unique

'Stuart Hall and David Held, "Citizens and Citizenship," in New Times: The
Changing Face of Politics in the 1990s, ed. Stuart Hall and Martin Jacques
(London, UK, 1989), 175.

'William V. Flores and Rina Benmayor, eds., Latino Cultural Citizenship:
Claiming Identity, Space, and Rights (Boston, 1997), 15.

'Eric V. Meeks, Border Citizens: The Making of Indians, Mexicans, and Anglos
in Arizona (Austin, TX, 2007), 181.
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cultural identity and to maintain hegemony within the
nation.9 The school is an ideal location in which to examine
processes of citizenship, acculturation, and bilingualism,
because assimilation has been a common function of schools
for more than a century. Because of this assimilative func-
tion, schools can reveal much about the dominant national
conception of citizenship, especially as it pertains to lan-
guage and culture.

The Tempe Elementary School District used testing proce-
dures that made two assumptions about students' linguistic
capacities: (1) Tempe School District assumed that all chil-
dren entering public schools spoke English, and (2) if these
students did not speak English, the school district assumed
that mental retardation caused the language deficit. These
beliefs reflect an understanding of citizenship that idealized
a monolingual, homogenous nation. Arguing that the as-
sumed links between citizenship, intelligence, and the Eng-
lish language did not actually exist, Guadalupanos fought for
reconceptualization of citizenship that recognized the diverse
multilingual, multicultural American citizenry. When they
successfully settled Guadalupe, Guadalupanos gained edu-
cational rights for their children by creating a binding legal
document that required Tempe Elementary School District
and the state of Arizona to change their policies and practices.
Using this lens of cultural citizenship, historians can see not
only the ways in which the law acted historically against
those with variant cultures and languages, but also how these
communities attempted to gain full citizenship rights with-
out discarding their cultural identities.

Throughout the 1970s, Guadalupanos asserted that the
ability to be bilingual was a civil right and thus a right
that schools needed to respect. They worked tirelessly to
improve Frank School, hoping to ensure their children's
success and sustain the community's identity. The mutu-
ally dependent processes of grassroots activism and litiga-
tion enabled Guadalupanos to preserve their cultures and
languages and to implement educational reforms in Tempe
Elementary School District.

'Clare Mar-Molinero, The Politics of Language in the Spanish-Speaking World:
From Colonisation to Globalisation (London, UK, 2000), 3-15. Mar-Molinero's
citations include Peter Alter, Nationalism (London, UK, 1991); Michael Billig,
Banal Nationalism (London, UK, 1995); and Benedict Anderson, Imagined
Communities: Reflections on the Origins and Spread of Nationalism (London,
UK, 1991).
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HISTORICAL CONTEXT

Bilingualism and language rights have a long, contested
history in the United States. Prior to and during European
colonization, many peoples with diverse languages inhabited
what would later become the United States, and people needed
to cross language barriers to communicate. Bilingual education
was common in the United States until the early twentieth
century. As the United States grew increasingly diverse, many
Americans began to believe that bilingual education was
unnecessary and harmful to the creation of a unified nation.
Throughout the twentieth century, bilingual education pro-
grams cycled between popularity and stigmatization, due to
the rise and fall of factors such as xenophobia and immigration.
Language rights and bilingual education are still hotly debated
after a long history of shifting public opinions.xo

In bilingual education programs, the teacher instructs a non-
native-English speaking student, or English language learner,
using both the student's vernacular language and English as
the means of communication and/or for teaching content in
the classroom. Although bilingual education varies in method
and form, the two main types of bilingual education are as-
similative bilingual education and additive bilingual education.
Assimilative bilingual education is a temporary supplemental
curriculum that teaches English language learners basic Eng-
lish and orients them to American cultural norms. In theory,
these programs enable learners to enter mainstream classrooms
quickly. In contrast, additive bilingual education programs are
more intensive than those of assimilative bilingual education.
These programs aim to teach English, by instructing students
in listening, speaking, reading, and writing skills, while also
teaching content in students' native languages to ensure that
they do not fall behind in their regular studies. Programs that
are more intensive include a permanent course of study that
enables students to be proficient in two languages (frequently
the student's vernacular and English) by teaching content in
both languages." Often additive bilingual education includes

"For more on the history of bilingual education, see Carlos Kevin Blanton, The
Strange Career of Bilingual Education in Texas, 1836-1981 (College Station,
TX, 2004); Guadalupe San Miguel, Jr., Contested Policy: The Rise and Fall of
Federal Bilingual Education in the United States, 1960-2001 (Denton, TX,
2004); James Crawford, Bilingual Education: History, Politics, Theory, and
Practice, 4 th ed. (Los Angeles, 1999).

"Jonathan D. Haft, "Assuring Equal Educational Opportunity for Language-
Minority Students: Bilingual Education and the Equal Educational Opportunity
Act of 1974," Columbia Journal of Law and Social Problems 18:2 (1983): 251.
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bicultural elements, which blend American culture and stu-
dents' home cultures into the curriculum.) Moreover, additive
bilingual education programs frequently integrate best teaching
practices that boost students' self-esteem by acknowledging
students' unique cultural identities.13

To understand the Guadalupanos' educational activism, we
first need to review Guadalupe's history and the development
of grassroots organizing within the community. Guadalupe is
a small town in the Phoenix, Arizona, metropolitan area. The
Yaquis and ethnic Mexicans in Guadalupe are primarily the de-
scendants of late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century im-
migrants.4 In the late nineteenth century, Yaqui Indians fled debt
peonage and violent persecution by the Porfirio Diaz regime
in Mexico.I They settled as refugees near Tempe and Tucson,
and the United States granted them political asylum. Shortly
thereafter, in the early twentieth century, Mexican immigra-
tion drastically increased in southern Arizona, particularly
in the Salt River Valley. Southern Arizona and the Salt River
Valley attracted many Mexicans not only because it allowed
them to escape the economic and political turmoil caused by
the Mexican Revolution, but also because of the availability of
jobs picking cotton and other agricultural- and irrigation-related
work. In the 1920s and 1930s, ethnic Mexicans settled in and
around the original Yaqui settlements, some as landowners

12While multicultural education refers to the incorporation of three or more
cultures, most academic sources use the term bicultural education when
discussing 1970s educational activism and programs. Because of this tendency,
I use this terminology, even though Guadalupanos advocated for the inclusion
of both Mexican American and Yaqui culture in schools.

"Lesley Wright, "Tribal Schools See Future in Native American Teachers," The
Arizona Republic, March 14, 2010, http://www.azcentral.com/news/articles/
2010/03/14/20100314native-american-teachers.html; Jon Allan Reyhner,
Teaching American Indian Students (Norman, OK, 1992); Haft, "Assuring
Equal Educational Opportunity for Language-Minority Students," 250-58;
Frank N. Houston, Culture-A Way to Reading: An Instructional Guide for
Use with Yaqui Students (Tempe, AZ, 1980).
14Another prominent group of Yaquis today lives on the Pascua Reservation
near Tucson. For more on these Yaquis, see Octaviana Trujillo, "A Tribal
Approach to Language and Literacy Development in a Trilingual Setting," in
Teaching Indigenous Languages, ed. Jon Reyhner (Flagstaff, AZ, 1997), 10-21;
Octaviana Valenzuela Trujillo, "Yaqui Views on Language and Literacy" (Ph.D.
dissertation, Arizona State University, 1991); Sam Aaron Brewer, Jr., "The
Yaqui Indians of Arizona: Trilingualism and Cultural Change" (Ph.D. disserta-
tion, The University of Texas at Austin, 1976).

"The Yaquis refer to themselves as the Yoemem ("the people"), and to their
language as "Yoeme." Trujillo, "Yaqui Views on Language and Literacy," 95.
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and others as squatters. By the mid 1960s, Mexican Americans
made up two-thirds of the community's occupants.'6

Near Tempe, Yaquis purchased land, set up a village, and
created cultural institutions, and many worked on irrigation
projects in the Salt River Valley. In the 1920s and 1930s, Yaquis
and ethnic Mexicans, who often worked and lived near each
other, maintained separate identities. Some Yaquis wished to
separate themselves from the more recent Mexican immigrants
so as not to be stigmatized as Mexicans. Yaquis working in the
Salt River Valley lived temporarily in work camps nearby, but
as these jobs evaporated in the 1950s and 1960s largely due to
technological and transportation developments, most returned
to Guadalupe and were surprised to find ethnic Mexicans in-
habiting the village they had left."

In the 1960s, the town lacked infrastructure, including
modern water and utility services, and its houses and buildings
were in disrepair. To improve the town's grim conditions, Gua-
dalupanos formed the Guadalupe Health Council in 1960. The
Guadalupe Health Council addressed issues of health, safety,

"Meeks, Border Citizens, 77-78, 148, 182.

"Leah S. Glaser, "The Story of Guadalupe, Arizona: The Survival and Preservation
of a Yaqui Community" (M A. thesis, Arizona State University, 1996), 17-58.

Reflecting the town's Mexican and Indian cultural history, the Yaqui
Temple and Our Lady of Guadalupe Church stand side-by-side in
Guadalupe, Arizona. (Courtesy of Rose Mary Arriano, town clerk)
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and infrastructure in the town and registered Guadalupanos
to vote. Guadalupanos modeled the health council on 1950s
Mexican American activist organizations like the Community
Service Organization, which emphasized voter registration
and citizenship training as well as strategies that enabled local
communities to decide autonomously which issues to pursue."
This style of organizing, which included gatherings in local
homes, encouraged full community participation and enabled
residents to discuss local issues.9

The Guadalupe Health Council incorporated as the Guadal-
upe Organization in 1964. Historian Leah Glaser notes that the
Guadalupe Organization was the Guadalupanos' first means of
gaining political power and enacting change and improvement
in Guadalupe.20 The power of this activism is clear in the Gua-
dalupe Organization's actions: it built a post office, registered
voters, set up a voting precinct within the community, pro-
vided job counseling, and hired a deputy sheriff for Guadalupe.
The organization also created a Neighborhood Youth Program
and a Head Start program, instituted a dental clinic, started an
adult education and rehabilitation program, established resident
ownership of land, and founded the Guadalupe Organization
Federal Credit Union." By 1971, the Guadalupe Organization
had 440 dues-paying members who represented many of Gua-
dalupe's households.22

In the late 1970s, one government source estimated Gua-
dalupe's population to be approximately 2,100-60 percent
Mexican American and 40 percent Yaqui.23 Unfortunately,
this statistic did not account for the many Guadalupanos who
were of both Mexican and Yaqui lineage. In general, Guadalu-
panos tended to obtain less education, earn a smaller income,
and work more frequently in menial jobs than the average
American citizen. In 1970, at least 53 percent of households

"Ella Varbel, "An Interview with Lauro Garcia," transcript, November 19,
1973, CRC, SCASU, 14; Meeks, Border Citizens, 182.

'9Meeks, "Cross-Ethnic Political Mobilization and Yaqui Identity Formation
in Guadalupe, Arizona," in Reflexiones: New Directions in Mexican American
Studies, ed. Neil Foley (Austin, TX, 1998), 87.

"Glaser, "The Story of Guadalupe, Arizona," 73.
2 1Meeks, "Cross-Ethnic Political Mobilization and Yaqui Identity Formation in
Guadalupe, Arizona," 87-88.
2 Richard R. Valencia, Chicano Students and the Courts: The Mexican Ameri-
can Legal Struggle for Educational Equality (New York, 2008), 143.

'"United States Commission on Civil Rights, School Desegregation in Tempe,
Arizona: A Staff Report of the United States Commission on Civil Rights,
September 1977, http://www.law.umaryland.edu/marshal1/usccr/documents/
crl2d4526.pdf.
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in Guadalupe were below the poverty level, and the major-
ity of the labor force worked in farming and industrial jobs.
In 1971, more than 80 percent of the population that was age
twenty-five and over had completed eight or fewer years of
school. Generally, Yaquis in Guadalupe had lower incomes
and had attended fewer years of school than their Mexican
American counterparts.2

1

The Guadalupe Organization was successful not only in im-
proving the community and increasing its political power, but
also in protecting Guadalupe from the growing post-war sprawl
of Tempe and Phoenix. Overcoming religious, ethnic, class,
and cultural tensions between Mexican Americans and Yaquis,
the Guadalupe Organization led Guadalupe to incorporate as a
town in 1975. Incorporation prevented Guadalupe from being
annexed by Tempe, thus maintaining community autonomy.
Ultimately, incorporation enabled Guadalupanos not only to
improve their health, safety, standard of living, and educational
opportunities further, but also to maintain and protect their
languages and cultural identities.6

Tempe, which is adjacent to Phoenix, to the southeast, sur-
rounds Guadalupe, and the juxtaposition of these two areas is
stark. Today the modern city of Tempe lies in direct contrast
to the neighboring buildings of Guadalupe, many of which are
dilapidated. Tempe is a university community, housing the
rapidly growing Arizona State University, which contributes to
the city's size and diversity. In 1970, racial and ethnic minori-
ties (mostly Mexican Americans) made up 14 percent of Tempe's
population of 62,907.7

Guadalupe is in the Tempe Elementary School District
No. 3.2 Tempe Elementary School District annexed Guada-
lupe in 1953. The district had twenty elementary schools,
three intermediate schools, and no junior or senior high

"4This does not include households consisting of unrelated individuals. Meeks,
"The Yaqui of Guadalupe: Strategies of Ethnicity in an Urbanizing Village,
1960-1980" (M.A. thesis, The University of Texas at Austin, 1996), 105-106.

"Ibid., 24.

"For more on Guadalupe and the Guadalupe Organization, see Meeks, "The
Yaqui of Guadalupe"; Meeks, Border Citizens, 144-54, 183-244; Meeks,
"Cross-Ethnic Political Mobilization and Yaqui Identity Formation in Guadal-
upe, Arizona"; Glaser, "The Story of Guadalupe, Arizona."

"This government source considered Yaquis as Native Americans although
they had yet to be officially designated as such at this point. United States
Commission on Civil Rights, School Desegregation in Ternpe, Arizona, I.

2Information & History-Tempe Elementary School District, n.d., http://
www.tempeschools.org/Distriet.cfm?subpage=165.
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schools." In the 1975-76 school year, Tempe Elementary
School District had 13,406 students enrolled, 20.2 percent of
whom were minority students. Of these minority students,
15.4 percent were Mexican American.3 o The faculty was not
representative of the student population: out of 671 faculty
in Tempe Elementary School District, less than 12 percent
were minority teachers.3 '

Veda B. Frank School was the only school located within
Guadalupe. In the 1972-73 school year, 92 percent of the
Frank School's student population were minority students,
and 90 percent of these were Mexican American. Frank
School is an example of how Tempe Elementary School
District concentrated minority students at only a few of its
schools. In December 1972, the Office of Civil Rights found
Tempe Elementary School District to be in noncompliance
with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act . 2 This began the pro-
cess of desegregation, which continues in Tempe Elementary
School District today.

This overconcentration seemed to be partly de facto segre-
gation, caused by the school district's attempts to maintain
neighborhood schools that kept students close to their homes
and community.33 Many Guadalupanos chose to remain in
Guadalupe for a variety of reasons, including kinship ties and
cultural and linguistic maintenance. At the same time, however,
Mexican Americans and African Americans were historically
prevented from moving into white neighborhoods due to dis-
criminatory housing clauses and availability, as well as factors
caused by discrimination, such as lack of education and job
availability. Federal, state, and municipal policies had long sup-
ported residential segregation.34

The Tempe Elementary School District administration took
an active role in segregating Guadalupanos by modifying atten-

9United States Commission on Civil Rights, School Desegregation in Ternpe,
Arizona, 4.

3"Although not specified, this presumably counted Yaquis as Native Ameri-
cans. Ibid., 1.
3 Ibid.

3
2Floyd L. Pierce, regional civil rights director, to O.S. Fees, 14 December 1972,
box 30, folder 4, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

'3De jure segregation is segregation that is sanctioned by law, whereas de facto
segregation is segregation that happens in practice, but is not necessarily based
on law.

a"Meeks, Border Citizens, 159-61; Matthew C. Whitaker, Race Work: The Rise
of Civil Rights in the Urban West (Lincoln, NE, 2005); Thomas J. Sugrue, The
Origins of the Urban Crisis: Race and Inequality in Postwar Detroit (Princeton,
NJ, 2005).
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With a population of 92 percent minority students, the Veda B. Frank
School is one example of how the Tempe Elementary School District
concentrated minority students in just a few of its schools. (Courtesy
of Tempe Elementary School District)

dance boundaries to isolate minority students further. Socorro
Bernasconi, a counselor at Frank School, charged that Tempe
Elementary School District bussed Anglo students out of the
Frank School area to schools with a greater Anglo population.35

Additionally, school board minutes provide evidence of parents
successfully petitioning the district to remove their children
from Frank School and send them to neighboring schools with
mostly Anglo students.3 6 Nor was the school itself an equitable
environment: its padlocked restrooms and cesspool proved
this.37 Lauro Garcia, a community activist leader, noted that
the school padlocked the restrooms because the water pres-
sure was low, and waste from the toilets settled in the cesspool
below the school, creating an unbearable odor. Presumably, no

3 Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organization Special Education
Lawsuit," 1.
36Tempe Elementary School District School Board Minutes, Tempe Elementary
School District, 1970-80, October 18, 1972 (p. 1) March 21, 1973 (p. 2), and
April 18, 1973 (p. 2).
37Cecelia de Esquer, rough draft of paper on Guadalupe [n.d.], box 31, folder 20,
CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.
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other schools in the district had such structural flaws. Adding
to the injustice, the teachers' restrooms remained open, while
the "children were there suffering irreparable . . . psychological
and physical damage.',a3

Starting in October 1964, Guadalupanos successfully fought
to remedy inequalities in Frank School, starting with the prob-
lems of the locked restrooms and the cesspool. These successes
encouraged Guadalupanos to continue fighting for their rights,
especially those related to the physical inequalities of the
school building and property. They beseeched the district to
add streetlights in front of the school, improve the playground,
and construct a new cafeteria.39 These efforts sought to pro-
tect Frank School as a physical space in which Guadalupanos
could safely learn, play, and socialize. Other practical changes
resulting from Guadalupe Organization's activism, including
improved health care, town infrastructure, incorporation, and
increased voter registration and accessibility, bolstered these
pragmatic educational reforms.

In the 1970s, the Guadalupe Organization's education ac-
tivism shifted from concern about the safety of the physical
spaces of Frank School to the quality of the school's educa-
tion and curriculum. The purposes of this activism were
twofold. The Guadalupe Organization not only strove to
end discrimination based on students' home languages, but
it also increasingly sought to create a culture of respect for
diverse cultures and languages. In the early 1970s, it began
to seek reforms that advocated students' rights to receive
an equal education and to maintain their culture and their
native language. The community increasingly fought for
language- and rights-based reforms through the mutually de-
pendent processes of grassroots activism and litigation. This
activism and the reforms that Guadalupanos encouraged,
particularly through Guadalupe Organization v. Tempe
Elementary School District (1972), were a manifestation of
cultural citizenship, because the Guadalupanos demanded
the inclusion of their culture and language in schools as
a guaranteed right of citizenship, based on the Fourteenth
Amendment to the Constitution.

asThe sense of outrage expressed by Garcia in this interview suggests that this
problem was unique or at least uncommon in the district. Varbel, "An Inter-
view with Lauro Garcia," transcript, November 19, 1973, CRC, SCASU, 23-24.

"'The construction of a new cafeteria, however, dragged on for years. Tempe
Elementary School District School Board Minutes, Tempe Elementary School
District, April 7, 1969 (p. 2), November 3, 1969 (p. 2), February 2, 1972 (p. 3).
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THE PLIGHT OF FRANK SCHOOL AND ITS STUDENTS

Socorro Hernandez Bernasconi led the quest for educational
reforms in Guadalupe. She was born in 1941 on the outskirts
of Guadalupe, and her family moved into Guadalupe after a fire
destroyed their house.40 Although her mother, a Mexican im-
migrant, allowed her and her siblings to speak English at school
and at work, they could speak only Spanish at home. This, along
with a devout Catholic faith, promoted and strengthened cul-
tural and linguistic pride in the HernAndez family. Bernasconi
earned a degree in education from the University of Dayton in
1967, which made her the first Guadalupano to receive a bach-
elor's degree in elementary education.4 '

After receiving her degree, Bernasconi led summer and
after-school educational programs and church and commu-
nity groups in Guadalupe. Soon thereafter, Tempe Elementary
School District sponsored Bernasconi for a M.Ed. program in
Texas that trained Hispanics with teaching experience to be
counselors for Hispanic youth. After completing this program,
she returned to work as a counselor at Frank School in 1970,
where she quickly noticed that many things were amiss. For
example, the district often rerouted Anglo students who were
supposed to attend Frank School to different schools.42 But she
saw the school's special education placement practices as the
most urgent problem.

Special education provides self-contained classrooms and/or
extra support for students with physical or mental handicaps
whose needs cannot be fully met in ordinary classrooms. As of
the 1970-71 school year, the Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS)
already included mandates regarding the placement and evalu-
ation of children in special education. The statutes required
a school administrator or special education coordinator to
contact a child's parents before referring the child to special
education and ordered biannual reviews of students' placement
in special education.43 Bernasconi found that Tempe Elemen-
tary School District and Frank School had ignored and violated
these statutes. She found no records of the district's ever con-

"Jean Reynolds, "Bernasconi, Socorro Hernndez," in Latinas in the United
States: A Historical Encyclopedia, ed. Vicki Ruiz and Virginia Sanchez Korrol
(Bloomington, IN, 2006), 86.

"Leticia Hernandez, "Hernandez Family," 1987, CRC, SCASU, 6-7.

Ilbid., 13-15.

"Note that these ARS standards no longer exist. Arizona Revised Statutes 15-
1013 and 15-1014, cited in Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organiza-
tion Special Education Lawsuit," 6-7.
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tacting parents about a child's placement in special education.
In fact, it appeared that the school psychologist alone made de-
cisions about referrals and placements. Finally, Bernasconi dis-
covered that the psychologist sometimes did not retest students
until several years after their placement into special education.4
Each of these findings violated the mandates of the ARS.

The district not only ignored state mandates, but it also
placed an abnormally large proportion of Mexican American
and Yaqui students in special education. In 1971, Spanish-
surnamed students comprised only 18 percent of the total
enrollment of Tempe Elementary School District, but they
made up 68 percent of enrollment in classes for the educable
mentally handicapped (those with mild impairments) and 46
percent in classes for the trainable mentally handicapped (those
with moderate to severe impairments).45 One school that did
not have a significant minority population had only one special
education student out of 800 enrolled students. In contrast, of
740 students registered at Frank School in 1970, there were 45
students enrolled in the special education program, 75 percent
of whom were Yaquis. Frank School also had numerous stu-
dents on a waiting list for special education.4 ' Often, if there
was not space in Frank School's special education program,
students would be placed temporarily in regular classrooms,
and they would be transferred to special education one to two
years later without being retested.47 Additionally, Bernasconi
noted that teachers and the psychologist voiced expectations
that mental retardation was higher among Mexican American
students, so the psychologist tested for mental retardation pri-
marily at schools with large minority populations.

Although these practices were discriminatory, they were
merely sub-points in the case later filed by the Guadalupe Or-
ganization against Tempe Elementary School District. Guada-
lupanos argued fervently against the school district's improper
methods of testing students. Tempe Elementary School Dis-
trict used the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (WISC)
test to determine which students the psychologist would refer
to special education, and the Guadalupe Organization claimed
that this was an unfair means of determining placement.49

"Ibid., 9-10.
"Guadalupe Organization, CIV 71-435.

"HernAndez, "Hernandez Family," 16; Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadal-
upe Organization," 10- 11.
4"Ibid., 9.

"Ibid., 8.
"Guadalupe Organization, CIV 71-435 at par. 23-26.
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Nationally, the emergence of intelligence tests coincided
with World-War-I nativism, and schools used these tests
throughout much of the twentieth century. This 1949 excerpt
from New York Times Magazine demonstrates how strongly
intelligence tests influenced a child's future:

Between [fall 1949] and June [1950], 20,000,000 children
will be subjected to tests to measure their intelligence.
This figure indicates the position of influence to which IQ
tests have risen in little more than a generation. . . . They
are used in greater or lesser degree to determine when a
child should begin to read, whether another should go to
college, and if a third is likely to grow up to be a dolt or an
Einstein-that is, whether he is "worth worrying about"
or "simply beyond help."s0

Educators utilized these tests to direct students into different
tracks of education, and they often used the tests to rationalize
and support minority stereotypes. For example, educators drew
on intelligence tests to prove that Mexican Americans had an
inferior genetic makeup, which made them less academically
capable than Anglos. Educators exploited these tests to "track"
Mexican Americans and other minorities disproportionately
into vocational classes, instead of into a traditional academic
track. They often used this vocational track to "Americanize"
non-Anglo students by teaching them English and other life
skills.-" The American school system superimposed this Amer-
icanization process on its students, because the nation valued
the homogeneity of American identity. In Guadalupe, educa-
tors used these tests to track students into special education.2

The WISC test used by Tempe Elementary School District
was inherently unfair to Guadalupano students for two reasons.
First, most students entered Frank School speaking Spanish or
Yaqui, or both, but few of these students had even a limited

"'Benjamin Fine, "More and More, the IQ Idea Is Questioned," in New York
Times Magazine (September 18, 1949), 7, quoted in Valencia, Chicano Students
and the Courts, 120-21.

"For a more detailed exploration of intelligence testing and tracking, see
Gilbert G. Gonzalez, Chicano Education in the Era of Segregation (Philadelphia,
1990). For IQ testing, tracking, and Americanization of Mexican Americans in
Arizona, see Laura K. Muioz, "Desert Dreams: Mexican American Education
in Arizona, 1870-1930" (Ph.D. dissertation, Arizona State University, 2006).
For the connection between vocational education, testing, and tracking, see
Valencia, Chicano Students and the Courts, 117-52.

"Guadalupe Organization, CIV 71-435.
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grasp of English.i The school district psychologist, who knew
neither Spanish nor Yaqui, administered the WISC test entirely
in English .54 Most minority students at Frank School were ex-
posed to English only at school, but Tempe Elementary School
District most frequently tested students in kindergarten and
first grade before they gained even this limited exposure.55 The
WISC test was problematic for non-English speakers because it
required understanding of English directions and verbalization
in English.6

Additionally, Mexican American and Yaqui students were at
a profound disadvantage because the subject matter of the IQ
tests coincided with the dominant Anglo middle-class culture.
The Guadalupe Organization claimed,

The most important source of knowledge for the child,
particularly the pre-schooler, is his parents. Parents
obviously cannot teach more than they know.... The
middle class parent spends more time with his children
teaching what psychologists have termed the "hidden
curriculum." Thus the middle class Anglo-American
child is intensively tutored by his parents including
correction of speech, grammar, syntax, and style while his
Mexican American counterpart has not yet been exposed
to the English language. Thus any test relating to verbal
skills is totally invalid as any indication of the learning
ability of such Mexican American children.,'

Not only were Mexican American and Yaqui children inher-
ently underprepared to take these tests, but Tempe Elementary
School District punished them for their scores on these unfair
tests by placing them in special education classes. The Guada-
lupe Organization argued that, if tested in their primary lan-
guage, most of these children would not have been determined
to be mentally handicapped.'"

5 Bernasconi to regional director of the Office of Civil Rights, 14 May 1971,
box 30, folder 4, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.
5'Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organization," 9; Guadalupe Orga-
nization, CIV 71-435; and Bernasconi to regional director of the Office of Civil
Rights, 14 May 1971, box 30, folder 4, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

"Albert Sitter, "Guadalupe Teacher Charges Retaliation," The Arizona Republic,
August 18, 1971, 17-18, box 30, folder 9, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

"Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organization," 5.

"Guadalupe Organization, CIV 71-435 at par. 24.

"Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organization," 15,
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Through their activism, Guadalupanos came to recognize
that a homogenous American culture and language was in fact
nonexistent and that Tempe Elementary School District needed
to acknowledge and accommodate these differences. They
understood that American citizens were diverse peoples with di-
verse cultures and languages, and they wanted the public school
system to recognize this diversity as valid and important. This
comprehension led Guadalupanos to develop an understanding
of cultural citizenship, through which they advocated a new
definition of citizenship that included language and cultural
rights in their challenge to the education system,.

As Bernasconi became increasingly aware of these discrimi-
natory acts, she notified school and district administrators of
the problems, but she did not receive satisfactory responses.
The district informed her that the placement and removal of
students from special education was not her responsibility.59 Si-
multaneously, she alerted parents to these practices. Bernasconi
and the Guadalupe Organization mobilized to increase par-
ents' awareness of the school's mistreatment of their children.
The Guadalupe Organization's bilingual newsletter instructed
parents not to feel afraid or ashamed: "Parents should not sign
papers unless they are positive they understand everything. It
is not shameful to say-leave me the paper, I'd like to show
it to someone else before I sign." Additionally, the newslet-
ter encouraged parents to go to the school to determine if the
school had placed their child in special education classes; if
their child was so placed, then parents should demand that the
child be retested bilingually once each year.60 Some parents
then requested that their children be withdrawn from special
education. Despite the Guadalupe Organization's attempts to
increase parental awareness, Tempe Elementary School Dis-
trict dismissed these parental demands.'"

Tempe Elementary School District and many of its teach-
ers believed that a student's poor performance on the WISC
test (and thus their supposed mental retardation) was the
child's problem and not the education system's or their own.
They did not see their own failure to speak Spanish or Yaqui
as problematic.62 These assumptions by the school district and
the teachers reflected the nation's dominant notion of citizen-

'"Bernasconi to regional director of the Office of Civil Rights, 14 May 1971,
box 30, folder 4, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

"'Guadalupe Organization newsletter, in the possession of Eric V. Meeks.

"'Bernasconi to regional director of the Office of Civil Rights, 14 May 1971,
box 30, folder 4, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

*2Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organization," 4.
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ship; the educators saw the nation and thus the schools as a
monolingual environment in which all students were expected
to know and use English. An expression of blame is clear in
a 1971 meeting attended by Bernasconi; Robert Curry, as-
sistant superintendent of Tempe Elementary School District;
and Kay Murphy, director of special services, including special
education in Tempe Elementary School District. During this
meeting, Murphy suggested that Guadalupano children scored
low on the WISC intelligence test because they were born to
women over the age of forty who did not seek adequate prena-
tal care, were fieldworkers, and ate mainly beans and tortillas.
Bernasconi informed Murphy and Curry that this image was
a portrait of her own mother, and that, despite her mother's ful-
fillment of this stereotype, Bernasconi herself had turned out
fine, even earning bachelor's and master's degrees.63

In addition to intelligence testing, a related trend was that of
deficit thinking, the idea that students, particularly non-Anglos
from low-income backgrounds, tend to fail in school because of
the internal deficits or failures of these students and their fami-
lies.6 4 Deficit thinking blames the victim instead of exploring
the effects of institutional structures and inequities in educa-
tion.6 ' Extending the idea of deficit thinking-an idea based on
a monolingual and monocultural definition of citizenship-to
language and culture, educators assumed minority students
were both linguistically and culturally deficient.66 Furthermore,
deficit thinking served as a rationale for the Americanizing,
homogenous curriculum of public schools.6 1 Justifications for
the overrepresentation of minority students in special educa-
tion classrooms and related assessment procedures were often
rooted in deficit thinking.68

'Hernandez, "Hernandez Family," 16; and Christine Marin, "From the Cess-
pool to Equality: The Tempe Elementary School District No. 3 and Guadal-
upe," CRC, SCASU, 11.

,"Guadalupe San Miguel, Jr., and Richard R. Valencia, "From the Treaty of Gua-
dalupe Hidalgo to Hopwood: The Educational Plight and Struggle of Mexican
Americans in the Southwest," Harvard Educational Review 68:3 (Fall 19981:
368; Richard R. Valencia, The Evolution of Deficit Thinking: Educational
Thought and Practice (New York, 1997), xi.

"San Miguel, Jr., and Valencia, "From the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo to
Hopwood," 368.

660ctaviana V. Trujillo, "The Yaqui of Guadalupe, Arizona: A Century of
Cultural Survival Through Trilingualism.," American Indian Culture and
Research Journal 22:4 (December 1998): 55.

,'Valencia, The Evolution of Deficit Thinking, 80.
6'Valencia, Chicano Students and the Courts, 149-50.
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Typical of institutions that rationalized their actions with
notions of deficit thinking, Tempe Elementary School District
discriminated against minority students, refused to acknowledge
the district's responsibility for fair assessment and equitable
education, and ignored parental, faculty, and staff concerns.
This left Guadalupanos at a crossroads, needing to decide how
to proceed.69 Guadalupanos chose to litigate, which enabled
them to create a binding legal document with Tempe Elemen-
tary School District and the state of Arizona. The Guadalupa-
nos' litigation was firmly rooted in their grassroots activism
and the conception of cultural citizenship that this activism
helped them to develop. Through their lawsuit, Guadalupa-
nos asserted the idea that American citizenship should not
require a person to be monocultural or monolingual. They
contended that full membership and belonging in the United
States nation-state should be available to all citizens, regard-
less of one's identity. Although Guadalupanos were challenging
the traditional conception of American rights, their activism
was still an act of citizenship, because they were demanding
acceptance as citizens with a different, but legitimate, culture
and language.

THE LAWSUIT

On August 10, 1971, Jerry Levine of the Maricopa Legal Aid
Society filed a class action lawsuit in the United States District
Court for the District of Arizona on behalf of the Guadalupe
Organization, nine parents, and twenty-seven children against
Tempe Elementary School District, the Arizona superintendent,
the Arizona State Board of Education, the Tempe Elementary
School District superintendent, the Tempe Elementary School
District Board of Education, Kay Murphy (director for special
services at Tempe Elementary School District), Margaret Fauci
(the district psychologist), Andres Avila (the Frank School prin-
cipal), and three other district figures10 The plaintiffs included
two groups of students. The first group consisted of twelve
Mexican American and Yaqui students who were from homes
that mainly (or entirely) spoke Spanish and/or Yaqui and who

"Cecilia Teyechea Denogean de Esquer, rough draft of paper on Guadalupe,
CTDEP, CRC, SCASU, 38.

"The lawyers did not specify statistics of plaintiffs, including ethnicity (Yaqui v.
Mexican American), socioeconomic status, ages, grades, or IQs. Valencia, Chi-
cano Students and the Courts, 358.
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were currently in special education classes." The second group
included seventeen preschool-age students who were of similar
racial, ethnic, and linguistic backgrounds to the first group and
who would be taking IQ tests in the near future. Additionally,
the plaintiff class consisted of all similarly situated children in
Arizona, including Mexican American and Yaqui children who
were currently in special education classes, and preschool-age
and other young Mexican Americans and Yaquis who would
soon be given IQ tests and would "thus be in substantial dan-
ger of placement in a class for the mentally retarded, regardless
of their ability to learn."7 2 Therefore, this case was poised to
affect the educational experience of all Mexican American and
Yaqui students in Arizona.

Guadalupe Organization v. Tempe Elementary School Dis-
trict charged Tempe Elementary School District et al. with ra-
cial and ethnic discrimination and denial of the Guadalupanos'
right to receive an education, as dictated by the due process
and equal protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment.3

It also claimed that the children suffered from "the immedi-
ate and irreparable injury of a grossly inadequate education
and the stigma attached to the label of mental retardation."4

The Guadalupe Organization argued, "Placement in a class for
the mentally handicapped is tantamount to a life sentence of
illiteracy and public dependence. . . . Placement in classes for
the mentally handicapped sharply limits plaintiffs' opportuni-
ties for future education and employment."' The organization
asserted, "It is therefore of paramount importance that no child
be placed in such a class unless it is clear beyond reasonable
doubt that he cannot be educated effectively through regular
classroom instruction."76 The organization proceeded with
nine demands, including that Tempe Elementary School Dis-
trict halt placement of Spanish-speaking or bilingual children
in special education, test plaintiffs bilingually, and provide

"Valencia notes that the complaint was later amended to add two more students
to this group. Many of the children listed as plaintiffs were siblings. Ibid., 143.

'Ibid., 143-44.

` 3Brown v Board of Education asserted that the equal protection and due process
clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment guaranteed all students the right to re-
ceive an education. Because Brown endowed the Fourteenth Amendment with
this connection to educational rights, it commonly has been used in education-
al litigation. Guadalupe Organization, CIV 71-435; Brown v. Board of Educa-
tion, 347 U.S. 483 (1954); Valencia, Chicano Students and the Courts, 167.

Guadalupe Organization, CIV 71-435 at par. 31.

71Ibid., par. 21.

'61bid., par. 21.
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these students with "intensive supplemental bilingual and
bicultural training in language and math" to help them achieve
parity with their peers.7

Filing this case was an act of cultural citizenship, because
the Guadalupanos were fighting for official recognition of Mex-
ican American and Yaqui cultures and languages by the school
district and the state. The Guadalupe Organization contended
that not all American citizens shared the same language and
culture, and that an essential part of citizenship was the right to
linguistic and cultural difference. This position was in direct op-
position to the majority Anglo concept of a monolithic nation of
people sharing the same American language and culture.

Public opinion of this case, which mirrored national opin-
ions of bilingual education, assimilation, and desegregation,
was largely divided. Some articles expressed a combative-
sometimes even nativist-opinion. One article in the Tempe
Daily News criticized Guadalupano activism using harsh lan-
guage that clearly expressed an "us versus them" mentality:

The attorney who handles [the Guadalupe Organization]
case works with Legal Aid, an organization supported by
public funds-yours and ours. Guadalupe Organization is
funded by federal funds-yours and ours. The defendant
School District and officials (except board members) are
on the public payroll-supplied by local folks. And all
court costs . .. likely will come from public coffers. If
you'll note further, apparently Guadalupe Organization
doesn't have to pony-up a penny in all this fuss (See why
we're so sick and tired of this activity?)."

This discourse denied the Guadalupanos' legitimate claim to
this money and also took a deficit thinking approach by patron-
izing and blaming Guadalupanos:

In the past, Guadalupe has complained about kids going
to Tempe High School; about bringing Junior HS kids
into town. They've yakked about facilities, and they
have a nearly new plant that they've already set afire and
continually vandalize. Sheriff's deputies are often unsafe

'Ibid., par. 33.

""Fount for Ulcers," Tempe Daily News, September 9, 1971, box 30, folder 4,
CTDEP, CRC, SCASU. Emphasis in original.
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patrolling the area. . . . Isn't it about time to call a halt-
to stop the foolishness and public expense?9

This strong language leaves little doubt as to how some citi-
zens felt and demonstrates that many citizens saw Guadalupe
as a serious threat to the status quo of assimilating, monolin-
gual education.

However, other Phoenix- and Tempe-area citizens advocated
for the Guadalupanos. In The Arizona Republic, Leo Mufioz,
the director for special services for minority groups at Mesa
Community College, claimed that schools had misplaced at
least one-third of non-English-speaking students in special edu-
cation programs in Arizona. He explained, "The tests do not
really tap the intellectual potential of an individual who comes
from an ethnically different background."80 Also supporting the
Guadalupe Organization, Dr. Wayne Maes, a bilingual psychol-
ogist and professor of counseling and educational psychology
at Arizona State University, retested thirteen Spanish-speaking
children in Guadalupe and found five of them unjustly assigned
to special education classes. Additionally, he discovered three
of them to be borderline students (they may have been placed
incorrectly) and five to have been psychologically damaged by
their wrongful placement in special education."' These exam-
ples suggest that there were at least pockets of outside support
for the Guadalupano cause and educational issues.

Although some Arizonans supported bilingual education,
many occupied a reluctant middle ground.12 In a 1974 interview,
W.P. Shofstall, the Arizona state superintendent of education
(1969-75), claimed that he was "much more interested in
bicultural education than [in] bilingual education," offering
examples of why bilingual education was unnecessary.3 How-
ever, he seemed to approve of assimilative bilingual education:
"I think that if to the extent that bilingualism means respect-
ing the culture of a child and respecting the fact that the child

9Note that the Tempe High School was not part of Tempe Elementary School
District. Ibid. Emphasis in original.

""Retarded Tag Is Unjustified," The Arizona Republic, September 10, 1971,
box 30, folder 4, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

"Ibid; and Marn, "From the Cesspool to Equality," CRC, SCASU, 14-15.

82For examples of neutral articles, see "The Guadalupe Suit," The Phoenix Ga-
zette, April 13, 1971, box 30, folder 4, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU; and Albert J. Sitter,
"Guadalupe Teacher Charges Retaliation," The Arizona Republic, August 18,
1971, 17-18, box 31, folder 9, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

'-W.P. Shofstall, interview by John Bury, October 1974, John Bury Collection,
Cline Library Digital Archives, Northern Arizona University, Flagstaff, Arizona.
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doesn't understand and treating them as an individual, then
we've got to have more of it." 4 Despite his limited support
for assimilative bilingual education, there is no evidence of
Shofstall advocating for Guadalupanos.

This reluctance to support and adopt programs of bilingual
education was a national trend in the 1970s. Educators and pol-
icymakers continually debated whether the appropriate role of
bilingual education was one of preparing students for academic
achievement in a mainstream English-speaking classroom or
one of language learning, cultural development, and pluralism.
Because of the controversy, many schools throughout the 1970s
were unsure of the appropriate stance to take on the issue.15

Surely, there must have been dissent within Guadalupe
regarding these reforms. Bernasconi was a Mexican American,
and other historical works reference tensions between Mexican
Americans and Yaquis in Guadalupe.16 However, I have found
no differences of opinion recorded in the Guadalupe community.
This lack of recorded dissent may be because outside newspa-
pers (for example, The Tempe Daily News, The Phoenix Gazette,
The Arizona Republic) quoted only Socorro Bernasconi, her
husband Santino, and the legal staff. Unfortunately, no reporter
surveyed public opinion in Guadalupe. In addition, the archived
correspondence regarding this case is between the Bernasconis,
the legal staff, and Tempe Elementary School District.

Dissent can be inferred from the number of students listed
as plaintiffs in the case. Of the twenty-seven students repre-
sented, seventeen were of preschool age or had not yet been
tested by Tempe Elementary School District, and were plain-
tiffs in a preventive sense-their families wanted to avoid their
misplacement into special education classes.17 Therefore, more
than thirty special education students at Frank School and
their families did not participate in this class action lawsuit.
Their non-involvement could be for several reasons: perhaps
the parents felt that the students were fairly placed, did not
clearly understand the issues, feared retaliation from Frank
School and Tempe Elementary School District, or were too
busy or preoccupied to care or get involved, among other poten-

'"Ibid.

"San Miguel, Jr., Contested Policy, 30-46.

"See, for example, Meeks, "The Yaqui of Guadalupe" and Meeks, "Cross-
Ethnic Political Mobilization and Yaqui Identity Formation in Guadalupe,
Arizona."

"Although the case has only twenty-seven plaintiffs, two more students were
later added with an amendment to the case. Valencia, Chicano Students and
the Courts, 143.
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tial issues. The low educational attainment of parents, family,
and community members in Guadalupe may also have contrib-
uted to the decision of some families not to participate in this
case. However, regardless of their motivations, their lack of
involvement suggests that education equality issues were not
a priority for all Guadalupanos. It is also clear that because the
suit represented both Mexican American and Yaqui students,
the case's supporters were not split by a simple ethnic/racial
divide. This suggests that, on this issue at least, Guadalupano
parents had a shared interest and anticipated the Guadalupe
Organization's success in this case.

On January 24, 1972, lawyers for both parties filed stipu-
lations for settlement. The settlement commanded Tempe
Elementary School District to reevaluate students with non-
English native languages who were in special education programs
and to restore students to regular classes on or before October
1, 1973." It also changed the placement process, requiring the
district to ascertain if a student's primary language was not
English. If so, it obliged them to follow at least one of the follow-
ing procedures when evaluating students: (1) use a psychologist
who is fluent in English and the child's dominant language; (2) use
an interpreter to assist the psychologist in testing students; or
(3) "use test instruments which do not stress spoken language
and which are considered valid and reliable measures of intel-
ligence functioning."9

Additionally, the settlement mandated a variety of criteria
for the assessment and placement of special education students.
First, it established requirements for placement in special
education programs, including that intelligence tests could not
be the exclusive or primary screening device for special educa-
tion. It also required an examination of adaptive behavior in a
student's development history, cultural background, and school
achievement, all of which must substantiate other findings
of educational handicaps. In addition, it stipulated that to the
degree possible, the school should include the child within the
regular classroom. The settlement required the involvement of
parents in the evaluation process, and it necessitated written
parental consent before placing children in special education
classrooms. It stipulated that all communication with parents
must occur in their primary language.90 Finally, it mandated
that when school districts or individual schools had drastically

"Jerry Levine, Arizona Settlement of Special Education Lawsuit, January 24,
1972, par. 4, 5i, box 30, folder 10, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.
"Ibid., par. 4.

"Ibid., par. 5abdefg.
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disproportionate racial, linguistic, or ethnic groups represented
in their special education classes, they "should be prepared to
offer a compelling educational justification for such dispropor-
tionate enrollment."9'

Although the plaintiffs largely achieved their goals, they
failed to make sure the settlement included damages and at-
torney's fees, intensive supplementary bilingual and bicultural
education, and a new IQ test standardized to non-Anglo cul-
tures. Despite these failures, the case was mostly a success. It
provided Guadalupanos with an opportunity to exercise their
rights of citizenship by advocating for equality and their edu-
cational rights. Most importantly, it improved the educational
experiences of Guadalupano children and children throughout
Arizona and even the nation.

Guadalupe Organization v. Tempe Elementary School
District built on Diana v. State Board of Education (1970)
and Covarru bias v. San Diego Unified (1971). Both Diana and
Covarrubias had also been filed in federal district courts and
resulted in settlements. These cases first established students'
rights to be tested in their own language or nonverbally, and
created a requirement for parental consent before students are
placed in special education classes.92 Richard Valencia, an edu-
cational psychologist, suggests a link between a 1970 memo
from the Office of Civil Rights and the Diana settlement. This
mandate stipulated, "School districts must not assign national
origin minority-group students to classes for the mentally
retarded on the basis of criteria which essentially measure or
evaluate English language skills."9- This unprecedented man-
date was the first national document that specified that this type
of placement denied students an equal education opportunity.

Because Guadalupe was settled instead of litigated, it is
impossible to know if or how the Diana or Covarrubias settle-
ments or the Office of Civil Rights memo contributed to the
Guadalupe settlement. However, it is likely that the lawyers of
Guadalupe were aware of the Diana and Covarrubias settle-
ments, because continuity exists between these cases. All three
cases were filed as class action lawsuits representing not only
a concrete group of students but also all bilingual children who
were currently placed in special education classrooms and all
bilingual preschool students who were in danger of misplace-
ment into special education classrooms. Additionally, the Four-
teenth Amendment, the Elementary and Secondary Education

%fbid., par. 5c.

'Valencia, Chicano Students and the Courts, 79-116 passim.

""Memo from Office of Civil Rights, May 25, 1970. Quoted in ibid., 138.
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Act, and state laws were the fundamental justifications for
both Diana and Guadalupe.9 4 While all three cases represented
Mexican Americans, Covarrubias and Guadalupe also included
African Americans and Yaquis, respectively.9

Covarrubias and Guadalupe furthered Diana's legal strate-
gies and claims for injunctive and declaratory relief. Valencia
notes three ways in which Covarrubias advanced beyond the
Diana case and settlement. First, Covarrubias claimed that the
misplacement of students led to their stigmatization as slow
learners and lesser individuals. Covarrubias noted,

The stigma attached to the EMR [Educable Mentally
Retarded] notations on plaintiffs' records and the
widening gap in actual learning combine to effectively
deny plaintiffs any practical chance to realize their
potential in college, in armed forces' officer programs, in
executive or management programs, or in various other
areas of society through which members of minority
racial groups have sought and been able to lift their
standards socially and economically and to share part of
the American dream of self realization and self help for a
better life. .6

The lawyers explained that other children in and out of school
had taunted the plaintiffs because the plaintiffs were in special
education classes. Thus the plaintiffs' wrongful placement in
special education led to their feeling "a profound sense of guilt
and shame over being considered second rate and inferior in
their achievements and learning."9 ' The lawyers concluded by
arguing that this taunting "makes their adjustment to life and
to school and to their role as so-called slow learners more dif-
ficult and introduces psychological problems into their already
problem laden experience."9

94
1n contrast, Covarrubias cited the Civil Rights Acts of 1870, 1871, and 1964, bas-

ing their argument more on equal opportunity and racial discrimination. Perhaps
these avenues of argument were more open to the lawyers in Covarrubias because
of the clear racial difference acknowledged with African American students.

"African Americans were similarly seen as discriminated against because of
their low socioeconomic status and their "Black-English" dialect.

"^Complaint for Damages, for Injunction and for Declaratory Relief (Civil
Rights), Covarrubias, Civil Action No. 70-394-T, 13-14, quoted in Valencia,
Chicano Students and the Courts, 140-41.

9Ibid.

"ILbid.
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Guadalupe advanced this claim of stigmatization, which
was reinforced outside of the schools by the ethnic, economic,
linguistic, and racial bias already faced by most Guadalupanos.
Even within Frank School, some Guadalupano children stig-
matized others, as is evident in oral histories of Guadalupanos.
For example, Alberto Tavena remembers being called a "dirty
Yaqui" by other Guadalupano children when he started school.
Juan Tavena connects his lack of education to his continued
impoverishment throughout his life.9" The stigmatization
caused by misplacing students in special education likely com-
pounded the negative effects of racial, ethnic, linguistic, and
economic stereotypes.

These claims of stigmatization directly related to the second
significant advance in the Covarrubias settlement, in which
lawyers argued for the payment of monetary damages to
plaintiffs: "The wrongful placement and retention of plaintiffs
in EMR classes will inevitably result in their being cut off
from economic gains available to children in regular school
classes and will cut them off from any chance to be gainfully
employed. . . . [Ejach plaintiff has been damaged far in excess
of $10,000." oo Guadalupe, which later adopted this argument,
and Covarrubias both resulted in awards of one dollar in mon-
etary damages, symbolically marking their victories but not
compensating students for the real damage caused by their mis-
placement. As the third significant advance, Covarrubias-and
later Guadalupe-furthered Diana's legal strategy by arguing
that when the school districts did not inform parents of their
children's special education placement, the district impeded
both child and parental due process.'0'

Guadalupe built on Diana and Covarrubias in several ways.
First, Guadalupe listed Margaret Fauci, the district psycholo-
gist who tested and placed these students in special education
classrooms, as a defendant in the case. Educational psycholo-
gist Richard Valencia notes that this was a "potent tactic."
He explained, "[G]iven that the school psychologist does the
clinical assessment and recommends placement in a class for
the mentally retarded, it appears that plaintiffs strengthened
their case by placing some of the culpability for inappropriate
diagnosis at the level of the individual school psychologist."0 2

"9Catheryn Retzclaff Shaffer, "Preservation of Yaqui Language and Culture in
Guadalupe, AZ" (M.A. thesis substitute, Arizona State University, 1986), 30-31.

"ooCovarrubias, Civil Action No. 70-394-T, quoted in Valencia, Chicano Stu-
dents and the Courts, 141.

"Ibid., 140-43.

"Itbid., 358.
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It seems fair that Fauci received blame, since she was largely
in control of the discriminatory assessment and placement
practices. In addition, Guadalupe went beyond Diana and
Covarrubias by demanding "intensive supplemental bilingual
and bicultural training in language and mathematics to allow
[plaintiffs] to achieve parity with their peers as soon as pos-
sible," a demand that the settlement did not account for.0'

The Guadalupe settlement also established a cut score for
intelligence tests, which defined which test scores merited
placement in special education. In addition, the settlement
stated, "[I]ntelligence tests shall not be either the exclusive or
the primary screening device in considering a child for place-
ment in classes for the handicapped."'"" Finally, the Guadalupe
settlement required the assessment of adaptive behavior prior
to special education placement, which necessitated the evalu-
ation of a child in outside environments such as the home. "
All of these changes made it considerably less likely for non-
native-English speakers to be misplaced into special education.
Despite these advances in the Guadalupe argument, the case
clearly built on both Diana and Covarrubias.

THE LONG-TERM RESULTS
AND IMPLICATIONS OF GUADALUPE

Because none of these cases was litigated, they could not
be used as legal precedent, but all three influenced state and
federal regulations governing the assessment and placement
of special education students. In particular, these cases led to
the 1975 creation of Public Law 94-142, the "Education for All
Handicapped Children Act" (EHA), which functioned as the
equivalent of civil rights legislation for handicapped children.
This legislation required non-biased assessment practices, stat-
ing that "testing and evaluation materials and procedures used
for the purposes of evaluation and placement of handicapped
children must be selected and administered so as not to be
racially or culturally discriminatory."'6 The EHA contained

"Guadalupe Organization, CIV 71-435 at par. 33; Valencia, Chicano Students
and the Courts, 143-45.

"'Stipulation and Order, Guadalupe Organization, CIV 71-435 at 3-4, cited in
Valencia, Chicano Students and the Courts, 145.
"Valencia, Chicano Students and the Courts. 146,

6P.L. 94-142 (19751, (42 FR. 42496, §121a.530,b), cited in ibid., 148. Empha-
sis added.
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many of the concessions won in these three cases, including
informed consent and due process, testing in a student's native
language, annual review of students, and placement decisions
based on multiple sources of information, including adaptive
behavior, by a multidisciplinary team and the student's par-
ents.00 In 1990 the EHA was revised and renamed the Individu-
als with Disabilities Act (IDEA). Since then, IDEA has been
revised and amended several times, and remains the primary
federal legislation granting rights to special education students
and to those who might be misplaced in special education be-
cause of language and cultural differences.

Guadalupe also instigated similar changes in Arizona's state
legislation, guaranteeing the rights of minority-language stu-
dents and fair placement into special education classrooms.108

Albeit somewhat indirectly, the Guadalupanos changed how
the state defined education rights and, through this, redefined
citizenship rights. By expanding the rights of non-English
speakers, the government was, in a sense, respecting diversity
in a way that it had not previously.

Additionally, the Diana, Covarrubias, and Guadalupe cases
and settlements led to a revision of special education standards,
definitions, and assessment practices. The Guadalupe settle-
ment also may have influenced the American Association of
Mental Deficiency's 1973 revision of its Manual on Terminolo-
gy and Classification in Mental Retardation. Richard Valencia,
an educational psychologist, remarks that the manual adopts
the same cut score standard as is found in the Guadalupe
settlement. In addition, the 1973 edition of the manual placed
greater emphasis on measuring adaptive behavior in addition
to measuring intelligence, which was a new development in
Guadalupe. Although Valencia notes that there is no direct
evidence to suggest that the manual was influenced by the
Guadalupe decision, he suggests that the similarities were too
great to be a coincidence." Finally, he proposes the following
quote from the manual to evidence the possible influence of
Guadalupe and other right-to-education litigation of the 1960s
and 1970s:

All psychological tests measure samples of behavior,
and behavior is influenced by the culture in which
an individual resides. Deficits that emerge in test
performance are often reflected in school work, job

"aibid., 148-49.

to*Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organization," 16.

"'Valencia, Chicano Students and the Courts, 146-47.
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performance and other major life functions. To impugn
tests because of their presumed cultural bias is to
conceal the effects of cultural disadvantage, impede
remedial action and solution of social problems. This
alleged limitation of intelligence tests could in fact be
its major value in assessing a child's performance in his
own culture. This application of tests across cultures,
however, unless properly standardized, is likely to lead
to serious errors in individual diagnosis and the rates of
mental retardation.1 o

These references to the consideration of a student's culture
during creation and administration of assessments once again
serves as a reminder of the cultural and linguistic discrimina-
tion challenged by these cases.

Today, special education textbooks and school psychologist
guidebooks still cite the Diana and Guadalupe settlements as
important cases related to the misclassification of ethnic mi-
nority students."' These texts and guides offer a brief summary
of Diana and Guadalupe and often mention the significance of
these cases. Additionally, several of these texts link Guadalupe
to entries about adaptive behavior assessment, bilingual and
bicultural education, and consent decrees (the type of settle-
ment reached in Guadalupe)."2 Each text's treatment of these
cases is remarkably similar, varying only in points of emphasis
and in length (one paragraph to two pages). The continued cita-
tion of these cases indicates their significance in recent battles
for minority education rights, particularly in their attempts to
rectify the persistent overrepresentation of minority students
in special education classrooms.

In addition to affecting state and national policies and
definitions, the local results and implications of Guadalupe
(1972) were numerous. Before the settlement, Guadalupe
citizens accused Tempe Elementary School District of retali-

"Herbert Grossman, Manual on Terminology and Classification in Mental
Retardation (Washington, DC, 1973): x, cited in ibid., 147. Emphasis added.

"'Curiously, the Covarrubias settlement is rarely included in these texts.
Fletcher-Janzen and Reynolds, Concise Encyclopedia of Special Education,
316-17; Jacob and Hartshorne, Ethics and Law for School Psychologists, 134;
Robert L. Rhodes, Salvador Hector Ochoa, and Samuel 0. Ortiz, Assessing
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Students (New York, 2005), 44; Cecil R.
Reynolds and Randy W Kamphaus, Handbook of Psychological and Educa-
tional Assessment of Children (New York, 2003), 60; T. Steuart Watson and
Christopher H. Skinner, eds., Encyclopedia of School Psychology (Basel, Swit-
zerland, 2004), 152-53.

"'For example, see Fletcher-Janzen and Reynolds, Concise Encyclopedia of Spe-
cial Education, and Watson and Skinner, Encyclopedia of School Psychology.
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Socorro Hernandez Bernasconi, the first Guadalupano to receive
a bachelor's degree in elementary education, led the quest for
educational reforms in Guadalupe. (Photo by Dorothea von Haeften,
courtesy of the Petra Foundation)
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ating against them for filing this suit. First, school counselor
Socorro Bernasconi claimed that soon after the case against
Tempe Elementary School District was filed, the district no
longer allowed her to counsel the special education children
(including those whom she had been counseling all year), or
to access the special education files or retest results, and she
was not informed of any new special education placements.
She believed that "all these punitive measures are a result of
my discovery of the discriminatory practices and poor admin-
istrative policies of the District."'13

Tempe Elementary School District transferred Bernasconi to
a school with a predominantly Anglo population for the next
school year. The school district justified this transfer by claim-
ing it was related to funding issues. Accusing the district of dis-
crimination and retaliatory measures, Bernasconi argued that
the district disregarded her preferences and specific training
as a counselor for Mexican American students. After pursuing
this matter for approximately twenty months through other
means, Bernasconi filed a lawsuit against Tempe Elementary
School District. After the suit was dismissed by the district of
Arizona, the United States Court of Appeals ruled that Bernasconi's
free speech was protected and that funding problems were
not the sole reason for her transfer.114 Despite this favorable
finding, she received no reparations until 1979, when Tempe
Elementary School District finally offered her a job and $10,000
in court costs, which she claimed did not nearly cover the costs
incurred during the six-year battle."

Additionally, Tempe Elementary School District retaliated
on September 18, 1971, when its board of trustees denied the
use of school facilities throughout the district for all non-
school-district uses and then required reapplication to the
board for new facility-use proposals."6 Prior to this decision,
the Guadalupe Organization had used the Frank School facili-
ties during non-school hours for adult education programs, and
other Tempe organizations utilized different Tempe Elementa-
ry School District schools for fundraising and other educational
purposes. The school district used the reapplication process
to deny the Guadalupe Organization the use of Frank School's

"Bernasconi to regional director of the Office of Civil Rights, 14 May 1971,
box 30, folder 4, CRC, SCASU.

"'Bernasconi v. Tempe Elementary School District, No. 3, 548 E2d 857 (1977).

"'Ann Johnson, "Battle Brings Partial Victory," The Phoenix Gazette, July 4,
1979, box 31, folder 9, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

I"Tempe Elementary School District No. 3, Board of Trustees Minutes, Sep-
tember 18, 1971, box 30, folder 7, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.
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facilities, while simultaneously permitting all other previous
outside uses of the district's schools. This was particularly
harsh because the Guadalupe Organization's adult education
program in Frank School sought to remedy the low education
attainment among Guadalupanos." The Guadalupe Organiza-
tion asserted that this denial of facility use was retaliatory and
filed a suit against Tempe Elementary School District claiming
declaratory and injunctive relief. The organization claimed that
it had been permitted to use the school facilities free of charge
for five years before it filed the first case against the district in
1971.11 The district eventually rented the space to the Guada-
lupe Organization for one dollar to settle the situation."'9 The
one dollar settlement represented an affirmation of the dis-
trict's power, while still providing a compromise to the Guada-
lupe Organization.

Guadalupe not only changed district procedures but also led
to reforms in the state's legislation that granted further edu-
cational rights to bilingual and minority students in Arizona.
The legislation required schools to test students in their home
language, notify parents in their home language, and create spe-
cial education placement permission slips with the student's
estimated date of removal from special education.0 Addition-
ally, Tempe Elementary School District removed all but one of
the plaintiffs from special education classes at Frank School,
returning these students to regular, mainstream classrooms121

Although no direct link between the settlement and the
creation of the Mexican American Educational Advisory Com-
mittee (MAEAC) is evident, the Tempe Elementary School
District board of trustees created this advisory committee in
the same month as the school district's lawyers settled the
1972 case. The board of trustees formed the advisory commit-
tee to use the "talents of the Mexican-American community
as allies in the struggle towards quality education." 2 2 Until

IMeeks, "The Yaqui of Guadalupe," 102.

"'Guadalupe Organization v. Tempe Elementary School District, No. 3, Retali-
ation Suit [n.d.), box 30, folder 7, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.
"'Tempe Elementary School District Board of Trustees Minutes, box 30, folder 7,
CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.

'2"Bernasconi, "The 'Why' of the Guadalupe Organization," 16.

"''Tempe Elementary School District, No. 3, Settlement of Special Education
Lawsuit, April 24, 1972, CTDEP, CRC, SCASU. Note that the one student who
was not removed from special education stayed at the request of her parents.

m) "Organization of a Mexican-American School-Community Committee," a
paper submitted to O.S. Fees by his administrative assistant, January 10, 1972, 6.
Quoted in Cecilia de Esquer, "The MAEAC," handwritten notes, box 30, folder 4,
CTDEP, CRC, SCASU.
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its demise seventeen months later, the advisory committee
fought vigorously for students' rights, fair desegregation poli-
cies, and bilingual and bicultural education. Finally, Guadalupe
empowered Guadalupanos, proving they could successfully
fight for their rights. Even though the litigation ultimately
led Socorro Bernasconi to file her 1973 lawsuit for wrongful
termination, the victory likely encouraged her to realize that
she could achieve similar success through litigation. While
Guadalupe achieved several tangible successes at the local,
state, and national levels, it also paved the way for future activ-
ism in Guadalupe, such as the second class-action lawsuit that
the Guadalupe Organization filed against Tempe Elementary
School District in 1973, demanding an additional program of
bilingual and bicultural education.2-

3

CONCLUSION

The Guadalupe Organization and Guadalupano citizens
used both litigation and grassroots methods of reform. They
attempted to employ grassroots methods first, sometimes only
with limited success, such as Bernasconi's attempts to make
changes at the school and district levels. Other grassroots
actions were more successful. For example, Guadalupanos
resisted Tempe Elementary School District's desegregation by
creating a school that would protect not only their students but
also their culture and language.12 4 Guadalupanos created Itom
Escuela ("Our School" in Yaqui and Spanish), a private, trilin-
gual school for their children. I'tom Escuela taught students
community involvement and pride in their languages and cul-
tures along with more traditional school subjects. Although the
school was successful in resisting unfair desegregation policies
and instilling linguistic and cultural pride in students, I'tom
Escuela closed after ten years because of funding problems.
MAEAC had some limited successes. It continually pushed the
Tempe Elementary School District board of trustees to fulfill
its promises to create a supplemental program of bilingual and
bicultural education, and it also advocated for minority stu-
dents and promoted the Guadalupanos' languages and cultures.

"Guadalupe Organization, Inc. v. Tempe Elementary School District, No. 3,
587 F.2d 1022 (1978) [hereinafter cited as Guadalupe v, Tempe School District,
No. 3 (1978)].

"^Octaviana Trujillo, "A Tribal Approach to Language and Literacy Development
in a Trilingual Setting," in Teaching Indigenous Languages, ed., Jon Reyhner
(Flagstaff, AZ, 1997); and Trujillo, "The Yaqui of Guadalupe, Arizona."
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Thus, Guadalupanos' grassroots reform and activism met with
mixed results overall.

Elsewhere in Arizona and throughout the Southwest, Mexican
Americans and American Indians used forms of grassroots ac-
tivism that were similar to that of the Guadalupanos to effect
educational change. For example, the American Indian com-
munity organized to improve education in Phoenix, seeking
reform through the school board in the Phoenix Union High
School system. After a near-riot during a community school
board meeting in 1973, the administration began to support
American Indian initiatives, including hiring American Indian
counselors and learning how to obtain federal monies to sup-
port American Indian programs."2 Within Tempe Elementary
School District, Guadalupanos also worked to incorporate
curriculum and programs for students, institute culturally
relevant professional development for teachers, and even adopt
programs that taught Guadalupanos about Yaqui history and
culture.'26 In addition, Guadalupanos created a Head Start
program for preschoolers, which emphasized trilingualism and
Guadalupano history and culture in its curriculum.2 1

Throughout the Southwest, Chicanos and other groups
frequently sought reform at the grassroots level through pro-
tests and school boycotts. For example, Mexican Americans in
Phoenix boycotted for increased hiring of Chicanos and a more
culturally sensitive curriculum.128 Mexican Americans and
other groups on strike sometimes created huelga schools, or
temporary schools for boycotting students. 29 However, despite
the similarities between Guadalupano and other groups' activ-
ism, Guadalupanos never led a strike against Tempe Elementary
School District. I'tom Escuela differed from most boycott
schools in that it lasted for more than ten years, in contrast
to the average two to three years that other boycott schools

'Stephen Kent Amerman, "Making an Indian Place in Urban Schools: Native
Americans and Education in Phoenix, 1941-1984" (Ph.D. dissertation, Arizona
State University, 2002), 197-23 1,

""Summary: Title IV Indian Education Program, Tempe Elementary School
District 0; Tempe Elementary School District School Board Minutes, October 4,
1978 (4); "Yaqui Heritage," Tempe Daily News, May 14, 1977.

m'Dianne Rowland, "Via Head Start Program: Yaqui Culture Revitalized,"
Mesa Tribune, August 12, 1976, Arizona Collection, Arizona State University;
Meeks, Border Citizens, 234-35.
1 Meeks, Border Citizens, 195-99; Whitaker, Race Work, 210-11.

"Guadalupe San Miguel, Jr., Brown, Not White: School Integration and the
Chicano Movement in Houston (College Station, TX, 2001), 93-103; Blanton,
The Strange Career of Bilingual Education in Texas, 145.
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remained active.3 0 Although it is uncertain why the Guadalu-
panos did not strike, we can surmise that their power was not
in their numbers, given that Guadalupe was only a small seg-
ment of the school district. Additionally, if Guadalupanos had
boycotted the Frank School and/or protested against the Tempe
Elementary School District, their actions likely would have
been unsuccessful, because Guadalupe was isolated, the school
was still segregated, and many Tempe citizens probably would
not have noticed or cared.

Although Guadalupe's litigation ultimately led to signifi-
cant educational reforms, some of the litigation met with
only mixed success. Both the 1972 case and the adult educa-
tion case resulted in successful settlements, but Bernasconi
fought for six years in the courts and never received significant
restitution after winning her case. Another suit filed by the
Guadalupe Organization in 1973, which demanded a perma-
nent program of additive bilingual and bicultural education,
did not succeed, because the Guadalupe Organization failed to
prove that Tempe Elementary School District was not provid-
ing an adequate compensatory bilingual program for minority
students. The Guadalupe Organization wanted more than just
compensatory bilingual education; they wanted continuing
bilingual instruction even after language-minority students
learned English, which went beyond precedent.'3' The court
used the case to clarify the role of public schooling in promot-
ing national unity, stating, "Linguistic and cultural diversity
within the nation-state, whatever may be its advantages
from time to time, can restrict the scope of the fundamental
compact.""a2 It continued, "The decision of the appellees to
provide a predominantly monocultural and monolingual edu-
cational system was a rational response to a quintessentially
"legitimate state interest."3 3

This decision represented the nation's concept of citizenship,
because it showed that the court believed the national language
was English and the culture was "American," and it defined
Mexican American and Yaqui culture and language as perma-
nently foreign and un-American. Both courts and school districts

1 3"Lynn Pyne, "I'Tom Escuela's 30 Pupils Learn Two Languages," The Phoenix
Gazette, April 23, 1980, SE-2,

m3Jonathan D. Haft, "Assuring Equal Education Opportunity for Language-
Minority Students: Bilingual Education and the Equal Education Opportunity
Act of 1974," Columbia Journal of Law and Social Problems 18:2 (Spring 1983):
273, 275-76.
3 Guadalupe v Tempe School District, No. 3 (1978), section C at par. 3.

"-Ibid., par. 5.
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often supported compensatory bilingual and bicultural education
because it was a temporary means of preparing students to enter
the regular classroom, where they would speak English and par-
ticipate in American culture. Most courts and districts did not
advocate additive bilingual and bicultural education, because
doing so would acknowledge the legitimacy of non-English lan-
guages and non-Anglo cultures as equally American.

This case exemplifies the shift in Mexican American ac-
tivism and reform in the 1960s and 1970s. The early- to
mid-1970s marked a larger movement toward bilingual and
bicultural education in the United States, coinciding with the
Chicano movement, a Mexican American civil rights movement
in the 1960s and 1970s that stressed cultural pride, political
activism, and empowerment.134 Mexican Americans made a
distinct shift away from claiming rights through assimilation
and "becoming white" to asserting cultural pride and a new
definition of citizenship that allowed for cultural and linguis-
tic heterogeneity.3 Guadalupe (1972) represents a transition
between these claims: although the Guadalupe Organization
argued for cultural and linguistic recognition to eliminate
structural inequalities, it requested a pragmatic reform rather
than the more radical demands of Guadalupe (1978) for an ad-
ditive bilingual education program.

In the 1960s and 1970s, the combination of litigation and
grassroots activism was the most popular way of achieving
civil rights reform. For example, Chicanos in Houston effected
change by boycotting schools, petitioning the school board, and
using the court system.3 6 The African American civil rights
movement used the same tactics-activists simultaneously
pushed for precedent cases while organizing the community

' 4For more on the Chicano movement and education, see, for example, Meeks,
Border Citizens, 180-210; Ernesto Chavez, "Mi Raza Primero!" (My People
First!): Nationalism, Identity, and Insurgency in the Chicano Movement
in Los Angeles, 1966-1978 (Berkeley, CA, 2002); San Miguel, Jr., Brown,
Not White; Carlos Muioz, Youth, Identity, Power: The Chicano Movement
(New York, 2007); Darius V Echeverria, "Aztlin Arizona: Abuses, Aware-
ness, Animosity, and Activism amid Mexican Americans, 1968-1978" (Ph.D.
dissertation, Temple University, 2006); Maria Eva Valle, "MEChA and the
Transformation of Chicano Student Activism: Generational Change, Conflict,
and Continuity" (Ph.D. dissertation, University of California, San Diego, 1996)
Maritza De La Trinidad, "Collective Outrage: Mexican American Activism and
the Quest for Educational Equality and Reform, 1950-1990" (Ph.D. disserta-
tion, University of Arizona, 2008).

'Meeks, Border Citizens, 181; San Miguel, Jr., Brown, Not White.

1`6Ibid., 97-194.



at the local level. 7 As in Guadalupe, civil rights activists
throughout the nation sought educational reforms through
interrelated processes of grassroots activism and litigation.
Commonly, legislation was created only after precedent cases,
which civil rights activists learned from each other's successes
and failures. Because of this, the Guadalupe Organization and
other Arizona activist groups tended not to appeal to the state
legislature but gained legislative changes through litigation and
local activism instead.13

This reluctance to utilize legislative reform has led to an
inconsistency of language rights in the United States. James
Crawford, president of the Institute for Language and Education
Policy, asserts that language rights are "vulnerable to changing
political winds," largely because they are only vaguely pre-
scribed in both legislation and court decisions and thus are
open to interpretation. 39 Despite the ambiguity, education
specialist Michael Donal Sacken suggests that the best type of
education legislation is that which prescribes little and allows
for local variance, because "the 'best' method of bilingual
education will vary according to local conditions and available
personnel.... Why should Nogales's public schools provide
the same minimal program imposed on Scottsdale? "140 Arguing
that bilingual and bicultural education often is attacked for its
"explicitly pluralistic orientation," which "threatens the pro-
cess of citizenship creation," he shows that even when states
passed legislation that explicitly allowed or mandated bilingual
education, public opinion often forced the legislature to amend
or repeal this legislation.'4 ' Perhaps the best solution to bilin-
gual education and language rights disputes is to allow for local
decision-making, with some level of federal oversight, like the
results of Guadalupe (1972).

In spite of the inconsistencies in language rights, it is still
important that minority groups pursued change through demo-
cratic means by working to redefine citizenship and the rights

'37Peter Lau, ed., From the Grassroots to the Supreme Court: Brown v. Board
of Education and American Democracy (Durham, NC, 2004), and Charles M.
Payne, I've Got the Light of Freedom: The Organizing Tradition and the Mis-
sissippi Freedom Struggle (Berkeley, CA, 2007).

'Michael Donal Sacken, Reformation of Arizona's Bilingual Education Policy:
Litigation or Legislation? Mexican American Studies and Research Center
Working Paper 4 (Tucson, AZ, 1983). See also Muioz, "Desert Dreams."

M9James Crawford, "Loose Ends in a Tattered Fabric: The Inconsistency of
Language Rights in the United States," in Language Rights in Comparative
Perspective, ed. Joseph Eliot Magnet (Markham, Ontario, 2008), 2.
'40Sacken, Reformation of Arizona's Bilingual Education Policy, 69, 72.

"Ilbid., 66, 83.
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it entailed. In her exploration of cultural citizenship, historian
Blanca Silvestrini demonstrates how "vernacular conceptions
of rights precede legal concepts of rights," meaning that minor-
ity groups often recognized rights that had not yet been recog-
nized by the dominant population or won through litigation or
legislation. Silvestrini shows that often, by fighting for these
rights, activists alter the law and its interpretation.142 Even
though the Guadalupanos met mixed results in their attempts
to reform the national and legal concept of citizenship, it was
still worth the fight, because these cases helped mobilize the
community. The Guadalupanos' successes through the mu-
tually dependent processes of grassroots activism and litiga-
tion built political momentum in the community, while also
teaching and modeling skills of citizenship, such as voting,
litigating, and other activist techniques. This ultimately aided
Guadalupanos in solidifying their cultural identity and in de-
manding their right to participate as citizens who are different
but equal. By redefining citizenship to include cultural rights,
minority ethnic groups, including the Guadalupanos, have pre-
served and promoted pride in their language and culture.

'Flores and Benmayor, Latino Cultural Citizenship, 18.
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BOOK REVIEWS

Voices Raised in Protest: Defending North American Citizens of
Japanese Ancestry, 1942-49, by Stephanie Bangarth. Vancouver,
B.C.: UBC Press, 2008; 296 pp.; illustrations, notes, bibliography,
index; $85.00 cloth; $32.95 paper.

In Voices Raise in Protest, author Stephanie Bangarth ex-
plains in impressive detail how organizations and individuals
struggled to defend the rights of Americans and Canadians of
Japanese ancestry (Nikkei) during and immediately following
the Second World War. Bangarth concludes that the wartime
battle to defend Nikkei rights was ineffective at first but later
had a lasting, positive effect on mainstream thinking about
citizenship, human rights, and racism in both countries.

Bangarth draws several important conclusions that help
us understand why organized resistance to Nikkei "intern-
ment" failed to prevent a large-scale violation of civil rights.
She points out that liberals and intellectuals believed minori-
ties should assimilate, and they thought that relocation would
accelerate Nikkei assimilation by dispersing this minority
population throughout both countries. In a total war against
fascism, groups that supported Nikkei rights also supported
the U.S. and Canadian war efforts. These factors made it very
difficult for organizations to contest the governments' claims
that they were acting out of military necessity. As a result,
instead of objecting to evacuation and relocation, most groups
opposed other wartime policies. In Canada, Nikkei and non-
Nikkei organized jointly to fight involuntary deportation and
disenfranchisement. In the United States, Nikkei and non-
Nikkei organized separately to oppose prolonged incarceration
and attacks on Nisei citizenship and voting rights.

Advocates for Nikkei rights were divided by internal dis-
sent. The American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU), for example,
fought against regional chapters and individual lawyers who
were adamantly in favor of opposing President Roosevelt on
the constitutionality of Executive Order 9066. The Japanese
American Citizens League (JACL) drew the ire of Japanese
Americans for cooperating with the overall program of intern-
ment. Bangarth found that all groups in both countries shared
a remarkable consensus, however, that they could not fight
openly for the rights of alien Japanese. Even though groups



88 WSENLGLHSOYVL 3 o

were splintered by internal dissent and bound by wartime loy-
alty to the state, they shared a growing commitment to fight
racism in ways that reflected new ideas about universal human
rights. The post-war language of universal human rights became
particularly innovative in Canada.

Interestingly, Bangarth is silent about Japanese dual citizen-
ship, and she is not alone. Few books published since the 1970s
discuss the topic at all. The important role that citizenship
plays in this book and in the historical record begs the question
why this silence persists in the literature. It is a topic that is in
serious need of updated research and discussion.

Although the scope and thorough research of this book are
impressive, the organization of the book is confusing and
often repetitive. Readers would benefit from having previous
knowledge of the basic constitutional and legal histories of
both countries. A previous knowledge of Nikkei history would
also be helpful but is not necessary. The author uses some legal
jargon without defining the terms for readers unfamiliar with
the law.

These relatively minor problems do not diminish the fact
that the book is an important contribution to the field and of-
fers cutting-edge attention to the transnational nature of what
scholars typically treat as national topics. Bangarth provides
thorough coverage of groups that worked to defend Nikkei
rights, including many who are normally ignored. For example,
few scholars include the efforts of Chinese, Jewish, African
American, and non-West Coast Nisei together in their research
on Japanese Americans during the war. Some have examined
intellectual responses, or the conflicted activities of the ACLU
and a handful of religious groups, particularly the American
Friends Service Committee, but Bangarth brings the discus-
sion to a transnational level when, for example, she examines
the international stake that Christian organizations had in
demonstrating their commitment to the rights of all persons of
Japanese ancestry.

Voices Raised in Protest also provides a timely reflection
on the difficulty with which organizations opposed the state
during wartime. Yet Bangarth reminds us in her final chapter of
the lasting contributions made by the legal defense of minori-
ties' rights after the war had ended. Despite the fact that the
Japanese American Citizens League, for example, defended the
government's right to intern the entire West Coast popula-
tion of Nikkei and collaborated to an embarrassing degree in
the process, the JACL fought racism vigorously after the war.
It established a legal defense fund and supported some of the
most important court cases that ended segregation and racist
laws after the war. Groups that organized to defend Nikkei in

88 WESTERN LEGAL HISTORY VOL. 23, No, I



Canada joined forces to prevent the involuntary deportation of
Japanese Canadian citizens after the war had ended. Despite
the limits of wartime dissent, continued efforts to end legally
sanctioned racism succeeded over time.

Cherstin M. Lyon
California State University, San Bernardino

Federal judges Revealed, by William Domnarski. New York:
Oxford University Press, 2009; 231 pp.; bibliography, index;
$65.00 cloth.

There was a time when judges believed that whatever they
did away from public view deserved to stay secret. Prominent
jurists destroyed their papers when they retired and left their
rulings as the only record of their service. But this resistance
to preserving a thorough historical record began to melt away
when judges came to realize that other colleagues were saving
their papers, depositing them in libraries, and opening them
for research, and that some of their clerks were giving inter-
views about the personal interactions within the inner sanc-
tum. Additionally, in this era of transparency, federal judges
have participated in oral history programs, in which they
have recounted their entire lives from attending law school to
practicing law to being appointed to the court. Thousands of
such interviews have taken place at every judicial level across
the country.

Aided by the biographical database maintained by the
Federal Judicial Center, William Domnarski located and read
more than a hundred interviews, amounting to 20,000 pages of
transcripts. Domnarski, who holds both a J.D. and a Ph.D. in
English, focused on judges appointed between the 1960s and
the 1980s, who mirror a general statistical profile of the con-
temporary federal judiciary.

The long reluctance of judges to lift the veil on their private
proceedings may have reflected concerns that focusing on the
human qualities of judges would somehow reduce the aura
of the bench. But by bringing out those human qualities, the
oral histories in this volume enhance rather than diminish the
bench. The jurists in Federal Judges Revealed admit to trip-
ping on their robes, tipping over their chairs, fretting about
their slow reading skills, and anguishing over having their rul-
ings reversed. They also assess their colleagues on the bench
and the lawyers who appeared before them, and talk about the
pressures of the job and the seriousness with which they take
their responsibilities.
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Domnarski's captivating sample of the information that oral
history can provide justifies the efforts that have gone into col-
lecting these reminiscences. He identifies all of the judges by
name, the courts on which they served, and the dates of their
service. Their stories cover their lives before admission to the
bar, including college, military service, and law school; their
legal careers before going on the bench, including clerkships,
law practice, and the process of judicial nomination; and their
service on the bench, including their initial transitions, the
nature of their work, their clerks and fellow judges, and their
rendering of judicial opinions. The book does not deal with
particular cases but with how their life experiences and work
habits influenced the ways in which they decided cases. "It is
not a natural thing for federal judges to talk about themselves
to outsiders," Domnarski concedes. "After all, they answer to
no one" (p. 5).

Because the oral histories were conducted by numerous
interviewers, Domnarski found that their quality varied
significantly. The best occurred when the interviewers had
established a good rapport with the judges, putting them at
ease and encouraging them to speak candidly. Some of these
interviews have yielded stunning admissions, particularly
about the patronage demands sometimes placed on judicial
nominees (one judge related how the senator who got him
appointed made it clear that he in turn had to appoint a cer-
tain clerk of the court and fill other jobs with people whom
the senator favored). The judges also discussed the high-
stakes presidential deal-making behind their appointments,
which left them sometimes little more than bystanders. The
judges reflected on the difficult behavior and "petty tyran-
nies" of some their colleagues on the bench (p. 7), and the
often stressful nature of the job, but they also talked about
their personal role models and the pleasure they gained from
observing the "good lawyering" (p. 209) that took place in
their courtrooms.

Federal Judges Revealed succeeds in its aim to tell as much
about the judges as about the process of judging. It is at once
about individual lives and collective experiences, thanks to
Domnarski's deft weaving of his selections. Beyond the infor-
mation and analysis offered, the book may help convince some
of the remaining skeptics on the bench of the importance of
leaving a more complete record of their tenure, including oral
history interviews, to provide the needed historical context for
their judicial legacies.

Donald A. Ritchie
U.S. Senate Historical Office
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What Blood Won't Tell: A History of Race on Trial in America,
by Ariela J. Gross. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2008;
368 pp.; notes, acknowledgements, index; $29.95 cloth.

Ariela Gross's What Blood Won't Tell is a significant contri-
bution to our understanding of the role law played in the social
historical construction of "whiteness" as a pseudo-paradigm of
race. Gross is the John B. and Alice R. Sharp Professor of Law
and History at the University of Southern California and has
published lengthy law journal articles that parallel the topic of
her book. To explain "whiteness" as a social historical con-
struction via law, Gross examines case law and how court deci-
sions created categories that defined "whiteness," depending
on time and place. This dependency is key to her thesis, which
is that the falsity of race can be verified in case law because the
cases themselves reveal how subjective race is. This illogical
subjectivity is seen as race became a moving target with con-
tingencies based on individual litigant, plaintiff's claim, local
understanding of race, oppositional class conflicts, and federal
legislative imprint. The trials themselves turned on such am-
bivalences as "appearance, ancestry, performance, reputation, as-
sociation, science, national citizenship, [and] cultural practice."

Gross' book examines the period in which partus sequitur ven-
trem, or the colonial statutory idea that status of children should
follow status of mother, prevailed. The colonial slaveholding class
assumed that this legal idea, enforced by colonial courts, would
address the obvious contradiction of a race-based slave society in
which individuals of mixed ancestry existed. This existence was
driven by the coercive intimacy of white men and black women.
English common law was changed so that sexual coercion would
not produce offspring who would follow the status of their free
white fathers. Gross does an excellent job in citing James Hugo
Johnson's old study of intimacy between white women and black
men, which created numerous plaintiff claims that since their
mothers were free white women, partus sequitur ventrem should
be the holding principle in their freedom lawsuits.

Strangely, Gross refers to, but does not give a citation
for, the 1816 case of Negro John Davis v. Wood, which she
claims ended the use of hearsay evidence to prove ancestry.
The case that actually closed off this avenue of freedom for
many mixed-ancestry plaintiffs was Mima Queen and Child v.
Hepburn (1813). However, Gross is definitive in her analysis
and understanding of the dialectics of racial boundaries in
her examination of the 1857 Alexina v. Morrison case. Her
expertise is clear in the way she critically analyzes this case
and how "whiteness" contradictory categories of appearance,
behavior, local custom, and knowledge of ancestry created a
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racial contingency dilemma that freed Ms. Morrison from the
condition of slavery.

Gross should be given high marks for recognizing and un-
derstanding two signal events in the legal/social construction
of race. In recognizing these two events-Nathaniel Bacon's
Rebellion of 1767 and the Naturalization Act of 1790-Gross
shares with the reader the importance of the symmetry be-
tween race, class, and national citizenship. To explicate this
symmetry, she examines miscegenation cases: Melugeons as
a mixed-race ancestral group and cases of national origin (Ar-
menians became white by law, but Bhagart Singh Thind, an
East Indian, became non-white by law). The land of opportu-
nity was predicated on racial identity of "whiteness" as con-
nected to national citizenship. What is also impressive about
this work is that it is so well researched (e.g., included is late
nineteenth-century African American fiction on the dilemma
of mixed-race individuals). Gross has mined the complete ex-
tant scholarship on the topic of "whiteness," which enhances
the scholarly quality of this book and makes Gross a doyenne
in this field of knowledge.

However, in spite of such impeccable scholarship, a lacuna
exists when Gross analyzes "Mexican Americans and the
'Caucasian Cloak."' This chapter follows earlier chapters in
which she clearly understands the problematic of imperialism
and the acquisition of land. Her excellent examination of Indian
land allotment and white land aggrandizement, which involves
Oklahoma's "Black Cherokees" and other such contested terms
of race, continues in her analysis of land allotment in Hawai'i
between ruling classes-Hawai'i royalty and the haoles (whites/
imperialists). Gross' case law analysis of the Hawaiian Homes
Commission Act of 1920; the Dawes Act and the racial prob-
lematic of enrollment; and the eugenics parameters of immigra-
tion policy are on mark. That is why the omission of the 1931
Alvarez v Lemon Grove case is of interest. With her dense
scholarly citations, I assume she knows of this case but preferred
to emphasize the Hernandez v. Texas and Mendez v. Westminis-
ter cases, which were handed down later. How Mexicans became
white was initially based on the little-known 1931 Alvarez case
of school segregation by the Lemon Grove School Board in San
Diego County. This singular absence detracts only slightly from
the quality and merit of the research. What Blood Won't Tell is
a significant contribution to our understanding of law and race
as contingency expressions of imperial domination revealing
"race" as a false category of human existence.

Malik Simba, Ph.D.
California State University-Fresno
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Dividing Western Waters: Mark Wilmer and Arizona v.
California, by Jack L. August, Jr. Ft. Worth: TCU Press, 2007;
172 pp.; illustrations, appendices, notes, bibliography, index;
$32.95 cloth.

Dividing Western Waters celebrates the achievement of
Arizona attorney Mark Wilmer's litigation of Arizona v California.
Tried in the U.S. Supreme Court over a ten-year period (1952--63),
Arizona v. California involved the legal efforts of both states to
secure enough Colorado River water to satisfy agricultural and
urban demands stimulated by post-war growth.

The conflict had its genesis in several areas. In contrast to
the Colorado River's upper basin states (Colorado, Wyoming,
Utah, and New Mexico), the three states of the lower basin
(Arizona, California, and Nevada) were unable to agree inde-
pendently to an apportionment of the 7.5 million acre-feet to
each basin designated by the 1922 Colorado River Compact.
Because Arizona failed to ratify the compact until 1944, Cali-
fornia planned and developed water projects on the basis of
prior appropriation and prescriptive rights to which Arizona,
as a non-signer, could not object. Additionally, California
concluded that Arizona's exclusive claim to the Gila River, a
Colorado River tributary, was unfounded and that any rights
Arizona might have to the main-stem Colorado River would
require consideration of the one million acre-feet annually
flowing in the Gila.

Arizona saw things differently. Concerned by alarming
growth data, declining water resources in underground aqui-
fers, and significant surface subsidence, state officials saw the
need for certainty regarding the 2.8 million acre-feet of Colorado
River authorized to Arizona in the 1928 Boulder Canyon Proj-
ect Act. While California continued to plan projects that could
utilize as much as 8.8 million acre-feet from the Colorado River
(the Boulder Canyon Project Act awarded California 4.4 million
acre-feet), Arizona lived with the fear that Congress would nev-
er approve construction of dams and a canal-eventually called
the Central Arizona Project-because of California's fast-moving
projects. During the 1922 debates in Santa Fe, Arizona's Colorado
compact commissioner, W.S. Norviel, had fought for a delivery
system from the Colorado River-the High Line Canal-to be
included in the compact, but he failed, resulting in his state's
refusal to ratify that compact until 1944. Because of the attacks
on Arizona's rights to the Gila River, California's development of
projects at warp speed, and no works in place for Arizona's share
of Colorado River water, Arizona resorted to litigation.

California had the population and financial resources to
fight back both in the Supreme Court and in Congress. In con-
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trast, Arizona stumbled all over itself during the first five years
of litigation. Finally, in 1957, state officials asked Mark Wilmer
to take over the case. He began by filing a new petition in the
Court in which he argued that Arizona's rights to the Gila River
had been acquired prior to the Colorado River Compact and were
not in any way involved with the 2.8 million acre-feet awarded to
Arizona under the Boulder Canyon Project Act. Those rights, he
argued, were perfected by Article 8 of the Colorado River Com-
pact. "In one gesture," August notes, "Wilmer swept aside four
decades of ill-advised argument. . ." (p. 81). In its 1963 decision,
the Court agreed with Wilmer, granting Arizona its 2.8 million
acre-feet and limiting California to 4.4 million acre-feet. Although
this ruling has been difficult to enforce over the years, Wilmer's
leadership saved Arizona by making possible the Central Arizona
Project, approved in 1973 and substantially completed in 1993.

Jack August's biggest accomplishment in Dividing the Waters
is his ability to cut through the thousands of pages of testimo-
ny and documentation to show how Wilmer out-strategized his
California opponents with legal skill, charm, and persistence.
Although the author's depiction of Wilmer's triumph might
have been enhanced by a better connection to Norviel's repre-
sentation of Arizona's needs during Colorado River Compact
negotiations in 1922, his skill in telling a very complex story in
130 pages is most commendable. Equally meaningful is August's
depiction of Wilmer as a gentleman, a community builder, and a
family man who was highly respected by his adversaries. In fact,
one cannot read Dividing the Waters without being moved by
Wilmer's humanity during a full and productive life.

Daniel Tyler
Colorado State University
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Robert H. Fairbank, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. Ferdinand F. Fernandez, Pasadena
Bertram Fields, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. Jay C. Gandhi, Los Angeles
Eric M. George, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. Lloyd D. George, Las Vegas
Hon. Alfred T. Goodwin, Pasadena
Hon. Ronald M. Gould, Seattle
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Philip L. Gregory, Esq., Burlingame
Robert Henigson, Deer Harbor
Heurlin Sherlock Panahi, Tucson
Earl M. Hill, Esq., Reno
John C. Hueston, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. Robert Johnston, Las Vegas
Daniel R. Kaleba, Esq., San Jose
Terri D, Keville, Esq., Los Angeles
King & Kelleher LLP, San Francisco
Edward Vincent King, Esq., San Francisco
Daniel M. Kolkey, Esq., San Francisco
Kolodny & Anteau, Beverly Hills
Robert D. Lowry, Esq., Eugene
Gregory P. Lynch, Esq., Bend
Timothy Lynch, Esq., Anchorage
Ron Maroko, Esq., Los Angeles
Steven R. Mather, Esq., Beverly Hills
Mrs. David McDaniel, San Francisco
Thomas J. McDermott, Jr., Esq., Indian Wells
Mitchell, Silberberg & Knupp, Los Angeles
Hon. John F. Moulds, Sacramento
Hon. Geraldine Mund, Woodland Hills
Terry Nafisi, Los Angeles
Stephen C. Neal, Esq., San Francisco
George W. Nowell, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. Ben O'Brien, Carmichael
Charles Pereya-Suarez, Esq., Los Angeles
Bruce M. Ramer, Esq., Beverly Hills
Hon. James A. Redden, Beaverton
Remcho, Johansen & Purcell, San Leandro
Arthur F. Roeca, Esq., Honolulu
Hon. Paul G. Rosenblatt, Phoenix
William J. Rush, Esq., Tacoma
Hon. Pamela Rymer, Pasadena
Kelli Sager, Esq., Los Angeles
Robert M. Sanger, Santa Barbara
Francis 0. Scarpulla, Esq., San Francisco
Segal & Kirby, Sacramento
Mary Jo Shartsis, Sacramento
Michael H. Simon, Esq., Seattle
Hon. Milan D. Smith, Jr., El Segundo
Dean Steven R. Smith, San Diego
Gregory P. Stone, Esq., Los Angeles
John Sturgeon, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. James Teilborg, Phoenix
John D. Thorndal, Esq., Las Vegas
Jeffrey . Tilden, Esq., Seattle
Hon. Robert J. Timlin, Carpinteria
Gail M. Title, Esq., Los Angeles
D. Burr Udall, Esq., Tucson
Robert S. Warren, Esq., San Marino
Michael A. White, Esq., Saipan
Wilke, Fleury, Hoffelt, Gould & Birney, Sacramento
Joan C. Wright, Esq., Carson City
Meryl L. Young, Esq., Irvine
John M. Youngquist, Esq., San Francisco
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SUSTAINING
$100-$249

Barry Abrams, Esq., Houston
Alex Aghajanian, Esq., Pasadena
Mark Asdourian, Esq., Newport Beach
Laurel Beeler, Esq., San Francisco
Timothy Berg, Esq., Phoenix
Charles Berwanger, Esq., San Diego
Hon. Marsha Berzon, San Francisco
Hon. Robert Boochever, Pasadena
John Briscoe, Esq., San Francisco
Sherry P. Broder, Esq., Honolulu
Hon. Robert Bryan, Tacoma
Albie Burke, Ph.D., Long Beach
Kathleen Butterfield, Esq., San Francisco
Dominic Campisi, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. William Canby, Phoenix
Hon. David 0. Carter, Santa Ana
Matthew Carvalho, Esq., Seattle
Wilson Condon, Esq., Anchorage
Jason Crotty, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. Frank Damrell, Sacramento
Gary Dance, Esq., Pocatello
Richard De Luce, Esq., Palos Verdes Estates
Hon. Thomas B. Donovan, Los Angeles
Roy Dwyer, Esq., Bend
Prof. John Eastman, Orange
Robert Ebiner, Esq., West Covina
Hon. Morrison England, Jr., Sacramento
Donald Falk, Esq., Palo Alto
Hon. Robert Faris, Honolulu
Hon. Dale Fischer, Los Angeles
Dennis Fischer, Esq., Santa Monica
Hon. Raymond Fisher, Sherman Oaks
Ruth Fisher, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. James Fitzgerald, Anchorage
Hon. Betty Fletcher, Seattle
Hon. William Fletcher, San Francisco
Hon. Selim Franklin, Costa Mesa
John Fredenburg, Esq., Sacramento
Lawrence Friedman, Stanford
Hon. Helen Frye, New York
Hon. Dolly M. Gee, Los Angeles
Hon. Lloyd George, Las Vegas
Brian Getz, Esq., San Francisco
E. Johanna Gibbon, Esq., Irvine
Prof. Dale Goble, Moscow
Christopher Goelz, Esq., Mercer Island
Hon. Mitchel Goldberg, Yorba Linda
Martha K. Gooding, Esq., Irvine
Thomas Greenan, Esq., Seattle
Hon. Arthur Greenwald, Encino
Richard A. Grossman, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. Philip Gutierrez, Los Angeles
Michael Haglund, Esq., Portland
Stephen Halsey, Newport
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E. Richard Hart, Winthrop
John Hasko, Moscow
Thomas Haven, Esq., Atherton
Arthur Hellman, Pittsburgh
Brian Hennigan, Esq,, Los Angeles
Bruce Heurlin, Esq., Tucson
Hon. H. Russel Holland, Anchorage
James Homola, Esq., Fresno
Michael Hubbard, Esq., Waitsburg
Peter Hughes, Esq., San Diego
Hon. Sandra Segal Ikuta, Pasadena
Hon. Susan Illston, San Francisco
Shirley and George D. Jagels, Jr., San Marino
Daniel Jamison, Esq., Fresno
Hon. D. Lowell Jensen, Castro Valley
Bernard Jolles, Esq., Portland
Hon. Cindy Jorgenson, Tucson
Hon. Meredith Jury, Riverside
Hon. Lawrence Karlton, Sacramento
Steven Kazan, Esq., Oakland
Patrick Kelly, Esq., Los Angeles
Thomas Kidde, Esq., Los Angeles
Michael King, Esq., Seattle
Hon. Sam King, Honolulu
Hon. Andrew Kleinfeld, Fairbanks
Thomas Koegel, Esq., San Francisco
Theodore Kolb Esq., San Francisco
Stephen Kolodny, Esq., Beverly Hills
Gordon Krischer, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. Robert Kwan, Santa Ana
Hon. Peggy Leen, Las Vegas
Hon. Ronald Leighton, Tacoma
Hon. Ronald Lew, Los Angeles
Samuel Lionel, Esq., Las Vegas
David Lira, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. M. James Lorenz, San Diego
Hon. Elwood Lui, Los Angeles
Hon. Eugene Lynch, Ross
Hon. Jeremiah C. Lynch, Missoula
Thomas Mackey, Ph.D., Louisville
J. Richard Manning, Esq., Seattle
Hon. Malcolm Marsh, Portland
Raymond C. Marshall, Esq., San Francisco
Daniel Mason, Esq., San Francisco
Kirk McAllister, Esq., Modesto
Mrs. David McDaniel, San Francisco
Tracy McGovern, Esq., Medford
Hon. Howard McKibben, Verdi
Mary McNamara, Esq., San Francisco
Kurt Melchior, Esq., San Francisco
Frederick Merkin, Esq., Los Angeles
Grover Merritt, Esq., Alta Loma
Heather Kendall Miller, Esq., Anchorage
Hon. Susan Mollway, Honolulu
Bernard Moore, Esq., Medford
Hon. Kimberly Mueller, Sacramento
Hon. Alex Munson, Saipan
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Smithmoore Myers, Esq., Spokane
Hon. Dorothy Nelson, Pasadena
David Nolan, Esq., Orinda
Hon. William Norris, Los Angeles
Royal Oakes, Esq., Los Angeles
Richard Odgers, Esq., San Francisco
Leslie O'Leary, Esq., Portland
Hon. John Peterson, Butte
Thomas Peterson, Esq., San Francisco
Paula Petrik, South Riding
Hon. Mariana Pfaelzer, Los Angeles
Hon. Virginia Phillips, Riverside
Jeffrey Portnoy, Esq., Honolulu
John Poucher, Esq., Santa Barbara
Hon. Albert Radcliffe, Eugene
John Rawls, Esq., Houston
Hon. Manuel Real, Los Angeles
Scott Reed, Esq., Coeur d' Alene
Michelle Reinglass, Esq., Laguna Hills
Hon. Stephen Reinhardt, Los Angeles
Hon. Robin Riblet, Santa Barbara
Kent Richards, Ph.D., Ellensburg
Hon. James Robart, Seattle
Cara Robertson, Esq., Santa Monica
David Robinson, Esq., Pasadena
James Roethe, Esq., Orinda
Lawrence Rohlfing, Esq., Santa Fe Springs
Robert Rosenfeld, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. Herbert Ross, Anchorage
Lowell Rothschild, Esq., Tucson
Mark D. Rubin, Esq., Tucson
Hon. Janis Sammartino, San Diego
Robert Sanger, Esq., Santa Barbara
Martin Schainbaum, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. Mary Schroeder, Phoenix
Jeremiah Scott, Jr., Esq., Eureka
Hon. Edward Shea, Richland
Timothy Sheehan, Esq., Albuquerque
Hon. James K. Singleton, Anchorage
Hon. Otto Skopil, Jr., Lake Oswego
Hon. N. Randy Smith, Pocatello
James Spellman, Esq., Long Beach
Michael Steponovich, Esq., Orange
David Steuer, Esq., Palo Alto
Hon. Alicemarie Stotler, Santa Ana
Lynn Stutz, Esq., Campbell
Hon. Lonny Suko, Yakima
Wilma Sur, Esq., Honolulu
Hon. A. Wallace Tashima, Pasadena
John Taylor, Esq., Pasadena
Hon. Leslie Tchaikovsky, Oakland
Hon. Sidney Thomas, Billings
Hon. Gordon Thompson, Jr., San Diego
Roderick Thompson, Esq., San Francisco
John Thorndal, Esq., Las Vegas
Terry Thurbon, Esq,, Juneau
Hon. Robert Timlin, Carpinteria
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Gary Torre, Esq., Oakland
Paul Ulrich, Esq., Phoenix
Riley Walter, Esq., Fresno
Hon. Kim Wardlaw, Pasadena
Leslie Weatherhead, Esq., Spokane
Hon. John Weinberg, Seattle
Hon. Claudia Wilken & Hon. John M. True III, Berkeley
Hon. Stephen Wilson, Los Angeles
Joseph Woods, Jr., Esq., Oakland
Edward Wynne, Jr., Esq., Ross
Hon. Frank Zapata, Tucson
Hon. Thomas Zilly, Seattle

ADVOCATE
$50-$99

Robert Aitken, Esq., Palos Verdes Estates
Cheryl Alcorn, Temple City
Honey Amado, Esq., Beverly Hills
Jean-Claude Andre, Esq., Los Angeles
Sarah Andre, Los Angeles
C. Murphy Archibald, Esq., Charlotte
Ronald Atwood, Esq., Portland
Frederick Baker, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. Dennis Beck, Fresno
David Bederman, Atlanta
Hon. William Beverly, Jr., Rolling Hills Estates
Hon. Robert Block, Santa Ana
Ernest Bonyhadi, Esq., Portland
Stanley Boone, Esq., Fresno
Margaret Branick-Abilla, Esq., Palo Alto
Hon. Rudi Brewster, San Diego
Hon. Melvin Brunetti, Reno
Donald Burrill, Esq., South Pasadena
Martha Byrnes, Esq., Los Angeles
Robert Calo, Esq., Portland
Hon. Peter Carroll, Riverside
Annetta Casey, Esq., Berkeley
Cathy Catterson, San Francisco
Hon. Maxine Chesney, San Francisco
Dana Christensen, Esq., Kalispell
Nanci Clarence, Esq., San Francisco
Richard Clements, Esq., Long Beach
Charles Cleveland, Esq., Spokane
Hon. Audrey Collins, Los Angeles
Jack Collins, Esq., Portland
Theodore Collins, Esq., Seattle
John Colwell, Esq., Bonita
Anne Crotty, Esq., Pasadena
Ronald Dean, Esq., Pacific Palisades
Eileen Decker, Esq., Los Angeles
Janmarie Dielschneider, Esq., McMinnville
Hon. David Duncan, Phoenix
Paul Eaglin, Esq., Fairbanks
James Ellis, Esq., Seattle
Hon. William Enright, San Diego
Bruce Ericson, Esq., San Francisco
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Thomas Faligatter, Esq., Bakersfield
James Finberg, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. George Foley, Jr., Las Vegas
Hon. Richard Ford, Nipomo
Stanley Friedman, Esq., Los Angeles
Christian Fritz, Ph.D., Albuquerque
Paul J. Georgeson, Esq., Reno
Michael Gisser, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. Marc Goldman, Santa Ana
Barry Goode, Esq., Richmond
John Gordan III, Esq., New York
William Gorenfeld, Esq., Novato
Jeffrey Graubart, Esq., Pasadena
Paul Gray, Esq., Claremont
Eugene Gregor, Esq., New York
Michael Griffith, Oakland
Dr. Vanessa Gunther, Fullerton
Hon. Randolph Haines, Phoenix
Hon. Cynthia Hall, Pasadena
John Hanft, Esq., San Francisco
Richard Harrington, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. Terry Hatter, Jr., Los Angeles
John Havelock, Esq., Anchorage
Hon. William Hayes, San Diego
Alan Hensher, Esq., Merced
Preston Hiefield, Jr. Esq., Redmond
Ernest Hoidal, Esq., Boise
Hon. Eileen Hollowell, Tucson
Hon. John Houston, San Diego
Hon. Patrick Irvine, Phoenix
Hon. Anthony Ishii, Fresno
L.M. Jacobs IV, Esq., Tucson
Hon. Edward Johnson, Stagecoach
Dr. Lisa Johnson, Hayward
Garry Kahn, Esq., Portland
Hon. Harold Kahn, San Francisco
Jacquelyn Kasper, Tucson
Hon. Victor Kenton, Los Angeles
Matthew Kirby, Esq., Los Angeles
Hon. Christopher Klein, Sacramento
Hon. James Kleinherg, San Jose
Hon. Leslie Kobayashi, Honolulu
Mark Koop, Esq., Berkeley
Hon. Marlene Kristovich, Los Angeles
Donald Kunz, Esq., Phoenix
Jerrold Ladar, Esq., San Francisco
Louise LaMothe, Esq., Santa Barbara
John Lapinski, Esq., Los Angeles
James Lassart, Esq., San Francisco
Bartholomew Lee, Esq., San Francisco
H. Clifford Looney, Esq., Vale
James Lund, Esq., Los Angeles
Jordan Luttrell, San Francisco
Michael Magliari, Chico
Hon. James Mahan, Las Vegas
Hon. Bruce Markell, Las Vegas
Robert Markman, Joplin
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James Martin, Esq., Los Angeles
Jill Martin, Hamden
Hon. A. Howard Matz, Los Angeles
Jerry McNaul, Esq., Seattle
Howard McPherson, Esq., Honolulu
Philip Merkel, Esq., Huntington Beach
Mark Andrew Merva, Esq., Washington
Hon. Jeffrey Miller, San Diego
Thomas Mitchell, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. Donald Molloy, Missoula
Prof. R. James Mooney, Eugene
Alexander Moore, Esq., Walnut Creek
Prof. Leopold Musiyan, Papeete
Claus-M. Naske, Ph.D., Fairbanks
Hon. William Nielsen, Spokane
Hon. Fernando Olguin, Los Angeles
David Oppenheimer, San Francisco
Chet Orloff, Portland
Hon. Diarmuid O'Scannlain, Portland
Hon. Carolyn Ostby, Billings
Hon. Karen Overstreet, Seattle
Stephen Pahl, Esq., San Jose
John Palache, Jr., Esq., Greenwich
Hon. Owen Panner, Medford
Robert Parham, Anchorage
Forrest Plant, Esq., Sacramento
Hon. Stephen Pogson, Phoenix
John Porter, Esq., Los Angeles
Bertram Potter, Esq., Pasadena
Sara Purcell, Esq., Mill Valley
Hon. Charles Pyle, Tucson
Hon. Justin Quackenbush, Spokane
Judith Ramseyer, Esq., Seattle
Hon. Karsten Rasmussen, Eugene
Ann Miller Ravel, Esq., San Jose
Hon. Edward Reed, Jr., Reno
Michael Reiss, Esq., Seattle
Kenneth Robbins, Esq., Honolulu
Philip Roberts, Laramie
Ralston Roberts, Esq., Hillsborough
Hon. Ernest Robles, Los Angeles
Hon. John Rossmeissl, Yakima
J. David Sackman, Esq., Los Angeles
Stefano Sarnicola, Glendale
Edmund Schaffer, Esq., Los Angeles
Edwin Schander, Pasadena
Robert Schwantes, Burlingame
Jack Schwartz, Esq., Portland
Hon. William Schwarzer, San Francisco
Hon. J. Michael Seabright, Honolulu
Hon. Richard Seeborg, San Jose
Hon. James Selna, Santa Ana
Molly Selvin, Ph.D., Los Angeles
Peter Sherwood, San Francisco
J. Shotwell, Bay Center
Hon. William Shubb, Sacramento
John Cary Sims, Sacramento
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Gail Smith, Esq., Mt. Vernon
Neil Smith, Esq., San Francisco
Rayman Solomon, Camden
Graydon Staring, Esq., San Francisco
H. Dean Steward, Esq., San Clemente
Hon. Karen Strombom, Tacoma
Sanford Svetcov, Esq., San Francisco
Hon. Venetta Tassopulos, Glendale
James Towery, Esq., San Jose
Hon. Howard Turrentine, San Diego
Hon. Nandor Vadas, Eureka
Hon. Neil Wake, Phoenix
George Walker, Esq., Monterey
Hon. J. Clifford Wallace, San Diego
Timothy Weaver, Esq.,Yakima
Harold Weiss, Jr., Leander
Robert Welden, Esq., Seattle
Hon. Thomas Whelan, San Diego
Dennis E. Widdis, Esq., Reno
Rebecca Wiess, Esq., Seattle
Robert Wolfe, Esq., Manhattan Beach
John Wunder, Ph.D., J.D., Lincoln
Hon. Bernard Zimmerman, San Francisco

SUBSCRIBING
$25-$49

George W. Abele, Esq., Los Angeles
Alabama Supreme Court, Montgomery
Alaska State Court Law Library, Anchorage
Albany Law School, Albany
American Antiquarian Society, Worcester
American University, Washington
Clayton Anderson, Esq., La Mesa
Appalachian School of Law, Grundy
Archives Library Information Center, College Park
Arizona State Law Library, Phoenix
Arizona State University, Tempe
Ronald Aronovsky, Esq., Glendale
Adam Attwood, Spokane
Judith Austin, Boise
Ave Maria School of Law, Naples
Gregory Baka, Esq., Saipan
Brian Baker, Esq., Pasadena
Bancroft Library, Berkeley
Barry University, Orlando
Beverly Bastian, Carmichael
Terry Bird, Esq., Los Angeles
Jonathan Blavin, Esq., San Francisco
Dean Bochner, Esq., Los Angeles
Boston College, Newton Center
Boston Public Library, Boston
Boston University, Boston
George Brewster, Jr., Esq., San Diego
Hon. Charles Breyer, San Francisco
Brigham Young University, Provo
Hon. Robert Broomfield, Phoenix
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Wayne Bruno, Browning
Hon. Samuel Bufford, Los Angeles
Robert Bulkley, Jr., Esq., Beaverton
Carl Burnham, Jr., Esq., Ontario
Kenneth Burt, Carmichael
California Court of Appeals, Sacramento
California History Center, DeAnza College, Cupertino
California Judicial Center, San Francisco
California State Library, Sacramento
California State University, Fullerton
California Western Law School, San Diego
Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland
Robert Castro, Chino Hills
Catholic University of America, Washington
Chapman University, Orange
Chase College of Law Library, Highland Heights
Hon. Edward Chen, San Francisco
Chicago Kent College, Chicago
Hillel Chodos, Esq., Los Angeles
A. Marisa Chun, Esq., Washington
Jerry Clark, Great Falls
College of William & Mary, Williamsburg
Colorado Supreme Court, Denver
Columbia University Law School, New York
Constitutional Rights Foundation, Los Angeles
John Cormode, Mountain View
Cornell University, Ithaca
Creighton University, Omaha
Dalhousie University, Halifax
Dale Danneman, Esq., Paradise Valley
Dorothy DeCoster, Seattle
Dr. Patrick Del Duca, Esq., Los Angeles
DePaul University, Chicago
Charles Diegel, Nora Springs
M. Allyn Dingel, Jr., Esq., Boise
Charles Donegan, Esq., Washington
Drake University, Des Moines
Duke University, Durham
Duquesne University, Pittsburgh
Noel Dyer, Esq., San Francisco
E.P. Ipswich, Ipswich
Elon University School of Law, Greensboro
Emory University, Atlanta
Iris Engstrand, San Diego
W. Manning Evans, Washington
Federal Judicial Center, Washington
John Feeney, Esq., Flagstaff
Alfred Ferris, Esq., San Diego
Florida Coastal School of Law, Jacksonville
Florida State University, Tallahassee
Fordham University, New York
Merrill Francis, Esq., Los Angeles
Richard Frank, Esq., San Francisco
Holly Fujie, Esq., Los Angeles
Gale Group, Serials Department, Detroit
Michael J. Garcia, Esq., Downey
George Washington University, Washington
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Georgetown University Law Center, Washington
Georgia State University, Atlanta
Hon. Helen Gillmor, Honolulu
Charlotte Goldberg, Los Angeles
Golden Gate University, San Francisco
Vivian T. Gomez, Rancho Santa Margarita
Gonzaga University, Spokane
Arielle Gorin, New Haven
Mary Grafflin, San Francisco
William Grauer, Esq., San Diego
Stephen Griffith, Esq., Portland
Robert Grimes, Esq., San Diego
Hon. David Hagen, Reno
Roger Haines, Jr., Esq., Del Mar
Forrest Hainline III, Esq., San Francisco
Hamline University, St. Paul
Mark Harrison, Esq., Phoenix
Harvard Law School, Cambridge
Hastings College of Law, San Francisco
Robert Henry, Esq., Seattle
Paul Hietter, Gilbert
Historical Research Associates, Missoula
Fred Hjelmeset, Mountain View
Hofstra University, Hempstead
Douglas Houser, Esq., Portland
Lembhard Howell, Esq., Seattle
Prof. James Huffman, Portland
Shirley Hufstedler, Esq,, Flintridge
Hon. Roger Hunt, Las Vegas
Huntington Library & Art Gallery, San Marino
Idaho State Historical Society, Boise
Hon. Cynthia Imbrogno, Spokane
Indiana University, Bloomington
Indiana University School of Law, Indianapolis
Kristen Jackson, Esq., Los Angeles
Robert A. James, Esq., San Francisco
Beverly J. Johnson, Esq., Alameda
Kathleen Jolly, Esq., Monrovia
JRP Historical Consulting Services, Davis
Judiciary History Center, Honolulu
Elissa Kagan, Esq., Laguna Woods
Dennis Karnopp, Esq., Bend
Hon. Robert Kelleher, Los Angeles
Paul Kens, Austin
Merri Ketterer, Livingston
Hon. Garr King, Portland
Chris Kitchel, Esq., Portland
Dr. Louis Knafla, Porthill
Warren Kujawa, Esq., Henderson
Douglas Kupel, Esq., Phoenix
David Langum, Birmingham
Ronald Lansing, Portland
James Larsen, Spokane
Beatrice Laws, San Francisco
Peter Levinson, Bethesda
Henry Lewek, Novato
Kenneth Leyton-Brown, Ph.D., Regina
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Liberty University Law Library, Lynchburg
Douglas Littlefield, Oakland
Allan Littman, Esq., Tiburon
Tracy Livingston, Huntley
Long Beach City Attorney's Office, Long Beach
Hon. Robert Longstreth, El Cajon
Los Angeles County Law Library, Los Angeles
Los Angeles Public Library, Los Angeles
Louisiana State University, Paul M. Herbert Law Center, Raton Rouge
James Loveder, Esq., Santa Ana
Hon. Charles Lovell, Helena
Loyola Law School, Los Angeles
Loyola University, New Orleans
Weyman Lundquist, Esq., Hanover
Jay Luther, Esq., San Anselmo
MacQuarie University, Sydney
Brian Malloy, San Francisco
Robert Maloney, Jr., Esq., Portland
Charles Markley, Esq., Portland
Marquette University, Milwaukee
James Mason, Starbuck
H.L. McCormick, Esq., Santa Ana
Joe McCray, Esq., Portland
Prof. Charles McCurdy, Charlottesville
Trish McCurdy, Novato
McGeorge School of Law, Sacramento
Hon. Robert McQuaid, Jr., Reno
Mercer University, Macon
Michigan State University, East Lansing
Mississippi College, Jackson
Montana State Law Library, Helena
Jeffrey Morris, Douglaston
Multnomah Law Library, Portland
Inga Nelson, Portland
David Nemer, Jr., Esq., San Francisco
Nevada Historical Society, Reno
Nevada Supreme Court, Carson City
New York Public Library, New York
New York University, New York
James Nielsen, Esq., San Rafael
Willard Norberg, Esq., San Francisco
Diane North, Brookeville
North Carolina Central University, Durham
Northern Illinois University, DeKalb
Northwestern School of Law, Portland
Northwestern University School of Law, Chicago
Doyce Nunis, Jr., Ph.D., Los Angeles
Peter O'Driscoll, South San Francisco
Ohio Northern University, Ada
Ohio State University, Columbus
Oklahoma City University, Oklahoma City
Orange County Public Law Library, Santa Ana
Rachel Osborn, Esq., Spokane
Pace University, White Plains
Anne Padgett, Esq., Henderson
Pennsylvania State University, Carlisle
Pepperdine University, Malibu
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Hon. Lawrence Piersol, Sioux Falls
Barry Portman, Esq., San Francisco
Paul Potter, Esq., Sierra Madre
Graham Price, Q.C., Calgary
Princeton University, Princeton
Hon. Philip Pro, Las Vegas
Karl Quackenbush, Esq., Seattle
James Reavis, Missoula
LeRoy Reaza, San Gabriel
Prof. R.A. Reese, Irvine
Regent University, Virginia Beach
David Reichard, San Francisco
Evelyn Ricci, Santa Barbara
Virginia Ricketts, Twin Falls
Riverside County Law Library, Riverside
Terence W. Roberts, Borrego Springs
S. Roger Rombro, Esq., Manhattan Beach
John Rosholt, Esq., Twin Falls
Rutgers Law Library, Newark
Samford University, Birmingham
San Diego County Law Library, San Diego
San Francisco Law Library, San Francisco
San Francisco Public Library, San Francisco
San Jose Public Library, San Jose
Santa Clara University, Santa Clara
Evelyn Schlatter, Salida
David A. Schlesinger, Esq., San Diego
Owen Schmidt, Esq., Portland
David Schoeggl, Esq., Seattle
Seattle University Law Library, Seattle
Seton Hall University, Newark
Hon. Miriam Shearing, Incline Village
Rupa Singh, Esq,, San Diego
Alan Smith, Esq., Seattle
Hon. Paul Snyder, Gig Harbor
Social Law Library, Boston
South Texas College of Law, Houston
Southern Methodist University, Dallas
Southern Methodist University School of Law, Dallas
Southern New Hampshire University, Manchester
Southwestern University, Los Angeles
Russell Speidel, Esq., Wenatchee
Stanford University, Stanford
State University of New York, Buffalo
Stetson University, St. Petersburg
Stevenson University, Stevenson
St. John's University, Jamaica
St. Louis University, St. Louis
St. Mary's University, San Antonio
Hon. Roger Strand, Phoenix
St. Thomas University, Miami Gardens
Melanie Sturgeon, Ph.D., Mesa
Mark Suagee, Esq., Benson
Superior Court Law Library, Phoenix
Swets Information Services, Runnemede
Syracuse University, Syracuse
Nancy Taniguchi, Ph.D, Merced
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Temple University, Philadelphia
Texas Tech University, Lubbock
Texas Wesleyan University, Ft. Worth
Hon. Mary Theiler, Seattle
Thomas Jefferson School of Law, San Diego
Thomas M. Cooley Law Library, Lansing
Thomas Tongue, Esq., Portland
Susan Torkelson, Stayton
Touro Law School, Central Islip
Michael Traynor, Esq., Berkeley
Tulane University, New Orleans
Hon. Carolyn Turchin, Los Angeles
Chris Tweeten, Esq., Helena
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, Atlanta
U.S. Courts for the Eighth Circuit, Kansas City
U.S. Courts for the Seventh Circuit, Chicago
U.S. Courts for the Sixth Circuit, Cincinnati
U.S. Department of Justice, Washington
U.S. Supreme Court, Washington
Prof. Gerald Uelmen, Santa Clara
Universidad de Malaga, Malaga
Universit6 Laval, Quebec
University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa
University of Alberta, Edmonton
University of Arizona, Tucson
University of British Columbia, Vancouver
University of California, Berkeley
University of California, Davis
University of California, Los Angeles
University of California, Santa Barbara
University of Chicago, Chicago
University of Colorado, Boulder
University of Connecticut, Hartford
University of Denver, Denver
University of Detroit, Detroit
University of Florida, Gainesville
University of Georgia, Athens
University of Hawaii, Honolulu
University of Idaho, Moscow
University of Illinois, Champaign
University of Iowa, Iowa City
University of Kansas, Lawrence
University of La Verne, Ontario
University of Louisville, Louisville
University of Maine, Portland
University of Miami, Coral Gables
University of Michigan, Ann Arbor
University of Minnesota, Minneapolis
University of Mississippi, University
University of Missouri, Columbia
University of Missouri, Kansas City
University of Montana, Missoula
University of Nebraska, Kearney
University of Nebraska, Lincoln
University of Nevada, Las Vegas
University of Nevada, Reno
University of Nevada School of Law, Las Vegas
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University of New Mexico, Albuquerque
University of New South Wales, Sydney
University of Notre Dame, Notre Dame
University of Oklahoma, Norman
University of Oregon, Eugene
University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia
University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh
University of San Diego, San Diego
University of San Francisco, San Francisco
University of South Carolina, Columbia
University of Southern California, Los Angeles
University of St. Thomas, Minneapolis
University of Texas, Austin
University of Tulsa, Tulsa
University of Utah, Salt Lake City
University of Utah Law School, Salt Lake City
University of Virginia, Charlottesville
University of Washington School of Law, Seattle
University of Wisconsin, Madison
University of Wyoming, Laramie
Valparaiso University, Valparaiso
University of Hawai'i Law School, Honolulu
Vanderbilt University, Nashville
Villanova University, Villanova
Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem
Nicholas Wallwork, Esq., Phoenix
Stephen Wasby, Eastham
Washburn University, Topeka
Washington State Law Library, Olympia
Washington University, St. Louis
Roy Weatherup, Esq., Northridge
Edgar Weber, Esq., Daly City
David Weinstein, Esq., Los Angeles
Deborah Weiss, Esq., Topanga
Wells Fargo Historical Services, San Francisco
West Virginia University, Morgantown
Western New England College, Springfield
Western State University, Fullerton
Western Wyoming College, Rock Springs
Whitman College, Walla Walla
Whittier Law School, Costa Mesa
Widener University, Harrisburg
Widener University, Wilmington
Norman Wiener, Esq., Portland
Willamette University, Salem
William Mitchell College of Law, St. Paul
H.W. Wilson Company, Bronx
Wisconsin Historical Society, Madison
W. Mark Wood, Esq., Los Angeles
Paul Wormser, Mission Viejo
Yale Law Library, New Haven
Yeshiva University, New York
York University Law Library, North York
Rosalyn Zakheim, Esq., Culver City
Laurence Zakson, Esq., Los Angeles
Payman Zargari, Esq., Glendale
I.S. Zil, M.D., J.D., Sacramento
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GRANTS, HONORARY, AND
MEMORIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

10 PERCENT FOR HISTORY CAMPAIGN

U.S. Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit
U.S. District Court, Central District of California
U.S. District Court, District of Alaska
U.S. District Court, District of Arizona
U.S. District Court, District of Hawai'i
U.S. District Court, District of Idaho
U.S. District Court, District of Montana
U.S. District Court, District of Nevada
U.S. District Court, District of Northern Mariana Islands
U.S. District Court, Western District of Washington

NEVADA LEGAL ORAL HisTORY PROJECT

John Ben Snow Memorial Trust
State Bar of Nevada
U.S. District Court, District of Nevada
Washoe County Courthouse Preservation Society

HONORARY AND MEMORIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

In honor of Judge James R. Browning
Judge Herbert A. Ross

In memory of Judge William L. Dwyer
Judge John L. Weinberg

In memory of Ian Fan
Thomas S. Kidde, Esq.

In memory of Judge William H. Orrick
Brian H. Getz, Esq.

In memory of Judge Mark Thomas
Lynn C. Stutz, Esq.
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